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In memory of Julian Cook, inventor, and Harry Hawker, fighter pilot
Per ardua ad astra

And for my children, Lucy and William, that one day they or their
children may see the stars more closely






Author's Note and
Acknowledgments

Not everyone who has assisted mein The Hunt For Zero Point has wished
to be identified.

There are four people—"Amelia Lopez," "Lawrence Cross”
"Daniella Abelman" and "Dr. Dan Marckus'—whose identities | have
deliberately blurred. They, of course, know who they areand | gratefully
acknowledgetheir help.

It goeswithout saying that | could not haveinterpreted the mass of raw
science datain this book without the exceptional skills of Dan Marckus.
His knowledge, wisdom, humor and friendship have been an inspiration
to me.

Everyonedseisexactly asidentified in thetext.

The people and institutions | can thank freely are listed bel ow:

My colleagues at Jane's Defence Weekly and Interavia, Tom Vaone of
the Integrity Research Institute, Paul LaViolette Ph.D., Dr. Kathleen
Bunten, Isabel Best, Joel Carpenter, the Imperial War Museum, Philip
Henshall, Graham Ennis, Rowland White, Guy Norris, Jeremy Bart-
lett, Michael Collins, Guy Rigby, Kevin Bexley, Stephen Parker, Bill
Zuk, Yvonne Kinkaid, the Office of (U.S.) Air Force History, David
Windle, Chris Gibson, Tony Frost, the late Prof. Brian Y oung, Dr. Ron
Evans, BAE Systems, Garry Lyles, George Schmidt, Marc Millis, the
U.S. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Lockheed Mar-
tin and the Lockheed Martin Skunk Works, Dr. Evgeny Podkletnov,
Dr. Hal Puthoff, thelate Ben Rich, Bill Sweetman, Glenn Campbell, Mark
Farmer and the Groom Lake Interceptors, Mike Grigsby, James Cook,
David Monaghan, George Muellner, Marian Swedija, Irving Baum, Ken
Jones, Charles T. Schaeffer, the 16th Armored Division veterans
association, Dr. Amy Schmidt, the U.S. National Archives Records Ad-
ministration, Ned Bedessem, U.S. Army Center of Military History, the
Bundesarchiv at Freibourg, the U.K. Public Records Office, Maurizio
Verga, James Holland, Callum Coats, Don Kelly, Bob Widmer, Boyd
Bushman, George Hathaway, John Hutchison and John B. Alexander.

vii



Viii Author's Note and Acknowledgments

My particular thanks go to:

Mark Booth, Hannah Black, Anna Cherrett and the whole team at
Century, Charlie Conrad, Claire Johnson, Chava Boylan, Becky Coale,
and the whole Broadway Books team in New Y ork, Bill Rose for his out-
standing picture research, Igor Witkowski for taking me to the Wencedas
Mine and for sharing his tremendous insight into German secret weap-
ons, Tom Agoston for his groundbreaking book Blunder!, the Schau-
berger family—Frau Ingeborg, Joerg and Ingrid—for their kindness and
hospitality at Bad Ischl, Brue Richardson for her constancy, serenity and
guidance, Barry and Fiona Shaw for putting up with me (and the rest)
during amyriad of writing weekends, Dr. Patrick G. Bailey and Charlee
Trantino for their sterling work on the index, and Mark Lucas for being
adamn finefriend and agent.

Last, but not least, | would like to thank Ali, my family and hers. This
book would have been quite impossible without them.



Prologue

The dust devils swirled around my Chevrolet Blazer, catching the early
evening light. | watched Sheriff's Deputy Amelia Lopez clamber out of
her Chrysler Le Baron and stare for amoment in the direction the plane
had gone down ten years ago.

| grabbed my rucksack. By the time | looked up again she was already
striding toward the peak.

Over a rusted barbed-wire fence and we were into the scrub—with
new traces of green at its tips from the spring rains. Beyond lay the edge
of the Sequoia National Forest, a huge expanse of protected park and
woodland.

We left the broken fence posts behind and our cars were lost against
the sunset. | looked for other traces of a human presence, but found none,
even though we were only twelve miles from Bakersfield, California, a
city of four hundred thousand people on the edge of the Sierra Nevadas.

AmeliaLopez' peaked cap and the firearm on her gunbelt were clearly
silhouetted as she moved along the jagged edge of the ridgeline.

As | sucked down the warm thin air and wiped the sweat out of my
eyes, | tried to picture her as she must have been on that sweltering July
night ten years earlier; the night she'd been out partying with her college
friends at a campsite near the Kern River.

It was in the breaking hours of July 11, 1986. Just as she was settling
into her sleeping bag the jet went supersonic somewhere in the black sky
overhead.

The pressure wave of the sonic boom hit the campsite like a clap of
thunder, sending a shower of embers from the campfire into the night
sky.

Amelia was too startled to say a thing; then, the entire horizon was
flash-lit by an enormous explosion, the flames shooting skyward as the
plane plowed into Saturday Peak ten miles away.

Shetold me it had sparked a dozen brushfires on the edge of the forest;
that it took more than a hundred Forest Service and local firefighters to
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X Prologue

put it out. Her only thought was that this wasn't an aircraft at al, but a
hydrogen bomb.

Within hours, every newspaper in the state, and a whole lot more
besides, had areporter heading for these foothills with a brief to find out
what had hit the ground. AmeliaL opez, alaw student at the state university
in Sacramento, had been one of several witnesses quoted in the papers that
had covered the story, which was how I'd traced her.

She and her friends hadn't gone more than five miles toward the
impact point when one of them noticed afigure on thetrail up ahead. The
scrub either side of her erupted with movement and the next thing
she knew her face wasin the dirt and she had aboot in her back and agun
at her head.

Out of the corner of her eye she saw that they were soldiers—not
Cadlifornia National Guard, as might have been expected in an envi-
ronmental emergency, but SWAT-types brandi shing assault rifles, night-
vision systems and a shit-load of threats about government property and
national security.

Two of her friends started on about their rights under the Con-
stitution, that this was public land and there wasn't a person on earth who
could tell them to get off it. But to Lopez their protests registered as
white noise on the edge of a persistent and piercing alarm. These soldiers
were unlike any she'd ever seen.

She screamed for her friends to shut up, but once the screaming began,
she couldn't stop it. She screamed and she yelled and she flailed against
the pressure in her back, until the next thing she felt was the slap from
her roommate that brought her around. When she finally understood
what she was being told, it was that the soldiers were gone.

None of them said aword as they doubled back to the campsite. When
they reached it, still numb with shock, they found abunch of reporters on-
site getting statements from other witnesses. Somebody shoved a tape
recorder in her face and started asking questions and before she knew it
she'd given her name and stammered something about an atomic blast.

Asfor therest, she and her friends said nothing.

Amelia Lopez kept alid on her feelings for the next two and half years,
until November 1988, in fact, when the outgoing Reagan administration
revealed the existence of the F-l 17A Stealth Fighter, an aircraft that had
been flying in secret squadron service out of a classified air base in
Nevadafor overfiveyears. In that time, shelearned, it had crashed twice:
and on one of those occasions—on the night of July 10 -11, 1986, to be
precise—she'd had the grave misfortune to be there.
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The troops had been part of a Pentagon "red team" flown in by heli-
copter to secure the crash site at al costs.

When she got my message, she'd been reluctant to meet up at first, but
when | finally persuaded her to talk, she found it difficult to stop.

We reached the crash site soon after the sun dipped below the edge of
the mountain. The summit was only 2,000 feet above us, but here the
ground was even and covered in a crusty layer of dirt. The plants and
trees were younger than the vegetation we'd passed on the way up. But
that was the only real clue something had happened here.

Amelia Lopez sat on a rock and dowly removed her mirror shades
before pouring bottled springwater over her face. | felt her eyesfollow me
as | moved between clumps of vegetation, kicking over rocks and sifting
the sand, even though there was nothing to see.

Lopez bent down and ran her fingers through the soil. "l read they
sieved the dirt for athousand yards out from the impact point," she said.
"Those guys were damned thorough. A few weeks after they left it was
like nothing ever happened here." She paused a moment before adding:
"You being an expert, | imagine you knew that."

It was framed as a question and | grappled for something to say, con-
scious that she'd brought me here for any insight | could provide into the
events ofthat night.

| said nothing, so she turned to me and said: "Are you gonnatell me
what isreally going on here?"

Overhead, an eagle cried. As | watched it wheel on the updrafts |
hoped that she wouldn't press me for an answer, because | didn't know
what to tell her.

Standing here in this place, | was filled with the old feeling. It was
amost impossible to articulate, but it left you with ataste in the mouth,
some innate sense, that however far you dug, however many people you
interviewed or questioned, you were simply scratching the surface of
the sprawling U.S. defense-industrial base. What had happened here,
the events that had imprinted themselves onto the landscape in a
moment or two of madness a decade or so earlier, were ailmost tangible,
even though there was no physical evidence—no fragments amidst the
thin soil and the rocks—to suggest anything out of the ordinary had
occurred.

These people were thorough; Lopez herself had said it. But they left
something behind, something you couldn't see or touch—and it was that
trace, that echo of past deeds, that had brought me here.

The Stealth Fighter was real enough. As areporter, 1'd covered it from
the inside out. Y et as a piece of technology it was more than two decades
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old, amost every detail of it in the open now. But strip away the facts and
the feeling persisted.

| got it when | went to U.S. government defense laboratories and on
empty windblown hangar floors in parched, little-known corners of
the country. | got it a press conferences in power-soaked corridors of
the Pentagon. But most of al | got it when | stared into the eyes of the
people who worked on those programs.

What | got back was a look. Individually, it said nothing, but collec-
tively it told me there was a secret out there and that it was so big no one
person held all the pieces. | knew, too, that whatever it was, the secret had
adark heart, because | could sense the fear that held it in place.

It was impossible to tell Lopez any of this, of course, because it was
simply afeeling. But as | headed back for the car, | knew the trip hadn't
been awaste.

At long last, the secret had an outline.

Through half-closed eyes, | could almost reach out and touch it.



Chapter 1

From the heavy-handed style of the prose and the faint handwritten
"1956" scrawled in pencil aong the top of the first page, the photocopied
pages had obviously come from some long-forgotten schlock popular sci-
encejournal.

| had stepped away from my desk only for a few moments and
somehow in the interim the article had appeared. The headline ran: "The
G-Engines Are Coming!"

I glanced around the office, wondering who had put it there and if this
was someone's idea of a joke. The copier had cut off the top of the first
page and the title of the publication with it, but it was the drawing above
the headline that was the giveaway. It depicted an aircraft, if you could
call it that, hovering a few feet above a dry lakebed, a ladder extending
from the fuselage and a crewmember making his way down the steps
dressed in a U.S.-style flight suit and flying helmet—standard garb for
that era. The aircraft had no wings and no visible means of propulsion.

I gave the office another quick scan. The magazine's operations were
set on thefirst floor. The whole building was open-plan. To my left, the
business editor was head-down over a proof-page checking copy. To her
right wasthe naval editor, aguy who was good for awindup, but who was
currently deep into a phone conversation and looked like he had been for
hours.

| was reminded of a technology piece I'd penned a couple of years
earlier about the search for scientific breakthroughs in U.S. aerospace
and defense research. In a journal not noted for its exploration of the
fringes of paranormality, nor for its humor, I'd inserted a tongue-in-
cheek reference to gravity—or rather to antigravity, a subject beloved of
science-fiction writers.

"For some U.S. aerospace engineers," I'd said, "an antigravity pro-
pulsion system remains the ultimate quantum leap in aircraft design.”
The implication was that antigravity was the aerospace equivalent of the
holy grail: something longed for, dreamed about, but beyond reach—and
likely always to remain so.
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Somehow the reference had escaped the sub-editors and, as aresullt,
amongst my peers, other aerospace and defense writers on the circuit, 1'd
taken someflak for it. For Jane's, the publishing empire founded on one
man's obsession with the detailed specifications of ships and aircraft
almost a century earlier, technology wasn't something you joked about.

The magazine | wrote—and still write—for, Jane's Defence Weekly,
documented the day-to-day dealings of the multibillion-dollar defense
business. JDW, as we called it, is but one of a portfolio of products
detailing the ins and outs of the global aerospace and defense industry. If
you want to know about the thrust-to-weight ratio of a Chinese combat
aircraft engine or the pulse repetition frequency of a particular radar
system, somewhere in the Jane's portfolio of products there is a publica-
tion that has the answers. In short, Jane's was, and always has been, about
facts. Its motto is. Authoritative, Accurate, Impartial.

It was a huge commercia intelligence-gathering operation; and pro-
vided they had the money, anyone could buy into its vast knowledge
base.

| cast a glance at the bank of sub-editors work-stations over in the far
corner of the office, but nobody appeared remotely interested in what was
happening at my desk. If the subs had nothing to do with it, and usually
they were the first to know about a piece of piss-taking that was going
down in the office, | figured whoever had put it there was from one of the
dozens of other departments in the building and on a different floor.
Perhaps my anonymous benefactor had felt embarrassed about passing it
on to me?

| studied the piece again.

The strapline below the headline proclaimed: "By far the most potent
source of energy is gravity. Using it as power, future aircraft will attain
the speed of light." It was written by one Michael Gladych and began:
"Nuclear-powered aircraft are yet to be built, but there are research
projects aready under way that will make the super-planes obsolete
before they are test-flown. For in the United States and Canada, research
centers, scientists, designers and engineers are perfecting away to control
gravity—a force infinitely more powerful than the mighty atom. The
result of their labors will be antigravity engines working without fuel-
weightless airliners and space ships able to travel at 170,000 miles per
second.”

On any other day, that would have been the moment I'd have
consigned it for recycling. But something in the following paragraph
caught my eye.

The gravity research, it said, had been supported by the Glenn L.
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Martin Aircraft Company, Bell Aircraft, Lear "and several other Ameri-
can aircraft manufacturers who would not spend millions of dollars on
science fiction." It quoted Lawrence D. Bell, the founder of the plane-
maker that wasfirst to beat the sound barrier. "We're already working on
nuclear fuels and equipment to cancel out gravity." George S. Trimble,
head of Advanced Programs and "Vice President in charge of the
G-Project at Martin Aircraft,” added that the conquest of gravity "could
be done in about the time it took to build the first atom bomb."

A little further on, it quoted "William P. Lear, the chairman of Lear
Inc., makers of autopilots and other electronic controls." It would be
another decade before Bill Lear went on to design and build the first of
the dleek business jets that still carry his name. But in 1956, according to
Gladych, Lear had his mind on other things.

"All matter within the ship would be influenced by the ship's
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gravitation only," Lear apparently said of the wondrous G-craft. "This
way, no matter how fast you accelerated or changed course, your body
would not feel it any more than it now feels the tremendous speed and
acceleration of the earth.” The G-ship, Gladych explained, could take off
like a cannon shell, come to a stop with equal abruptness and the pas-
sengers wouldn't even need seat belts. This ability to accelerate rapidly,
the author continued, would make it ideal as a space vehicle capable of
acceleration to a speed approaching that of light.

There were some oblique references to Einstein, some highly dubious
"facts' about the nature of subatomic physics and some speculation
about how various kinds of "antigravity engines* might work.

But the one thing | kept returning to were those quotes. Had Gladych
made them up or had Lawrence Bell, George S. Trimble and William
"Bill" Lear really said what he had quoted them as saying?

Outside, the rain beat against the double-glazed windows, drowning
the sound of the traffic that crawled aong the London to Brighton road
and the unrelenting hum of the air conditioning that regulated the
temperature inside.

The office was located in the last suburb of the Greater London
metropolis; next stop the congested joys of the M25 ring road and the
M23 to Gatwick Airport. The building was a vast redbrick two-story
bunker amid between-the-wars gray brickwork and pebbledash. The rain
acted like amuslin filter, washing out what little ambient color Coulsdon
possessed. In the rain, it was easy to imagine that nothing much had
changed here for decades.

As aviation editor otJDW, my beat was globa and it was pretty much
unstructured. If | needed to cover the latest air-to-surface weapons
developments in the U.S.A., | could do it, with relatively few questions
asked. My editor, an old pro, with a history as long as your arm in
publishing, gave each of us, the so-caled "speciaists' (the aviation, naval
and land systems editors), plenty of rope. His only proviso was that we
filed our expenses within two of weeks of travel and that we gave him
good, exclusive stories. If | wanted to cover an aerospace and defense
exhibition in Moscow, Singapore or Dubai, the funds to do so were
almost always there.

Asfor thejob itself, it was amixture of hard-edged reporting and basic
provision of information. We reported on the defense industry, but we
were part of it, too—the vast majority of the company's revenue coming
from the same people we wrote about. Kowtowing was a no-no, but so
was kicking down doors. If you knew the rules and played by them you
could access aimost any part of the global defense-industrial complex.
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In the course of a decade, I'd visited secret Russian defense facilities
and ultrasensitive U.S. government labs. If you liked technology, abit of
skulduggery and people, it was a career made in heaven. At least
60 percent of the time | was on the road. The bit | liked least was office
downtime.

Again, | looked around for signs that | was being set up. Then, satis-
fied that | wasn't, but feeling self-conscious nonetheless, | tucked the
Gladych article into a drawer and got on with the business of the day.
Another aerospace and defense company had fallen prey to post—Cold
War economics. It was 24 hours before the paper closed for press and the
news editor was yelling for copy.

Two days later, in amuch quieter moment, | visited the Jane's library. It
was empty but for the librarian, a nice man way past retirement age who
used to listen to the BBC's radio lunchtime news while gazing out over
the building's bleak rear lot.

In the days before the Internet revolution, the library was an
invaluable resource. Fred T. Jane published his first yearbook, Jane's
Fighting Ships, in 1898; and in 1909 the second, Jane's All The World's
Aircraft, quickly built on the reputation of the former as areference work
par excellence for any and al information on aeronautical developments.
Nigh on a century later, the library held just about every book and
magazine ever put out by the company and apile of other reference works
besides.

| scanned the shelvestill | found what | was looking for.

The Jane's All The World's Aircraft yearbook for 1956 carried no
mention of antigravity experiments, nor did successive volumes, but that
came as no great surprise. The yearbooks are the aerospace equivalent of
Burke's Peerage or the Guinness Book of Records:. every word pored over,
analyzed and double-checked for accuracy. They'd have given anti-
gravity avery wide berth.

For a story like this, what | was looking for was a news publication.

| looked along the shelves again. Jane's had gotten into the magazine
publishing business relatively recently and the company's copies of
Flight International and Aviation Week ran back only a few years. But
it did have bound volumes of Interavia Aerospace Review from before
the Second World War. And it was on page 373 in the May 1956 edition
of this well-respected publication, in amongst advertisements for Con-
sellation airliners, chunky-looking bits of radar equipment and (curi-
ously for an aviation journal) huge "portable" Olivetti typewriters, that
| found a feature bylined "Intel, Washington, D.C." with the headline:
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"Without Stress or Strain . . . or Weight." Beneath it ran the strapline:
"The following article is by an American journalist who has long taken
a keen interest in questions of theoretical physics and has been rec-
ommended to the Editors as having close connections with scienti-
fic circlesin the United States. The subject is one of immediate interest,
and Interavia would welcome further comment from knowledgeable
sources.”

The article referred to something called "electro-gravitics' research,
whose am was to "seek the source of gravity and its control." This
research, "Intel" stated, had "reached a stage where profound implica-
tions for the entire human race are beginning to emerge.”

I read on, amused by the tone and wondering how on earth the article
had come to be accepted in amainstream aerospace journal.

"In the till short life of the turbojet airplane [by then, 1956, little
more than a decade], man has had to increase power in the form of brute
thrust some twenty times in order to achieve just twice the speed. The
cost in money in reaching this point has been prodigious. The cost in
highly specialized man-hours is even greater. By his present methods
man actually fights in direct combat the forces that resst his efforts. In
conquering gravity he would be putting one of his most competent
adversaries to work for him. Antigravities is the method of the picklock
rather than the sledgehammer.”

Not only that, the article stated, but antigravity could be put to work
in other fields beyond aerospace. "In road cars, trains and boats the
headaches of transmission of power from the engine to wheds or
propellers would ssimply cease to exist. Construction of bridges and big
buildings would be greatly simplified by temporary induced weight-
lessness etc. Other facets of work now under way indicate the poss-
bility of close controls over the growth of plant life; new therapeutic
techniques, permanent fuelless heating units for homes and industrial
establishments;, new sources of industrial power; new manufacturing
techniques; a whole field of new chemistry. The ligt isendless . . . and
growing."

It was aso sheer fantasy.

Yet, for the second time in a week | had found an article—this time
certainly in a publication with a solid reputation—that stated that U.S.
aerospace companies were engaged in the study of this "science.” It cited
the same firms mentioned by Gladych and some new ones as well:
Sperry-Rand and Genera Electric among them. Within these institu-
tions, we were supposed to believe, people were working on theories that
could not only make materials weightless, but could actually give them
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"negative weight"—a repulsive force that would allow them to loft away
"contra-gravitationally." The article went further. It claimed that in
experimentation conducted by a certain "Townsend T. Brown" weights
of some materials had already been cut by as much as 30 percent by
"energizing" them and that model "disc airfoils’ utilizing this tech-
nology had been run in awind tunnel under a charge of a hundred and
fifty kilovolts "with results so impressive as to be highly classified.”

| gazed out over the slate rooftops. For Interavia to have written about
antigravity, there had to have been something in it. The trouble was, it
was history. My bread-and-butter beat was the aerospace industry of the
1990s, not this distant cozy world of the fifties with its heady whiff of jet-
engine spirit and the developing Cold War.

| replaced the volume and returned to my desk. It should have been
easy to let go, but it wasn't. If people of the caliber quoted by Gladych
and Interavia had started talking about antigravity anytime in the past ten
years | would have reported it—however skeptical | might be on a
personal level. Why had these people said the things they had with such
conviction? One of them, George S. Trimble, had gone so far as to
predict that a breakthrough would occur in around the same time it took
to develop the atomic bomb—roughly five years. Yet, it had never
happened. And even if the results of "Townsend T. Brown's' experi-
ments had been "so impressive as to be highly classified," they had clearly
come to naught; otherwise, by the '60s or '70s the industry would have
been overtaken by fuelless propulsion technology.

| rang a public relations contact at Lockheed Martin, the U.S. aerospace
and defense giant, to see if | could get anything on the individuals
Gladych had quoted. | knew that Lawrence Bell and Bill Lear were both
dead. But what about George S. Trimble? If Trimble was alive—and it
was a long shot, since he would have to be in his 80s—he would un-
doubtedly confirm what | felt | knew to be true; that he had been heavily
misguoted or that antigravity had been the industry's slly-season story
of 1956.

A simple phone call would do the trick.

Daniella "Dani" Abelman was an old media contact within Lockheed
Martin's public affairs organization. Solid, reliable and likable, she'd
grown up in the industry alongside me, only on the other side of the
divide. Our relationship with the information managers of the aerospace
and defense world was as double-edged as the PR/reporter interface
in any other industry. Our job was to get the lowdown on the inside
track and, more often than not, it was bad news that sold. But unlike our
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national newspaper counterparts, trade press hacks have to work within
the industry, not outside it. This aways added an extratwist to our quest
for information. The industry comprised hundreds of thousands of
people, but despite its size, it was surprisingly intimate and incestuous
enough for everyone to know everyone else. If you pissed off a PR
manager in one company, evenif it was on the other side of the globe, you
wouldn't last long, because word would quickly get around and the flow
of information would dry up.

But with Abelman, it was easy. | liked her. We got on. | told her |
needed some background on an individual in one of Lockheed Martin's
"heritage” companies, a euphemism for a firm it had long since swal-
lowedwhole.

The Glenn L. Martin Company became the Martin Company in 1957.
In 1961, it merged with the American-Marietta Company, becoming
Martin-Marietta, a huge force in the Cold War U.S. defense electronics
industry. In 1994, Martin-Marietta merged again, this time with Lock-
heed to form Lockheed Martin. The first of the globa mega-merged
defense behemoths, it built everything from stealth fighters and their
guided weapons to space launchers and satellites.

Abelman was naturally suspicious when | told her | needed to trace an
ex-company employee, but relaxed when | said that the person | was
interested in had been doing his thing more than 40 years ago and was
quite likely dead by now.

I was circumspect about the reasons for the approach, knowing full
well if | told her the real story, shed think I'd taken leave of my senses.

But | had abonafidereason for calling her—and one that legitimately,
if a a stretch, involved Trimble: | was preparing a piece on the emer-
gence of the U.S. aerospace industry's "specia projects’ facilitiesin the
aftermath of the Cold War.

Most large aerospace and defense companies had a specid projects
unit; a clandestine adjunct to their main business lines where classified
activities could take place. The shining example was the Lockheed
Martin "Skunk Works," anear-legendary aircraft-manufacturing facility
on the edge of the California high desert.

For 50 years, the Skunk Works had sifted L ockheed for itsmost highly
skilled engineers, putting them to work on top secret aircraft projects.

Using this approach it had delivered some of the biggest military
breakthroughs of the 20th century, among them the world's first Mach 3
spyplane and stedlth, the art of making aircraft "invisble' to radar and
other enemy sensor systems.

But now the Skunk Works was coming out of the shadows and, in the
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process, giving something back to its parent organization. Specia proj-
ects units were renowned for bringing in complex, high-risk defense
programs on time and to cogt, a skill that had become highly sought after
by the main body of the company in the austere budget environment of
the 1990s.

Trimble, 1 suggested, might be able to provide me with historical
context and "color" in an otherwise dry business story. "Advanced
Programs,” the outfit he was supposed to have worked for, sounded alot
like Martin's version of the Skunk Works.

Abelman said she'd see what she could do, but | wasn't to expect any
short-order miracles. She wasn't the company historian, she said dryly,
but she'd make afew inquiries and get back to me.

| was surprised when she phoned me a few hours later. Company
records, to her surpriss—and mine—said that Trimble was dive and
enjoying retirement in Arizona. "Sounds hard as nails, but an amazing
guy by all accounts,” she breezed. "He's kinda mystified why you want
to talk to him after al thistime, but seems okay with it. Like you said, it's
historical, right?’

"Right," | said.

| asked Abelman, while she was @t it, for al the background she had on
the man. History or not, | said, trying to keep it light, | liked to be
thorough. She was professional enough to sound less than convinced by
my newfound interest in the past, but promised she'd do her best. |
thanked her, then hung up, feeling happy that I'd done something about
it. A few weeks, a month at the outside, the mystery would be resolved
and | could go back to my regular beat, case closed.

Outside, another bank of gray storm clouds was rolling in above
rooftops that were still dick from the last passing shower.

| picked up my coat and headed for the train station, knowing that
somewhere between the office and my flat in central London | was going
to get soaked right through.

The initia information came a week later from a search through some
old filesthat 1'd buried in a collection of boxes in my basement: a com-
pany history of Martin Marietta I'd barely remembered 1'd acquired. It
told me that in 1955 Trimble had become involved in something called
the Research Institute for Advanced Studies, RIAS, a Martin spin-off
organization whose brief was to "observe the phenomena of nature . . .
to discover fundamental laws . . . and to evolve new technical concepts
for the improvement and welfare of mankind."

Aside from the philanthropic tone, a couple of things struck me as
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fishy about the RIAS. First off, its name was as bland as the carefully
chosen "Advanced Development Projects'—the official title of the
Skunk Works. Second, was the nature and caliber of its recruits. These,
according to the company history, were "world-class contributors in
mathematics, physics, biology and materials science

Soon afterward, | received a package of requested information from
Lockheed Martin in the mail. RIAS no longer existed, having been
subsumed by other parts of the Lockheed Martin empire. But through an
old RIAS history, a brochure published in 1980 to celebrate the or-
ganization's "first 25 years" | was able to glean a little more about
Trimble and the outfit he'd inspired. It described him as "one of the most
creative and imaginative people that ever worked for the Company."

| read on.

From a nucleus of people that in 1955 met in a conference room at
the Martin Company's Middle River plant in Maryland, RIAS soon
developed a need for its own space. In 1957, with a staff of about 25
people, it moved to Baltimore City. The initial research program, the
brochure said, was focused on NASA and the agency's stated goa of
putting a man on the moon. But that wasn't until 1961.

One obvious question was, what had RIAS been doing in the interim?
Mainly math, by thelook of it. Its principal academic was described as an
expert in "topology and nonlinear differential equations.”

| hadn't the least idea what that meant.

In 1957, the outfit moved again, this time to a large mansion on the
edge of Baltimore, a place chosen for its "campuslike' atmosphere.
Officeswere quickly carved from bedrooms and workshops from garages.

It reminded me of accounts I'd read of the shirtdeeves atmosphere of
the early days of the Manhattan Project when Oppenheimer and his team
of atom scientists had crunched through the physics of the bomb.

And that was the very same analogy Trimble had used. The conquest
of gravity, he'd said, would come in the time it took to build the bomb.

I called afew contacts on the science and engineering side of L ockheed
Martin, asking them, in a roundabout kind of way, whether there was,
or ever had been, any part of the corporation involved in gravity or
"counter-gravitational" research. After some initial questions on their
part asto why | should beinterested, which | just about managed to palm
off, the answer that came back was auniform "no." Well, amost. There
was a guy, one contact told me, a scientist who worked in the combat
aircraft division in Fort Worth who would talk eloguently about the
mysteries of Nature and the universe to anyone who would listen. He'd
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also levitate paper clips on his desk. Great character, but a bit of a
maverick.

"Paper clips?' I'd asked. "A maverick scientist levitating paper clips
on his desk? At Lockheed Martin? Come 0«."

My source laughed. If he hadn't known better, he'd have said | was
working up astory on antigravity.

I made my excuses and signed off. It was crazy, possibly dangerous
stuff, but it continued to have me intrigued.

| caled an old friend who'd gained a degree in applied mathematics.
Tentatively, | asked whether topology and nondifferential linear equa-
tions had any application to the study of gravity.

Of course, he replied. Topology—the study of shape in physics—and
nonlinear equations were the standard methods for calculating gravi-
tational attraction.

| sat back and pieced together what | had. It didn't amount to much,
but did it amount to something?

In 1957, George S. Trimble, one of the leading aerospace engineers in
the U.S. at that time, aman, it could safely be said, with abackground in
highly advanced concepts and classified activity, had put together what
looked like a special projects team; one with acurious task.

This, just a year after he started talking about the Golden Age of
Antigravity that would sweep through the industry starting in the 1960s.

So, what went wrong?

In its current literature, the stuff pumped out in press releases dl the
time, the U.S. Air Force constantly talked up the "vision": where it was
goingto bein 25 years, how it was going to wage and win future wars and
how technology was key.

In 1956, it would have been as curious as | was about the notion of
a fuelless propulsion source, one that could deliver phenomenal per-
formance gains over a jet; perhaps including the ability to accelerate
rapidly, to pull hairpin turns without crushing the pilot and to achieve
speeds that defied the imagination. In short, it would have given them
something that resembled a UFO.

| rubbed my eyes. The dim pool of light that had illuminated the
Lockheed-supplied material on Trimble and RIAS had brought on a
nagging pain in the back of my head. The evidence was suggesting that
in the mid-'50s there had been some kind of breakthrough in the anti-
gravity field and for a small window in time people had talked about it
freely and openly, believing they were witnessing the dawn of anew era,
one that would benefit the whole of mankind.
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Then, in 1957, everyone had stopped talking about it. Had the military
woken up to what was happening, bringing the clamps down?

Those in the know, outfits like Trimble's that had been at the forefront
of the breakthrough, would probably have continued their research,
assembling their development teams behind closed doors, ready for the
day they could build real hardware.

But of course, it never happened.

It never happened because soon after Trimble, Bell and Lear made
their statements, sanity prevailed. By 1960, it was like the whole episode
never took place. Aerospace development continued along its structured,
ordered pathway and antigravity became one of those taboo subjects that
people like me never, ever talked about.

Satisified that everything was back in its place and as it should be, |
went to bed.

Somewhere in my head | was still tracking the shrill, faraway sounds
of the city when the phone rang. | could tell instantly it was Abelman.
Separated by an ocean and five time zones, | heard the catch in her
breathing.

"It's Trimble," she said. "The guy just got off the phone to me.
Remember how he was fine to do the interview? Well, something's
happened. | don't know who this old man is or what he once was, but he
told me in no uncertain terms to get off his case. He doesn't want to speak
to me and he doesn't want to speak to you, not now, not ever. | don't
mind telling you that he sounded scared and | don't like to hear old men
scared. It makes me scared. | don't know what you were really working
on when you cameto mewith this, Nick, but let me give you some advice.
Stick to what you know about; stick to the damned present. It's better
that way for al of us."
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In 1667, Newton mathematically deduced the nature of gravity, dem-
onstrating that the same force that pullsan apple down to earth aso keeps
the moon in its orbit and accounts for the revolutions of the planets. But
today, we are ill thwarted in attempts to measure it with any great
precision. In lab experiments carried out since the 1930s, G has con-
sistently defied efforts to be measured to more than afew decimal places.

This was what the reference books told me as | plowed through a stack
of standard science works in the musty, gothic surroundings of the loca
library.

It was intensive work. Science was something I'd come to associate
with the grind of exams. It didn't feel like the beginnings of ajournalistic
investigation.

| continued to scratch notes. But Newton openly stated that he had no
ideawhat gravity actually was. All he knew was that it had to be caused
by something.

The idea that abody may act on another through the vacuum of space
over huge distances "without the mediation of anythingelse. . .istome
S0 great an absurdity that | believe no man can ever fall into it. Gravity
must be caused . . . but whether this agent be material or immaterial |
have left to the consideration of my reader."

| glanced up. The librarian, who'd been waiting to catch my eye,
nodded toward the clock on the wall behind her. | looked around and
realized | wasthe only person intheroom. I'd lost track; it was a Saturday
and the library closed early.

Outside, the rain had given way to the starlit sky of a passing cold
front. | pulled up my collar and started down the street, dodging puddles
that shimmered under the streetlights. The anomaly over gravity's
measurement and the uncertainties over its causes only served to tell me
how incomplete my knowledge of physics was.

| reached the edge of the common. The lights of my home street were
faintly visible through the trees. | thought about my late-night call from



14 The Huntfor Zero Point

Abelman. In the week since her approach to Trimble and his initial
favorable response to the idea of an interview, it very much appeared that
somebody had gotten to him. And then | thought about what | had just
learned. If we had no real understanding of gravity, how could people say
with such certainty that antigravity could not exist?

In 1990, the U.S. Air Force had been looking at developing a weapon
capable of firing a "plasma bullet"—a doughnut-shaped ring of ionized
gas—at 10,000 kilometers per second.

Shiva Star was capable of generating and holding up to 10 megajoules
of electrical energy and apotential 10 trillion watts—three times as much
as the entire U.S. electricity grid carried in a year. At the time that |
visited Shiva, which was located within the USAF's directed energy
research laboratory at Kirtland Air Force Base in New Mexico, program
engineers had been readying to fire a plasma bullet sometime in 1995.
The purpose of the bullet was to destroy incoming Russian nuclear
warheads and, despite some fierce technological challenges, the program
engineers were confident they could do it. But severa yearslater, when |
returned to Kirtland, it was like the plasma bullet project never existed.
Engineers had difficulty even recalling it.

Officialy, it had been terminated on cost grounds. But this made little
sense. The program had been budgeted at $3.6 million per year for five
years. Eighteen million bucks to produce a true quantum leap weapon
system. Few people | spoke to bought the official version. Somewhere
along the way, they said, Shiva must have delivered. Somewhere along
the line, the program had gone black.

| coupled this knowledge with what the antigravity proponents had
been saying in 1956. If you could find away of shielding objects from the
effectsof gravity, themilitary, let al onethe economic ramificationswould
be enormous.

Aircraft propulsion seems to have progressed little in appreciable
terms since the advent of the jet engine in the 1940s Incremental
improvements for decades have been of the order of a few percentage
points. The fastest aircraft in the world—officially, at least—is still the
Lockheed Blackbird, designed in the late 1950s, first flown in 1962 and
retired in 1990.

Amongst my peers, there had been speculation since the late 1930s
about the existence of a secret replacement for the Blackbird, a mythical
plane cdled Aurorathat supposedly flew twice as fast and on the edges of
space.
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I had no direct evidence of Aurora, but then 1'd never gone looking for
it either. On balance, though, | felt something had been devel oped.

In 1992, circumstantial evidence of Aurora's existence was strength-
ened when Jane's Defence Weekly carried a detailed sighting of a mas-
sive triangular-shaped aircraft spotted in formation with USAF F-I11
bombers and an air-refueling tanker above an oil rig in the North Sea
The sighting was credible because it was witnessed by a highly trained
aircraft recognition expert in the Roya Observer Corps who happened to
be on the rig at the time.

Shiva had been my first brush with the "black" world, the Pentagon's
hidden reservoir of defense programs—projects so secret that officially
they did not exist. Since then, I'd felt the presence of other deep black
projects, but only indirectly.

Looking for the black world was like looking for evidence of black
holes. You couldn't see a black hole, no matter how powerful your
telescope, because its pull sucked in everything around it, including the
light of neighboring stars. But astronomers knew that black holes existed
because of the intense friction they generated on their edges. It was this
that gave them away.

Forty years ago, the people in charge of the Air Force's hidden budget
would have been quick to see the extraordinary implication of Trimble's
message; that there would be no limit—no limit at all—to the potential
of an antigravity aerospace vehicle.

The black world would have thrilled to the notion of a science that did
not exist.

Asl| crossed from the park back into the glare of the streetlights, | knew
| was quite possibly staring at a secret that had been buried more than 40

years deep.

| called Lawrence Cross, an aerospace journalist from the circuit, an ex-
Jane's man, now abureau chief for arival publication in Australia.

Cross and | had spent long hours ruminating on the existence of U.S.
Air Force black programs and the kind of technologies the Air Force
might be pursuing in ultrasecrecy.

| liked Cross, because he had his feet squarely on the ground, was a hell
of a good reporter, but wasn't your average dyed-in-the-wool -type hack.
It had been a while since we had spoken.

The phone rang for ages. It was ten at night my time, eight in the
morning his; and it was the weekend. | could hear the sleep in his voice
when he finally picked up the handset. In the background, a baby was
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crying. Cross had three kids under six years old. Ninety percent of the
time he looked completely exhausted.

He remained quiet as | sketched out the events of the past weeks. | told
him about the article, Trimble's initial willingness to be interviewed,
then the phone cal from Abelman and her insistence, on Trimble's say-
%0, that | drop the whole business.

"This is interesting," he said, stifling a yawn, "but why the long-
distance cdl?

"I wanted to tap you on one of your case studies.”

"Uh-huh." He sounded wary, more aert suddenly. "Which one?"

"Belgium," | said. "Wasn't there some kind of flap there a year or two
back?"'

"You could say that. Hundreds of people reported seeing triangular-
shaped craft all over the country in two 24-hour waves—one in 1989, the
other in 1990. The Belgian Air Force even scrambled F-16s to intercept
them. Why the sudden interest?'

"You once told me that those craft might have been the result of some
kind of secret U.S. development effort.”

Cross laughed. "Maybe | did. But I've had time to study the official
reports since—the ones put out by the Belgian government. Those craft
were totally silent. They hovered, often very close to withesses, and they
never made a sound. Y ou may find my take on this hard to swallow, but
there is no technology—no technology on earth—that could produce
that kind of performance.”

"Didn't the Belgian press try to tag the sightings to Aurora?’

"Yes, but you and | know that that's crazy. Even if Auroraisreal, don't
tell meit can remain stationary one moment and fly Mach 7 the next. And
without making a sound. Belgian radar tracked these things. The tapes
show that they pulled turns of around 20 to 40 g—enough to kill ahuman
pilot." He paused. "You're not seriously suggesting what | think you're
suggesting, are you?"

"A 40-year U.S. development effort, in the black, to make antigravity
technology a redlity? Why not? They were talking about it openly in
1956, Lawrence, then it dropped off the scope. Completely and utterly,
like somebody orchestrated the disappearance. It makes me want to
consider the possibility, a least, that someone achieved a breakthrough
and the whole thing went super-classified.”

"And now you've got the bit between your teeth?"

"Something like that, yes."

For a long moment, Cross fell silent. Then | heard him light a
cigarette. In the background, | heard his wife caling him. Then he
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cupped the receiver, because | caught his voice, muffled, telling her he'd
be there in aminute. The baby was till bawling its lungs out.

"If you break cover on this" he said, "you'll blow everything. For
yourself, | mean."

"Come on," | said, "it's a story. It may be an old story, but I'll apply
the rules that | would on any other. If there's any truth in it, the answers
will pop out. They usually do."

"That's so bloody naive. If there is any truth in it, which | doubt,
they'll already know you're interested and that's not going to help you
one little bit. They'll stand in your way, like they may have done already
withthisoldman. . . Trimble? Ifthereisn't any truth ink, then you're
just going to look like afuckingidiot."

"They, Lawrence? Whao's they?"

"The security people. The keepers of the secrets. The men-in-black.
Y ou know who | mean."

| didn't. To my ears, it sounded more than alittle insane.

"I'm going to bide my time," | said, returning to the reason for the call,
"do this at my own pace. For the moment, there's no need for me to break
cover. Right now, al | have to do is conduct some low-level research and
keep my eyes and ears open when I'm out there in the field. No one has
to know about any of this, Lawrence. All I'm asking for in the meantime
isalittle help. Some of your knowledge. A few facts."

"Listen," he said, "there are no facts in this field; the whole business,
if you want to know, is riven with disinformation, much of it, in my
opinion, deliberately orchestrated. Sooner or later, you're going to have
to surface and when you do, some of that crazy UFO spin is going to rub
off on you. That happens and you'll never eat lunch in this great industry
of ours again. Do you understand what I'm saying?"

And then his tone softened. "I've got to go now, but if you redlly are
hell-bent on taking this forward, you might want to try an outfit in
Washington, D.C., called the Integrity Research Institute. They have a
handle on some of this material. Just promise me you'll keep my name out
of it, okay?' And with that, he hung up.

During a trawl of the Library of Congress in the summer of 1985,
Dr. Paul LaViolette, aresearcher badly bitten by the gravity bug, tripped
over a reference in the card indexing system to a report caled Elec-
trogravitics Systems—An Examination of Electrostatic Motion, Dynamic
Counterbary and Barycentric Control. The words immediately alerted
LaViolette, because he knew they were synonyms for something that
science said was impossible: antigravity.
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LaViolette had become interested in antigravity during his study for a
Ph.D. in systems science from Portland State University. His curiosity
was aroused further when he realized that the electrogravitics report was
missing from its rightful place in the library's stacks—"like it had been
lifted," he told me later.

When LaViolette asked the librarian if she could try to locate a copy
elsawhere, what began as a smple checking procedure soon developed
into afull-blown search of the interlibrary loan network, all to no avail.

Convinced he would never see a copy, LaViolette gave up, but weeks
later the librarian called to tell him that she had managed to track one
down. It had been buried in the technical library of Wright-Patterson Air
Force Base in Dayton, Ohio.

There were no other copies known to exist across the whole of
America.

"Whatever's in it," she told LaViolette dryly, "it must be pretty
exotic."

When LaViolette finally got the Air Force to release the report, exotic
seemed about right. Electrogravitics Systems, drafted in February 1956,
the same year Trimble and his colleagues began pronouncing publicly on
antigravity, contained details of what appeared to be a Mach 3 antigravity
aerospace vehicle designed as a fighter-interceptor for the U.S. Air
Force.

The fact that the report had been located at the Air Force's premier
rescarch and development facility instantly made Electrogravitics Sys-
tems an intriguing piece of work. That the USAF aso appeared to have
sat on it for amost 40 years only served to underscore its importance,
LaViolette and his associates felt.

| had managed to track LaViolette through the Integrity Research
Institute. The institute sat on the edges of a sub-culture of researchers
who relentlessly picked over the antigravity issue. Type "antigravity"
into a Net search engine and an outpouring of conspiracy-based non-
sense on the government suppression of antigravity technology usu-
ally popped up onscreen. In the sober world of defense journalism, I'd
never remotely envisaged a day when I'd have to involve myself in such
matters.

Now, recalling Cross warnings about professional suicide, | was
reluctant to take the plunge, but realized that | had no choice.

| spoke to a colleague of LaViolette's caled Tom Vaone who
mercifully never pressed me on the reasons why | was so interested in the
antigravity business. A few days later, a copy of Electrogravitics Systems
duly arrived through the mail.
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Electrogravitics Systems had not been prepared by the Air Force, it
turned out, but by an outfit called the Gravity Research Group, Special
Weapons Study Unit, a subdivision of Aviation Studies (International)
Limited, a British organization.

| did some checking. Aviation Studies had been a think tank run by
Richard "Dicky" Worcester and John Longhurst, two talented young
aerospace analysts who in the mid-1950s produced a cyclo-styled
newsletter that had a reputation for close-to-the-knuckle, behind-the-
scenes reporting on the aerospace and defense industry.

From the start, the Electrogravitics Systems report adopted alofty tone:
"Aircraft designis still fundamentally asthe Wrights adumbrated it, with
wings, body, tails, moving or flapping controls, landing gear and so forth.
The Wright biplane was a powered glider, and al subsequent aircraft,
including supersonic jets of the 1950s are adso powered gliders.”

The writers went on to say that insufficient attention had been paid to
gravity research and that the "rewards of success are too far-reaching to
be overlooked."

But while it quickly became clear that the report was not authored by
the USAF, or apparently even commissioned by it, it did appear to be
remarkably well informed about the progressof gravity—and antigravity—
research in the United States and elsewhere; something that LaViolette and
Vaone felt might have accounted for its burial for so long in the Wright-
Patterson technical library.

The word "antigravity" was not used in the report, presumably
because this pop-scientific term was felt to be too lurid for the report's
paying subscribers. To those less fussed, however, the term "electro-
gravitics' seemed pretty much synonymous with antigravity, even by
Aviation Studies own definition:

"Electrogravitics might be described as a synthesis of electrostatic
energy used for propulsion—either vertical propulsion or horizontal or
both—and gravitics, or dynamic counterbary, in which energy is aso
used to st up aloca gravitational force independent ofthat of the earth.”

Counterbary is subsequently defined as "the action of lévitation
where gravity's force is more than overcome by electrostatic or other
propulsion.”

Antigravity, then.

The report echoed what had already been made clear in the Gladych
and Interavia articles: that antigravity was of real interest to just about
every U.S. aerospace company of the day.

"Douglas has now stated that it has counterbary on its work agenda,
but does not expect results yet awhile. Hiller has referred to new forms
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of flying platform. Glenn Martin says gravity control could be achieved
in six years, but they add it would entail a Manhattan Project type of
effort to bring it about. Sikorsky, one of the pioneers, more or less agrees
with the Douglas verdict . . . Clarke Electronics state they have arig,
and add that in their view the source of gravity's force will be understood
sooner than some people think. General Electric isworking on electronic
rigs designed to make adjustments to gravity—this line of attack has the
advantage of using rigs already in existence for other defense work. Bell
also has an experimental rig intended, as the company puts it, to cancel
out gravity, and Lawrence Bell has said that he is convinced practical
hardware will emerge from current programs. Grover Leoning is certain
that what he referred to as an electromagnetic contra-gravity mechanism
will be developed for practical use. Convair is extensively committed to
the work with several rigs. Lear Inc., autopilot and electronic engineers,
have a division of the company working on gravity research and so aso
has the Sperry division of Sperry-Rand. This list embraces most of the
U.S. aircraft industry. The remainder, Curtiss-Wright, Lockheed,
Boeing and North American have not yet declared themselves, but all
these four are known to be in various stages of study with and without
rigs."

Everybody, in other words, had had a finger in the pie.

But where, | asked, was the evidence 40 years on? It wasn't simply that
the results of al this activity had failed to yield hardware; no corporate
history of any these companies that I'd ever read in all my years as a
journalist in the industry even hinted that gravity, antigravity, electro-
gravitics, counterbary—call it what you will—had ever been of interest
to any of them.

And then, on page three of the Electrogravitics Systems report | saw the
mention of Thomas Townsend Brown—the "Townsend T. Brown" of
the Interavia piece in the Jane's library.

The report referred to Brown's "Project Winterhaven." Apparently,
Brown had invented awhole new approach to the mechanics of flight.

This notion of electrogravitic lift supposedly worked on the principle
that a plate-like object charged positively on one side and negatively on
the other would always exhibit thrust toward the positive pole, i.e. from
negative to positive. If the plate is mounted horizontally and the positive
pole is uppermost, the object will in effect lose weight, because it will
want to rise skyward.

| was in no rush to judge the validity of the physics. But I'd worked in
the business long enough to know that the military would be quick to
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dismiss anything that wasn't practical. So the key question for me was
how the military had viewed Brown's work.

| called the Integrity Research Institute and asked Tom Valone to send
me as much information as his organization possessed on Brown.

Then, over the next few weeks, my life assumed a pattern. In the dead
hours, long after the phone stopped ringing, I'd head down into the
basement, fire up the computer and hit the Net, staying on-line deep into
the night.

My gresat regret was that | couldn't contact George S. Trimble
directly. Had | done so, | knew that Abelman would have gone ballistic.
Sheld told me to stay away from him and she had the power to ensure that
| became an outcast if | didn't. Lockheed Martin was a large company
and its word would spread quickly.

In that respect, Crosswasright. Pretty soon, no one would want to talk
to atechnology hack who was running around asking madcap questions
about antigravity.

Better, then, to do what | was doing; keep a lid on it. Here, in the
silence of the night, | could roam the Internet and remain anonymous.
Besides, it really did seem to be a case of reviewing the evidence and
following up the clues—clues that had apparently never registered with
the experts who had been reporting on all thisfor years.

That in itself was seductive. Little by little, | could feel myself being
pulledin.
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Thomas Townsend Brown was born into a prominent family from
Zanesville, Ohio, in 1905, two years after the Wright Brothers, residents
of nearby Dayton, propelled their "Flyer," the first aircraft capable of
sustained powered flight, into the sky at Kitty Hawk, North Carolina.
From an early age, Brown exhibited traits that would later come to mark
hiswork asascientist. Asachild, he built aworkshop in hisbackyard and
at the age often was already receiving signals from across the Atlantic on
a homemade radio-receiver. At 16, he was broadcasting from his own
radio station.

For all his prowess as an inventor, Brown appears to have been a
somewhat recalcitrant student. In 1922, he was enrolled at the California
Institute of Technology (Cal Tech), but soon fell into a disagreement
with his teachers over the time allowed by the Institution for laboratory
work, something he lived for. After failing his first year exams in
chemistry and physics, he persuaded his father to sponsor the con-
struction of a laboratory of his own. With no expense spared, alab was
installed on the second floor of their new house in Pasadena.

The quid pro quo, apparently, was that "T.T." had to receive home
tuition to boost his grades. Brown subsequently reported that he made
considerable progress in chemistry, while still finding time to devise an
X-ray spectrometer for astronomical measurements. It was at this point
that he began to develop his first theories about electrogravitation. In
essence, Brown believed that gravitation might be a form of radiation,
much like light, with a "push" as opposed to a "pull" effect.

"Word of this got out among my classmates," he related in a document
called "A Short Autobiography,” which | found on the Net, "and
although shunned and made fun of by the professors, | was nevertheless
cdled to the attention of Dr. Robert Andrew Millikan, Director of Cd
Tech and, incidentally, my first physics teacher, who explained to me in
great detail, why such an explanation of gravitation was utterly im-
possible and not to be considered."

In 1923, Brown transferred to Kenyon College, Gambier, Ohio, and

22
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the following year switched to Ohio's Denison University where he
came under the tutelage of physicist and astronomer Dr. Paul Alfred
Biefeld, a former classmate of Einstein's in Switzerland. In earlier ex-
perimentation, Brown had made the startling discovery that a Coolidge
X-ray tube exhibited thrust when charged to high voltage. It took Brown
a while to realize that the motion was not caused by the X rays them-
sdlves, but by the electricity coursing through the tube. Brown went on
to develop a device he caled the "Gravitor," an electrical condenser
seded in a Bakelite case, that would exhibit a one percent weight gain or
aone percent weight loss when connected to a 100-kilovolt power supply.

In 1929, Brown wrote up his discoveriesin apaper entitled How | Control
Gravitation and speculated as to how his invention might one day be used:

"The Gravitor, in dl redlity, is a very efficient motor. Unlike other
forms of motor, it does not in any way involve the principles of dectro-
magnetism, but instead it utilizes the principles of electro-gravitation.

"A simple gravitor has no moving parts, but is apparently capable of
movingitself from withinitself. It ishighly efficient for the reason that it
uses no gears, shafts, propellers or wheelsin creating its motive power. It
has no internal mechanical resistance and no observable rise in tem-
perature. Contrary to the common belief that gravitational motors must
necessarily be vertical-acting, the gravitor, itisfound, actsequally well in
every conceivable direction."

This ability to manipulate the force in al axes opened up the
Gravitor's potential to aviation. Brown's research led him to the develop-
ment of a shape that was the most efficient in the production of electro-
gravitational lift: that of a perfect disc or saucer.

The way he proposed to control the craft was by dividing the disc into
segments, each of which could be sdlectively charged. By moving the
charge around the rim of the saucer, it would, Brown said, be possible to
make it move in any direction.

| had to remind myself that this was the 1920s.

The aviation industry was till absorbing the technical |essons of the
First World War, the biplane was king and fighters, typified by the
Boeing Model ISA, a leading U.S. design of the mid-1920s, were
struggling to attain top speeds of 160 mph.

But although Brown's principles seemed to have been confirmed by
observation—something, after all, was causing his condenser plates to
move, however much the naysayers denigrated the possibility that it was
due to an electrogravitic reaction—he had no way of generating and
maintaining an electrical charge that would keep a small model craft in
the air, let alone to maneuver it. This force was calculated to be in the
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region of 50 kilovolts, 200 times more than the charge that came from my
wall socket.

Y et these were early days. What was astounding was that Brown had
developed aconcept for an air vehicle, shaped in the form of adisc, years
before anyone had coined the term "flying saucer."

This, | thought, had to be more than happenstance, especidly as the
military were showing signs that they considered Brown to be not just a
visionary, but a practical man of invention; someone they could turn to
to develop nuts-and-bolts hardware.

In September 1930, Brown joined the U.S. Navy Reserve, but instead of
going to sea was given orders to report to the Naval Research Laboratory
(NRL) in Washington, D.C. In due course, he transferred to the NRL's
"Heat and Light Divison" and here he carried on the experiments that
he started in Ohio.

Experiments were conducted which seemed to prove the concept of
gravitation which he had first postulated at Cal Tech in 1923.

In 1932, Brown served as staff physicist on the Navy's Gravity
Expedition to the West Indies. But by 1933, the effects of the Great
Depression were forcing cutbacks within the Navy and Brown, suddenly
finding himself out of a job at the NRL, was driven to seek work in
industry, which he interleaved with his duties as a reserve naval officer.

With war clouds gathering in Europe, Brown was drafted full-time
into the Navy and assigned to acoustic and magnetic minesweeping
research, afield for which he seemed to have agreat natural aptitude. He
developed a method for maintaining the buoyancy of minesweeping
cables, designed to trigger magnetic mines with a strong electrical force
field, while simultaneously shielding them from blast effects. Brown took
out a patent on the idea, which wasimmediately classified.

By 1940, he was appointed head of the Navy Bureau of Ships mine-
sweeping research and development activity and it was during this period
that he experimented with "degaussing’'—a method for canceling a
ship's magnetic field. This was a critical breakthrough as it was a ship's
magnetic field that triggered a new breed of German mines, weapons that
the Nazis had developed in quantity.

There was no question that Brown was by now well plugged into the
military's research and development community, and that his opinions
were given great credit.

Itisironic, then, that it is at this point that his credibility is most open
to question, thanks to his supposed association with the so-caled
"Philadelphia Experiment.”
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In this, according to legend, the U.S. Navy spirited one of its warships,
complete with its crew complement, into another dimension.

The Philadel phia Experiment was made famous in abook of the same
name by Charles Berlitz and William Moore, writers who have forged
names for themselves with tales of paranormal mysteries. Even they
confessed that it was "questionable whether Brown was really ever very
heavily involved in the Philadel phia Experiment project”"—a comment
that assumes this incident took place at all.

But the association isingrained. Run a check with a search engine and
Brown is up there, his name highlighted, nine times out of ten, right
alongside it.

| tried to maneuver around this obstacle, this blip in Brown's
otherwise blemishless wartime record, but whichever way | turned, it
wouldn't go away.

Its effect was powerful and immediate. Up until this moment, I'd
trawled cyberspace and decades-old documents in the growing con-
viction that this unusually gifted engineer was an important, long-
overlooked link in the antigravity mystery highlighted by the Gladych
and Interavia articles.

But the instant the Philadelphia Experiment started to be men-
tioned in the same breath as Brown, it made me want to drop him like
a stone.

It was just as Cross had said it would be. | could feel the association,
with its whiff of paranocia and conspiracy, threatening to act like a
contaminant on my thinking.

Better to avoid it altogether.

Everything had been going so well. Brown was university-educated,
he'd worked in the aviation industry, he'd been embraced by the military
and he'd done classified work. And then, the Philadelphia Experiment
had come along.

Shit.

The substance of the story is that while experimenting with techniques
in 1943 to make navy ships invisible to radar through the use of intense
electromagnetic fields, a destroyer, the USS Eldridge, disappeared from
its berth in Philadel phia and reappeared moments later at aNavy yard in
Norfolk, Virginia, 250 miles away. During this time-lapsed interval, the
crew were supposedly transported into a "paralel dimension,” an ex-
perience that drove many of them insane.

Brown's credentials at the time, coupled with his refusal in the years
since altogether to dismiss the Philadel phia Experiment as hokum, have
helped to stoke the myth. And so it has stuck to him like glue.
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In the silence of the basement, confronted by this dead end, | began to
wonder about that.

If the original authorities on the story, Berlitz and Moore, had had
their own doubts about Brown's involvement in the Philadel phia Experi-
ment, how had he come to be linked so inextricably to it?

And then | thought of something else; something Cross had said. That
this whole field was riven with disinformation, some of it, in his opin-
ion, deliberately managed. The Soviets had even coined a term for it:
disinformatsiya.

During World War Two and the long decades of the Cold War the
Russian military had used disinformatsiya to achieve key tactica and
strategic objectives.

Far from avoiding the Philadelphia Experiment, which was what my
every professional instinct yelled | should be doing, | came to the un-
comfortable conclusion that | ought to do precisely the opposite.

Tentatively, | began to surf the Net for obscure websites that told the
story.

There are two versions of what the Philadelphia Experiment was trying
to achieve. One holds that the Navy was testing a method that would
make ships invisible to radar, the other was that it was attempting to
develop some kind of optical cloaking device as well; that by generating
an intense electromagnetic field around the Eldridge, it would distort
both light and radar waves in its vicinity, rendering the ship invisible to
both sensor systems and the human eye.

To do this, the legend stated, the Eldridge was equipped with tons of
electronic equipment. These, the story had it, included massive electrical
generators, severa powerful radio frequency transmitters, thousands of
power amplifier tubes, cabling to distribute the energy around the ship
and specid circuitry to tune and modulate the fields.

During the first test, which is supposed to have taken place in July
1943, the Eldridge is said to have become invisible at its berth, the only
sign that it was there being a trough of displaced water beneath the
hull. Though classified a success, the ship remaining invisible for around
15 minutes, the crew experienced side effects, including nausea, dis-
orientation and memory loss.

If we can for the moment assume that there's some truth in the
story this would have been quite unsurprising to those in charge of
the science, since the nerve impulses by which the brain operates are
signaed electrically. In effect, just as earlier iterations of the equipment
had demonstrated on enemy mines, the field generators would have
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"degaussed” the brains of anyone within the area of influence, causing
them temporary and, in some cases, permanent damage.

In such circumstances, | could conceive of reasons why the Navy
might want to plant misleading stories about the Eldridge—the more so,
since it involved stealth.

It remains highly sensitive technology, but the use of electromagnetic
fields in generating radar stealth is a technique well known to military
science today.

But during World War Two—if Brown had discovered a means of
shielding U.S. Navy ships from enemy radar (or even for marginally
reducing their radar signature)—it would have rung right off the
classification scale.

Thelast thing the Navy would have wanted was sailors running around
complaining of headaches and revealing how they had come by them.

The next experiment supposedly went even further. In October 1943,
after the Navy had replaced the first crew, a second test on the Eldridge
was carried out.

This time, soon after the generators were switched on, the ship
shimmered for a few seconds, remaining visible in outline only. Then
there was a blinding flash and it vanished altogether. The legend states
that it was transported briefly to a berth in Norfolk, Virginia, before
making its way back to the yard at Philadel phia.

When investigators went on board, they found that some of the crew
had been swalowed by the ether that had momentarily consumed the
Eldridge. These men were never seen again.

Those that did make it back were either made dangerously ill by their
adventure, experiencing intense nausea and headaches for years, or were
driven mad by it.

Weirdest of dl, five of the crew were found fused into the metallic
structure of the ship, which had materially transmuted to accommodate
them.

These were the broad "facts' as presented to Berlitz and Moore, who
were first alerted to the mystery by a man who claimed to have been on
the Eldridge. They were supported by an eccentric source identified
variously as Carlos Allende and Carl Allen, who claimed to have
witnessed the whole thing from the deck of the SS Andrew Furuseth, a
merchant marine ship berthed close to the Eldridge in the Philadelphia
navy yard.

This was in the mid-1970s, more than 30 years after the purported
events. When the book came to be written, Brown became an inextricable
part of the myth.
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The only other thing | knew about disinformation, certainly as it had
been practiced by the Soviets, was that it worked best when mixed in with
a little truth.

Intuitively, therefore, | felt Brown must have been somewhere in the
vicinity of the "experiment” when it was supposed to have happened.
Beyond that, | could draw no other conclusions, so | returned to the
documented facts of his career.

In 1942, he was appointed head of the Atlantic Fleet Radar Materiel
School and Gyrocompass School in Norfolk, Virginia, a position that
would have made him privy to some of the most highly classified
technical secrets of the day. Whatever work he was engaged on there, it
appears to have taken its toll, since the following year he suffered a
nervous breakdown and was discharged from the Navy.

There is something neatly synergistic in this unfortunate devel-
opment, which appears to have been real enough, with the mystery
surrounding the USS Eldridge. One suggestion is that whatever work
Brown was engaged in at the time, be it in the radar or minesweeping
field, it caused him temporary memory loss.

While it stretched credulity to believe in stories of optical invisibility,
tele-transportation and parallel dimensions, | did find it possible to
envisage a scenario in which the legend of the Eldridge had grown out of
the secrecy of Brown's legitimate work in the radar field; in much the
same way that the supposed ability of RAF night fighter pilots to see in
the dark by eating carrots stemmed from a childishly simple British ruse
to protect its radar secrets at around the same time.

Despite Brown's illness—and whatever really happened in the
Philadelphia and Norfolk shipyards—it appears to have had no long-
term detrimental effect on his standing in the eyes of the Navy. In 1944,
he went back to work as a radar consultant in Burbank, California, at
Lockheed's Vega Division, which was responsible for development of
the Navy's PV-2 Harpoon and P-2V Neptune antisubmarine patrol
bombers.

At war's end, Brown moved to Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, where he once
again resumed the antigravity work that had driven his research efforts as
ayoung man.

It seemed to me from this period—Ilong before the story of the
Philadephia Experiment emerged to complicate the picture—as if two
portraits of Brown had been painted and were now in circulation: one
portraying him as a mildly eccentric inventor with some harebrained
ideas about negating the forces of gravity; the other showing him to be a
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man responsible for some of the most highly classified research of the
war.
Seen through this ambivalent prism, the story of the Philadelphia
Experiment has helped to perform a very important function.

By 1980, it had managed to tip Brown over the edge; make him a
wholly discredited figure in the eyes of science.

That left me with the uncomfortable feeling that the story had been
carefully stage-managed. If so, why? And why so long after the supposed
events had taken place?

The next occasion Brown is reputed to have demonstrated his Gravi-
tor and tethered flying discs was to Admiral Arthur W. Radford,
Commander in chief of the U.S. Pacific Fleet, in Hawaii in 1945. Brown
had by now left Californiaand was resident in Hawaii, where he worked
temporarily as a consultant at the Pearl Harbor Navy Y ard.

His demonstrations supposedly failed to impress the Navy, but there
is no known official record of its reaction. One account is that it "refused
funding for further research because of the negative opinion of other
scientists." Another relates the story of his room being broken into after
the Pearl Harbor demonstration and the theft of his notebooks. Accord-
ing to this variant, which was related by a close friend of Brown's, Josh
Reynolds, the Navy returned the books days later, adding that it
remained uninterested. The reason given was that the "effect” was not
due to electrogravitation, but to "ionic wind"—this, despite Brown's
view that he had conclusively proven otherwise with experiments under
oil back in the 1920s.

From 1945 until 1952, little is known about Brown's activities, but
based on what happened next, it is clear that along the way he returned
from Hawaii to Los Angeles, where he established the Townsend Brown
Foundation.

In 1952, the Foundation received an unannounced visit by Major
Genera Victor E. Bertrandias of the U.S. Air Force. | learned of this
thanks to a recovered transcript of a phone conversation between
Bertrandias and another USAF genera caled Craig, whose job de-
scription was not immediately clear.

The transcript had been forwarded to me by Tom Valone at the In-
tegrity Research Institute. It made clear that Bertrandias was astounded
by what he witnessed.

"It sounds terribly screwy, but Friday | went down with Lehr, a man
named Lehr, to a place caled the Townsend Brown Foundation, and
believe it or not, | saw amodel of a flying saucer,” Bertrandias reported.
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"No," Craig replied, apparently without irony.

"I thought | should report it," Bertrandias told him. "There was a lot
of objection to my getting in there by the party that took me and the thing
frightened me—frightened me for the fact that it is being held or
conducted by a private group. | was in there from about one-thirty until
about five in the afternoon and | saw these two models that fly and the
thing has such a terrific impact that | thought we ought to find out
something about it—who these people are and whether the thing is
legitimate. If it ever gets away | say it isin the stage in which the atomic
development was in the early days."

"I see" General Craig replied. The man's urbane delivery earmarked
him, to me at least, as someone big in Air Force intelligence.

"I was told that | was not to say anything about it," Bertrandias
burbled on, "but I'm afraid that all that | heard made me believe in it and
these were not schoolboys. It was conducted in rather an elaborate office
in Los Angeles. | thought | should report it to you."

"Yes, well I'll look into it and see what | can find out,” Craig told him,
shortly before hanging up.

It seems that what Bertrandias had stumbled upon, alittle before the
Townsend Brown Foundation was ready to pitch it formally to the
military, was Project Winterhaven—the distillation of all Brown's ideas
into a blueprint for a manned antigravity fighter, built in the shape of a
disc and capable of Mach 3, twice the speed of the leading jet-powered
interceptor of the day.

Y earslater, LaViolette had found extensive references to Winterhaven
in the sole remaining copy of the Electrogravitics Systems report the
Congressional librarian had tracked down to the technical library at
Wright-Patterson Air Force Base.

| was rapidly coming full circle.

I needed to see the report on Project Winterhaven, but remembering
the difficulty LaViolette had had in tracking down the one remaining
copy of Electrogravitics Systems, | couldn't begin to think how or where |
would lay my hands on one. | imagined, given the Air Force's evident
excitement about Brown's work, that if there were any copies of
Winter haven left, they were buried somewhere deep.

I rang Vaone in Washington—my third call in as many weeks—and
this time got the question I'd been dreading. Was Jane's running some
kind of investigation into antigravity?

| told him it wasn't; that my interest in Brown's work was born of
personal curiosity, nothing more, and that I'd appreciate it if he'd keep
the matter to himself.
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Valone seemed quite unfazed by this request. In the murky world of
antigravity research, | realized it was probably par for the course.

The conversation drifted inevitably toward Townsend Brown and
Winterhaven. It was then that | mentioned how I'd give my eyeteeth to
know what wasin it.

A week later, to my absolute astonishment, a copy of Winterhaven
(registered copy No. 36) landed on my desk. Attached to the front page
was a note from Valone. Thanks to the Freedom of Information Act,
there was no need for me and my teeth to part company, he said. | smiled.
The man was a one-stop shop.

He assured me, too, that no one else bar him and LaViolette would
ever know that | was interested in the subject matter.

Nagged by the ease with which the military had relinquished its grip
on Winterhaven, | started reading.

In his pitch to the military, on page sx, Brown had written: "The
technical development of the electrogravitic reaction would usher in a
new age of speed and power and of revolutionary new methods of
transportation and communication.

"Theoretical considerations would predict that, because of the
sustained acceleration, top limits of speed may be raised far beyond
those of jet propulsion or rocket drive, with possibilities of eventu-
aly approaching the speed of light in 'free space’ The motor which
may be forthcoming will be essentialy soundless, vibrationless and
heatless."

| made notes. This was language that was similar in tone to that
expressed by George S. Trimble and his quoted contemporaries in the
1956 Gladych article. Trimble, who 40 years later had canceled my
interview with him, because he appeared—to Abelman’'s mind, at least—
to be too afraid to talk.

The attributes of the technology were aso right in line with the
characteristics exhibited by the flying triangles observed over Belgium.

The little model discs that had so impressed General Bertrandias
"contain no moving parts and do not necessarily rotate while in flight,"
the Winterhaven report stated. "In atmospheric air they emit a bluish-
red electric coronal glow and afaint hissing sound.”

Project Winterhaven, then, offered a systematic approach for the
establishment of a U.S. antigravity program—echoing the origins of the
U.S. atomic bomb project a decade earlier and the path that Trimble had
advocated in 1956.

In the report, Brown recommended starting modestly with 2-foot
discs charged at 50 kilovolts, then proceeding to 4-foot discs at 150 kV
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and finally to a 10-foot disc at 500 kV, with careful measurements being
made along the way of the thrust generated.

This was a sensible, structured approach. It showed that Winterhaven
was ready to transition from the drawing board to the technology demon-
stration phase.

Full-blown development wouldn't be far behind.

Brown had also formulated a method for generating the required high
voltages for a free-flying disc—the problem that had earlier stymied its
practical development into a manned aircraft—by means of a "flame-jet
generator.” This was a jet engine modified to act as an electrostatic
generator capable of providing up to 15 million volts to the skin of the
craft. The Interavia article, | remembered, had talked of trials involving
3-foot discs run in a 50-foot diameter air course under acharge of 150 kV
"with results so impressive as to be highly classified."

Brown's flying saucer now had a power source.

In one way and another things seemed to be gaining momentum.

But it was short-lived.

Days after General Bertrandias' conversation with his spook colleague
General Craig, the documents trail showed that the Air Force Office of
Specia Investigations, AFOSI, was well and truly onto the Brown case.
AFOSlI was the Air Force equivalent of the FBl—an indication that
Craig had taken Bertrandias' interpretation of his visit to the Brown
Foundation seriously. Once again, it was Vaone who furnished me with
the relevant papers.

They showed that AFOSI uncovered a copy of a report prepared by
one Willoughby M. Cady of the Office of Naval Research, the ONR, in
Pasadena, California, entitled: "An Investigation Relative to the Town-
send Brown Foundation.”

The report, which was forwarded by AFOS| to Major General Joseph F.
Carroll, Deputy Inspector General of the USAF, made disappointing
reading all around.

"Mr. Brown claimsthat agravitational anomaly existsin the neighbor-
hood of a charged condenser," Cady wrote in his conclusions, adding:
"This effect has not been well documented by Mr. Brown."

Cady went on to say that there was no el ectrogravitational link, merely
a disturbance of the air around the model saucers stimulated by the
dectrica charge and it was this that was causing them to be propelled
upward and forward.

Any hope that this technology might be of use in aerospace propul sion
was damned by Cady. "If the efficiency of conversion of fuel energy into
electrical energy is 21 percent, the overall efficiency of propulsion of the
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model flying saucers by the electric wind is 0.3 percent. This compares
with about 25 percent for a propeller-driven airplane and 15 percent for
ajet airplane.”

If Cady's conclusions were clear to me, they would have been crystal
clear to the Navy and the Air Force. Brown's flying saucer would have
had trouble getting off the ground, let alone cruising at Mach 3. The
whole "science" of electrogravitics, Cady was telling his superiors, was a
waste of time, effort and money.

The Navy and its old foe the Air Force would have concluded that
they were both far better off sticking with jets.

Even under the auspices of a deeply classified program, an arrangement
by which one branch of the armed forces might be unaware of projects
taking place in another, it was hard to see Brown's work surviving such
an appraisal.

On September 22, 1952, six months after General Bertrandias
telephone cal to Genera Craig, documents showed that the Air Force
downgraded its interest in the work of the Townsend Brown Foundation
from "confidential” to "unclassified."

This explained why the Pentagon's archives had contained a de-
classified copy of Winter haven.

Despite the view of LaViolette, Valone and many others that this was
the moment Project Winterhaven went super-classified, forming the
basis of a number of "black programs® in the antigravity field from the
mid-1950s onward, | found this hard to believe. Although LaViolette's
theory dovetailed neatly with the ringing silence that followed the zeal ous
rhetoric of George Trimble and his colleagues in the U.S. aerospace
industry on the subject of antigravity in 1956, there was no evidence at all
to support it.

Nor, crucialy, did LaViolette's thesis explain Brown's behavior from
this period onward. For although it was obvious that he knew how to
keep a secret—his wartime work would haveinstilled in him the need for
the rigors of secrecy—if the ONR report was merely a blind, his
subsequent actions went way beyond attempts to lead investigators away
from a buried program within the U.S. Navy or Air Force or both. The
energy with which he now set out to prove his electrogravitational theory
seemed, in fact, to stem specifically from the comprehensive rejection of
his experiments by the U.S. military. For therest of hislife, Brown, who
was universally described as quiet, unassuming, honest and likable,
behaved like a man driven to prove his point.

In 1955, he went to work for the French aerospace company
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SNCASO—Société Nationale de Constructions Aéronautiques du Sud-
Ouest.

During this one-year research period, he ran his discs in a vacuum. If
anything, they worked better in a vacuum, something that prompted
SNCASO, which was interested in exploiting Brown's work for possible
space applications, to offer him an extension of his contract. But in 1956,
SNCASO merged with its counterpart Sud-Est and its new bosses saw
little future in the space business. They wanted to build aeroplanes; rea
ones, with wings and jet engines.

His contract terminated, Brown returned to America, where he helped
found the National Investigations Committee on Aerial Phenomena
(NICAP), an unofficial study group set up to analyze the growing body
of UFO sightings across the American continent and elsewhere. It was
Brown's belief that the study of UFOs, many of which exhibited char-
acteristics similar to his discs, could shed light on their propulsion
methodology and this, in turn, could be exploited for science and space
travel. Thetrouble was, of course, that this alienated him even more from
the mainstream.

It also further dienated him from me. As I'd immersed myself in
Brown's life and work, |I'd wondered more and more if his "discovery" of
electrogravitics had had something to do with the emergence of the whole
UFO phenomenon in the '40s, if these "dien" craft had in fact been top
secret aerospace vehicles propelled by a power source that science even
today refused to recognize. This, however, did not gel with aman who
went on to found a UFO study group.

In 1957, Brown was hired as a consultant to continue his antigravity
work for the Bahnson Company of North Carolinaand in 1959 he found
himself consulting for the aerospace propulsion giant General Electric.

I found little corroborating evidence for Brown's activities during
these years.

When he went into semiretirement in the mid-1960s, Vaone and
LaViolette saw this as asignal that, in effect, he had been been bought off
by the military, especially as he hardly touched electrograviticsagain. His
last great interest involved a series of ultimately successful attempts to
draw stored electrical energy—albeit in minute quantities—from com-
mon or gardenrocks. . .

Unquestionably a highly gifted and unusual man, Brown died in
relative obscurity in 1983.

In trying to draw lessons from his story, lessons that might perhaps
help explain the sudden outpouring of interest in antigravity by
Americas leading aerospace designers in the late 1950s, | found myself
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trying to put the pieces of the puzzle together. The problem was,
however | went about it, they wouldn't form into any recognizable
picture.

If the Navy had developed Brown's experiments into a fully fledged
antigravity program, why had its premier research arm, the ONR, gone
out of its way to dismiss them? And if this was an elaborate ruse to throw
others off the scent—including its old rival the U.S. Air Force—why did
Brown continue in his work, eventually taking it to another country? If
electrogravitics was classified, this would have handed it on a plate to
another nation, which was madness.

Therewas, conceivably, achance that Brown'swork had been hijacked
by the U.S. military without his knowledge at the end of World War
Two, but this too seemed unlikely. Given Brown's wartime clearances, it
would have been simpler to have sworn him to secrecy after the Hawaii
experiments, had the Navy been that impressed with them.

There was another, remote possibility—that Brown's work had been
rejected by themilitary, not because it was hokey or crazy, but because its
principles were already known to them—and, perhaps, therefore already
the subject of advanced development activity. Had this been the casg, it
might well have explained why, afew years later, Bell, Convair, Martin
and so many other companies—equally ignorant of this activity—aired
their views on antigravity unchecked for a number of months, as
recorded in the Interavia article, until someone, somewhere ordered
them to silence.

As | kicked this notion around, | found sympathy for it from an
unlikely source.

In the appendix section of a compendium of UFO sightings, | found a
secret memorandum dated September 23,1947, from Lieutenant General
Nathan Twining, head of the U.S. Army Air Forces' Air Materiel Com-
mand (AMC), to Brigadier General George Schulgen, a senior USAAF
staff officer in Washington.

The memorandum had been declassified and released into the public
domain only in the late 1970s. I'd found it during another late-night trawl
of my burgeoning archive, a cup of strong coffee in my hand to keep me
awake.

In the memo, Twining states in his "considered opinion" that the rash
of UFO sightings in America during the summer of 1947—the first real
wave, as it turned out—had been "something real and not visionary or
fictitious."

He continued: "There are objects . . . approximating the shape of a
disc, of such appreciable size as to appear to be as large as a man-made



36 The Hunt for Zero Point

aircraft." These discs exhibited a number of common characteristics,
amongst them ametallic or light-reflecting surface, an absence of any jet
trail and no propulsion sound.

In addition, they were capable of "extreme rates of climb, maneu-
verability (particularly in roll), and action which must be considered
evasive when sighted.”

For an Air Force officer—a senior one, even—to admit to the reality
of UFOs was quite an admission, but it was not unique. Other then-
classified memos from other USAAF officers of the day show them to
have been similarly perplexed by the disc sightings phenomenon across
America from mid-1947 onward.

UFO researchers had seized on these documents as evidence that the
USAAF (and from 1947 its successor, the USAF) recognized the reality
of UFOs while officially pooh-poohing them—a blanket denial that
remains policy to this day.

My attention, however, had been drawn to something quite else.

Asan aerospace analyst, and in light of the Brown research, | found the
key part of Twining's memo in what followed. UFO researchers had
concentrated entirely on the main thrust of the memo: Twining's
acknowledgment of the reality of UFOs.

The part that interested me, the postscript, added almost as an
afterthought, had been totally overlooked. It so absorbed methat | never
noticed the pencil on which | set down my cup of lukewarm coffee. It
tipped over and the drink spilled, spreading across the open pages likeink
on a blotter. | swore, mopped it up as best | could and returned to the
text. The stain, as poor luck would have it, had covered the paragraph |
was interested in, making the task of rereading it apainfully dow affair. |
uttered the words aloud, enunciating them slowly so | knew | had read it
right.

"It is possble” Twining wrote, "within the present U.S.
knowledge—provided extensive detailed development is undertaken—
to construct a piloted aircraft which has the general description of the
object above which would be capable of an approximate range of 7,000
miles at subsonic speeds.”

As head of Air Materiel Command, the branch of the USAAF that
assumed responsibility for all USAAF aircraft development, Twining—
who would have written the memo under the best advice from his
subordinates—should have known what he was talking about. The prob-
lem was that 50 years this side of Twining's memo, at the end of the
20th century, | still knew of no combat aircraft capable of the per-
formance characteristics Twining had elucidated. Even the Lockheed
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U-2 spyplane (which first flew in 1955, but is still in service), a single-
engined aircraft intended for ultralong endurance missions (and hardly,
therefore, a maneuvering type like the discs reported to Twining), had a
maximum unrefueled range in excess of 3,000 miles—3,500, perhaps, on
agood day.

And, needless to say, no one had ever owned up to building a flying
saucer.

To construct the "aircraft" that Twining had in mind, he told General
Schulgen: "Any developments in this country along the lines indicated
would be extremely expensive, time-consuming and at the considerable
expense of other projects and therefore, if directed, should be st up
independently of existing projects.”

Placing such a project outside the mainstream of aerospace science
brought to mind the effort that had resulted in the development of
the first atomic bomb. In 1956, George Trimble had aso cited the
Manhattan Project as the inspiration for his proposed antigravity
program. Brown, too, had offered a highly unusual devel opment model
for Winterhaven, his Mach 3 antigravity program, one that only periph-
erally involved the U.S. aerospace industry.

| tried to keep my mind on the facts. The essential point of Twining's
memo was that the development of an aircraft exhibiting the charac-
terigtics of the saucers that people were seeing in 1947 was "within the
present U.S. knowledge,” but that the craft themselves were nothing to
do with the USAAF. Then whose were they?

Twining himself offered two possibilities. First, that they were of
"domestic origin—the product of some high security project not known
to AC/AS-2 (air force technical intelligence) or this Command." And
second, "that some foreign nation has a form of propulsion, possibly
nuclear, which is outside of our domestic knowledge."

Thefirst part | actually found alittle scary. Twining was entertaining
the possibility that these craft had been developed and fielded by another
branch of the U.S. armed forces—the Navy, perhaps—without the
knowledge of the USAAF.

The second explanation was, at least, a little more conventional. The
discs, Twining offered, were the result of another country's secret
development effort.

| had been sucked into a story that seemed to have had its origins in
1956. Reluctantly, | now had to concede that if | was to do thisthing any
justice at al, | needed to cast the net back even further.



Chapter 4

History doesn't relate the mood of the crewmembers of the Northrop
P-61 Black Widow patrolling the sky above the Rhineland that night, but
the available clues suggest that they were nonetoo happy. A night-fighter
crew was about as close-knit aunit as you could find among the frontline
squadrons ranged against Germany in late 1944. Success—their very
survival when it came down to it—depended on a high leve of trust,
intense training, the reliability of a piece of hardware then ill in its
infancy—radar—and undiluted concentration.

The lagt thing U.S. Army Air Forces Lieutenant Ed Schlueter would
have needed that night was a passenger. Worse, Ringwald wasn't even
aircrew, but an intelligence officer.

Lieutenant Fred Ringwald was sitting behind and above Schlueter, the
P-61's pilot, in the position normally occupied by the gunner. Schlueter's
unit, the 415th Night Fighter Squadron of the U.S. 9th Army Air Force,
had recently upgraded from their British-made Bristol Beaufighters to
the Black Widow. They had also just transferred from the Italian theater
of operations to England and from there across the Channel, deploying
eastward in short hops across northwest France as the Allies pushed the
Nazis toward the Rhine and back into Germany itself.

Schlueter flew his aircraft south along the Rhine, looking for "trade."
The Black Widow was a heavy fighter; bigger than the Beaufighter and
considerably more menacing in appearance. While its primary targets
were the German night fighters sent up to intercept British bomber
streams heading to and from Germany, there was always the chance,
provided Schlueter was sharp-eyed enough, of hitting a Nazi train or a
vehicle convoy, especially asthe Germanswere moving men and materiel
under cover of darkness due to the Allies overwhelming daytime air
superiority. This had been pretty much indisputable since the D-Day
landingsfivemonths earlier.

But night strafing operations brought their own hazards. Over the
uncertain territory of the Rhineland, sandwiched between the bluffs of
the wide and winding river and the rugged uplands of the Black Forest,
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there was a better than even chance you could follow your own cannon-
fire into the ground.

Therewas no official record asto why theintelligence officer Ringwald
was aong for the ride, but knowing something of the way in which spooks
had a habit of ring-fencing intelligence from the people who needed it
most, | had a feeling that Schlueter and his radar operator would have
been left just as much in the dark.

In the black skies above the Rhineland, after a long period of routine
activity, it was Ringwald who broke the silence.

"What the hell are those lights over there?' he asked over the RT.
"Probably stars," Schlueter said, concentrating on his instruments.

"l don't think s0," Ringwald replied. "They're coming straight for
us."

Now, Schlueter looked up and out of the cockpit. In the pitch-black of
his surroundings, the formation of aircraft off his starboard wing stood
out like a constellation of tiny brilliant suns. Instinctively, he twisted the
control column, bringing the Black Widow's four cannon and four .50 ca
machine guns into line with them. At the same time, he called ground
radar.

The ground station was supposed to be Schlueter's eyes and ears at all
times, but if each pulsating point of light represented the exhaust plumes
of a German night fighter, there were anything up to ten aircraft closing
on him and he hadn't heard a whisper out of them. Somebody had
screwed up. Later, he would be angry. Now, he was simply frightened
and confused. He urgently requested information.

"Negative," the reply came back. "There are no bogies in your sector.
You're on your own."

Schlueter's radar operator, Lieutenant Don Meiers, who was
crouched over the scope of the SCR540 airborne intercept (Al) radar in
awell behind Ringwald, told him the same thing. The sky ahead of them
was empty of any air activity.

But the lights were still there and they kept coming. Instead of
running, Schlueter boosted the throttles and pointed the nose of the
Black Widow at the lead aircraft of the formation.

As the twin air-cooled radiais powered up either side of him, the glow
from his opponents exhausts dimmed; and then they winked out.
Puzzled and alarmed at having lost the contacts, and with no help from
Meiers on the Black Widow's own radar, Schlueter held the aircraft
steady and the crew braced themselves for the engagement.

Schlueter eased the night fighter into the blacked-out bowl of sky
where he had last seen the contacts. He craned his neck for a glimpse of
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something—anything—that signaled the presence of another aircraft,
jinking the plane left and right to check his blind spots.

Still nothing.

It was only when he started to execute a turn back to base that
Ringwald told him the lights were back again.

Schlueter followed the line indicated by Ringwald and saw them along
way off. Impossibly far, in fact, but still within radar range. He called out
to Meiers, but the radar operator was now having technica problems
with his Al set.

Schlueter again prepared to engage the enemy, but the lights had
aready begun to glide away to the northeast, eventually retreating deep
into the German lines and disappearing altogether.

Nobody said anything until shortly before the Black Widow landed.
Although Schlueter and Meiers were agreed that the Germans must
have been experimenting with some new kind of secret weapon, neither
wanted to hazard a guess as to what this weapon might have been. There
was nothing they knew of in their own inventory that approached the
weird, darting performance characteristics of the aircraft they'd just
seen.

Fearful they would become the target of unwelcome squadron
humor—along predictable lines they were "losing it"—they decided not
to report the incident. And Ringwald, the spook, went along with it.

Reports of this incident exist in a number of UFO books—books I'd
not encountered before because to someone steeped in the dry reportage
of nuts-and-bolts technical journalism, they'd never entered my orbit.

The incident showed that almost three years before Twining wrote his
memo to General Schulgen unconventional aeria objects had appeared
in German skies prior to their manifestation across the U.S.A. in 1947.

On odd days off work and at weekends, 1'd begun trawling public
archives for corroborating evidence of this sighting. What | found were
details on the 415th Night Fighter Squadron and the aircraft Schlueter
had flown at the time of the encounter; details that allowed me to fill in
the gaps of the published account and to visualize the sense of bewild-
erment and fear that Schlueter and his crew would have experienced that
night. But along the way, | discovered that Schlueter's sighting was far
from unique. All that winter of 1944-45, Allied aircrew reported small,
ball-shaped aircraft glowing orange, red and white over the territory of
the Third Reich. While some attributed the lights to natural phenomena
such as bal lightning or St. EImao's fire, others could not dismiss the
sightings so easily. The devices appeared to be able to home in on Allied
aircraft as if guided to them remotely or by some built-in control system.
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Bit by bit, the reports entered the realm of officialdom. In archives and
on the Internet, | found dozens of them.

"At 0600, at 10,000 feet, two very bright lights climbed toward us from
the ground,” another pilot from the 415th told intelligence officers after
an encounter on December 22, near Haguenau, close to where Schlueter,
Meiers and Ringwald had been. "They leveled off and stayed on the tail
of our plane. They were huge bright orange lights. They stayed there for
two minutes. On my tail al the time. They were under perfect control.
Then they turned away from us, and the fire seemed to go out.”

Although their appearance was sporadic, aircrews increasingly re-
ported the devices via the appropriate channels. They nicknamed them
"foo-fighters," a bastardization of the French word "feu" for "fire" that
had worked its way into a cartoon strip called Smokey Stover, the Foolish
Foo Fighter which had first appeared in a Chicago newspaper several
yearsearlier. Meiers, who was aresident of Chicago, appearsto have been
the first person to have coined the term.

The consensus was that foo-fighters were Nazi secret weapons of some
kind, but mighty strange ones, since they did not open fireon Allied air-
craft, nor did they explode on proximity to them. They simply appeared,
tagged along for a while and then vanished.

Seemingly, the spooks couldn't provide any plausible explanation for
what they were either, as the following account, by Major William Leet,
aB-17 pilot attached to the U.S. 15th Air Force, indicated after a night-
time encounter with a foo-fighter—"a small amber disc"—that followed
his bomber all the way from Klagenfurt, Austria, to the Adriatic Seain
December 1944. "The intelligence officer that debriefed us stated it was
anew German fighter but could not explain why it did not fireat us or, if
it was reporting our heading, altitude and airspeed, why we did not
receive antiaircraft fire," he reported.

Most encounters were at night, but there were daylight sightings, too.

A B-17 pilot, Charles Odom, flying on a daylight raid into Germany,
described them as being "clear, about the size of basketballs." They
would approach to within 300 feet, "then would seem to become
magnetized to our formation and fly alongside. After awhile, they would
pedl off like a plane and leave."

A P47 fighter pilot dso reported seeing a "gold-colored ball with a
metallic finish" west of Neustadt in broad daylight, while another saw a
"three to five feet diameter phosphorescent golden sphere" in the same
area.

In 1992, researchers digging into the foo-fighter mystery uncovered a
wealth of buried reports within the U.S. National Archives at College
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Park, Maryland. What was intriguing was that almost dl of them had
been filed by pilots and crewmembers of the 415th Night Fighter
Squadron. Unlike the incident involving lieutenants Schlueter, Meiers
and Ringwald (whose experience was relayed after the war by a former
war correspondent), the 15 "mission reports’ of mysterious intercepts,
many of which occurred in atriangular sector of the Rhineland bordered
by an imaginary line linking Frankfurt-am-Main to the north, Metz to
the west and Strasbourg to the south, could be examined in their original
format; logged in the dispassionate shorthand of the intelligence officers
who originally noted them down.

"December 22-23, 1944—Mission 1, 1705-1850. Put on bogie by
Blunder at 1750 hours, had Al contact 4 milesrange at 0*7372. Overshot
and could not pick up contact again. Al went out and weather started
closing in so returned to base. Observed two lights, one of which seemed
to be going on and off at 0"2422."

And another:

"February 13-14, 1945—Mission 2,1800-2000. About 1910, between
Rastatt and Bishwilier, encountered lights at 3,000 feet, two sets of them,
turned into them, one set went out and the other went straight up
2-3,000 feet, then went out. Turned back to base and looked back and
saw lightsin their original position again."

The reports made it clear that the sightings covered a period between
September 1944 and April 1945.

September. Two, maybe three months before Schlueter's and Meiers
own encounter.

Maybe, | thought, that tied up one little loose end.

When the spook, Ringwald, had been riding with them that night he
must have been looking for something he aready knew to be there.

So what did we have here?

Osensibly, these objects—they could hardly be described as
"aircraft"—exhibited characteristics smilar to T.T. Brown's flying
discs. Their historical interest lay in the fact that their "existence" if
you could cdl it that, had been logged by observers with impeccable
credentials more than three years before the first rash of flying saucer
sightings in the United States. True, it was wartime and things got
misidentified. But with the foo-fighters there was none of the hysteria
that accompanied the U.S.-based sightings of 1947, which tended to
make the testimony, if anything, more objective and believable. These
people, many of them hardened by years of combat experience, felt they
were encountering something new and dangerous in German skies. And
the year 1944 seemed to be key.
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Their experiences echoed what USAAF Genera Twining had told
General Schulgen in his secret memo of September 1947. That "aircraft"
making no apparent sound, with metalic or light-reflecting surfaces,
exhibiting extreme rates of climb and maneuverability, "were within the
present U.S. knowledge."

What did that mean exactly?

| didn't know, but somehow | felt the wording was key.

Over the next few months, life at IDWwent on pretty much as it had
done since I'd joined the magazine in the mid-'80s; aroutine made up of
press conferences, air shows, defense exhibitions and weekly deadlines.
But as | maintained a close watch on developments that were shaping the
defense and security climate of the post-Cold War world, | found my
mind on other things. Things | kept to myself.

Had the Germans developed atotally new form of propulsion, blended
itwith aradically different kind of air vehicle, and deployed it in the form
of some new and secret weapon system in the latter stages of the war? |
had to juggle this possibility with the fact that T.T. Brown had
postulated the basis of an antigravity propulsion system as far back as the
1920s.

| decided to discover whether any of this wartime sightings data was
reflected in work the Germans had been doing in their research facilities
and factories.

In the late 1950s, a book written by a German who had served as the
commanding officer of a German Army technical unit in the Second
World War, Mgjor Rudolf Lusar, went on to become an unlikely best-
seller in Britain and the United States.

The book was caled German Secret Weapons of World War 1.

Seeking clues to the foo-fighter mystery, | discovered a copy in the
reading room of the Imperial War Museum. In it, Lusar described in
meticulous detail, in language that often made the depths of his bitterness
clear, the technica achievements of "a small, industrious and honest
nation which lost the war."

Secret Weapons made somber reading. Although German technical
achievements were visible in developments such as the V-I flying bomb,
adirect forerunner of the modern-day cruise missile, and the V-2 ballistic
missile, it was the vast extent of Germany's underpinning technology
base, as revealed by Lusar, which showed just how far ahead of the Allies
the Nazis had been in certain key areas.

Jet engines, rocket engines, infrared and thermal-imaging systems,
proximity fuses, missile guidance seekers . . . technologies that are
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integral to most modern aircraft and airborne weapon systems were all
listed and described. In the late 1950s, when Lusar's book first appeared,
these technologies were ill in their infancy in Britain and America.

Y et the Germans had been working on them a decade and a half earlier.

But there was another side to the book, one which was so sensational
that immediately on its appearance it had set alarm bells ringing in
Washington.

This side of the book related to so-called German "wonder weapons®
beyond the V-l and V-2.

One of thesewasthe FleissigesLieschen, or "Busy Lizzie," a150 m-long
tube assembly of non-alloyed cast sted with chambers leading off it that
lent it the appearance of a giant millipede. It was designed to fire 150 mm
projectiles over distances of 170 km, more than enough to hit most
British cities from sites deep within France. It never went into service,
but 45 years after the war the components of an almost identical weapon,
the "supergun,” were intercepted by British customs officials on their
way to lrag.

Other esoteric developments detailed by Lusar showed that the
Germans had been working on technologies for bringing down Allied
aircraft with sound waves, air vortices, intensely focused beams of light
and jets of compressed air.

In 1958, the U.S. Air Force commissioned a "specia studies group”
within Air Force Intelligence headed by an Austrian-born technical
consultant called Dr. Stefan Possony to carry out a detailed appraisal of
Lusar's book. The research effort was branded "secret” and has only
recently come to light. | found it during along, hard night's trawl in the
basement when it popped out of cyberspace after an unusual combination
of word commands fed through a high-power search engine.

A section in Lusar's book was devoted to "flying saucers' which he
asserted, in no uncertain terms, were the product of German wartime
inventors. "Experts and collaborators in this work confirm that the first
projects, caled 'flying discs,’ were undertaken in 1941" Lusar wrote. He
even went on to name the key individuals involved. These were "the
German experts Schriever, Habermohl and Miethe, and the Italian
Bellonzo."

Lusar described the craft in some detail. There were two principal
centers of disc development: one, headed by Miethe in the vicinity of the
Lower Silesian city of Breslau in modern-day Poland; the other centered
on Prague in Czechoslovakia, then also an integral part of the Reich. The
Miethe disc was described as a discus-shaped "plate" of 42 m diameter,
fitted with "adjustable” jet engines. Shortly before the plant where the
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craft was being built was overrun by the Russians, the retreating
Germans blew it up, destroying the disc inside. However, many of the
"experts' who had worked on the project were captured and taken back
to Siberia, where work on them "is being successfully continued,” Lusar
reported.

In the paranoid U.S. security climate of the late 1950s, it was this
aspect of the account that had led to the commissioning of Possony's
specia intelligence report.

According to Lusar, the other disc, developed by Schriever and
Habermohl, did achieve flightworthy status before the end of the war—
on February 14, at a facility just outside Prague. "Within three minutes
they climbed to an altitude of 12,400 m and reached a speed of 2000 km/h
in horizontal flight,” the author related.

At a time when the most advanced interceptors of the day (the late
1950s) struggled to achieve such velocities, this was an outrageous claim,
but then it didn't have to be taken wholly at face value to contain an
element of truth.

Having covered the Stealth Fighter story in the mid-1980s, when the
aircraft was still deeply secret and witnesses were reporting things they
couldn't square with any known aircraft development of the day, |
trusted the old maxim about smoke and fire.

And in this assumption, | had an aly in Dr. Possony. Why else had he
been tasked by the U.S. Air Force with writing a classified critique of
Lusar's clams? Why dse, according to one source | spoke to about him,
aresearcher by the name of Joel Carpenter who had devoted considerable
time to studying Lusar and Possony, had the good doctor shredded his
conclusions on the subject?

So, alongside wartime pilots' reports of flying objects that defied their
understanding of aircraft performance were accounts of Germans having
worked on projects that had no engineering counterpart, even within
present-day aerospace knowledge. In Lusar's book were names, dates
and places—crude data, admittedly, but usable nonetheless as jumping-
off points for amore rigorous search. And though Lusar's clams didn't
point directly to evidence of antigravity propulsion technology, in his
discussion of another taboo technology areain scientific circles, the flying
saucer, he had outlined a pathway to an altogether different kind of
aerospace platform.

Just as T.T. Brown had done in the 1920s—and Trimble had in 1956.

The task seemed so simple. Make the link between Germany and
the flying saucer and here was an opportunity to solve not only the
antigravity propulsion riddle, but, in the process, perhaps, one of
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the most baffling mysteries of the 20th century: the origins of the UFO.
If machines like those in Genera Twining's memo were "within the
present U.S. knowledge," no wonder Trimble and his colleagues had so
quickly fallen silent on the subject of a new and exotic propulsion source.

The flying disc must have exhibited performance so in advance of its
time that it had been super-classified, then hidden in plain sight—behind
the UFO myth—for the best part of 60 years.

Perhaps, too, it explained why Trimble had sounded like he'd had the
fear of God put in him when he had been approached by Lockheed's PR
machine on my behalf. The spooks would have made it abundantly clear
there would be no statute of limitations on this particular secret. That
you never talked about it. Ever.

Across multiple satellite relays, | heard the anguished shrieks of his
three-month-old, the background clatter of his older children as they ran
wild in the tiny apartment and finally relief in Lawrence Cross voice as
he realized it was me; a moment's respite in a whirl of copy deadlines,
late-night feeds and trips to theme parks.

The baby's crying faded into the static as Cross took the handset into
another room.

| thanked him for the tip about LaViolette and Valone, as aresult of
which | had pieced together the essential elements of T.T. Brown's life
and work. Without elaborating on how 1I'd arrived there, | asked him
what he knew about the Germans purported development of flying
saucers in World War Two.

"Oh Jesus," Cross said, and | formed a mental picture of him rubbing
his eyes and reaching for a cigarette, "where do | begin?'

| prompted him. One minute the Nazis were tinkering with this
technology, the next people were reporting sightings of these objects,
first in Gemany, thenin America... ?

"It's not as simple as that," Cross said.

"Come on, Lawrence. A book called German Secret Weapons of World
War |1, by Rudolf Lusar details names, dates and places. Has anyone ever
dug into this stuff? Have you? The story must be fit to bust wide open."

"It's been around for decades” he said, "long enough to have been
given a name."

"What do you mean?"

"In the trade, we call it 'the Legend.' It looks so straightforward,
doesn't it? A story with asolid trail. But it's not like that at all. When you
get into this stuff the trail goes everywhere and nowhere. The people who
really did exist are long dead and others probably never existed at all. |
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know. I've been there and I've looked for them. So have dozens of other
investigators. The detail is fantastic, but it's all uncorroborated. By that
I mean there isn't a shred of evidence in any archive—no official word,
no plans, nothing—that any of these projects ever existed."

"Have you got anything on it?"

He laughed and it caught in his throat. Cross smoked for the entire
journalistic profession. He hacked the cough into the room, away from
the receiver.

"Sure. How much time have you got? I'll email it to you. There's
another book you should get ahold of. It's by an Italian. Guy by the name
of Vesco—Renato Vesco. The book's caled Intercept—But Don't Shoot.
There's an English trangdlation. | think it was first published in the late
1960s. Vesco's well up there, right in the heart of the Legend. Maybe you
should try and track him down—that is, if he really existed."

| said nothing. Cross continued.

"Take nothing at face value and you're off to a better start than me.
Lusty was real enough, but that's al | know. Everything else is up for
grabs."

| thought | must have heard him wrong. "Lusty?Did you say, Lusty?"

"It stands for Luftwaffe Secret Technology. The U.S. Army Air Forces
official fileon the state of the German Air Force's secret weapons work at
the end of the war. The Air Force Historical Research Agency has a copy
initsarchives at Maxwell Air Force Base. It'sraw data. That isto say, it's
never been processed by anyone, so it's uncorrupted and verifiable, but |
have no ideawhat's init. In al these years, doing what we do, I've never
had an excuse to go there. Maybe you do."

"Where is Maxwell Air Force Base?'

"It's in Alabama. Where the skies are so blue. A distant memory for
you, | guess."

| thanked him, hung up and knew that | wouldn't be tapping Cross for
any more advice. He'd made it abundantly clear, more in tone than
anything elsg, that for him this was the end of the road.

| thought about the months ahead. | had no legitimate business in
the States except for a trip to Washington to cover an Air Force
symposium—and that wasn't until later in the year. Stretching the trip
to include avisit down to Alabama was simply out of the question.

| called the Air Force Historical Research Agency at Maxwell Air
Force Base to see if | could get a copy of Lusty sent to me. In theory |
could, but the fileswere held on a number of microfilm reels and, | was
told, it could take months, perhaps years, for the release forms to plow
through the system and for the report to reach me. Not only that, but the
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Lusty files were old and corrupted, making repros difficult. The bedt,
probably only way to view them, the administrator there told me, wasin
situ.

| put the phone down, kneaded my eyes and thought about smoking a
cigarette again; something | hadn't done in years.

| had just hit another pluperfect dead end.



Chapter 5

Flugkapitéan Rudolf Schriever, one of the four saucer engineers cited in
Lusar's book, began talking to the West German media in 1950 about a
truly fantastic flying machine he had worked on for the Nazis—one that
would have changed the course of the war had it gone into full-scale
production. It stemmed from work that he had alegedly undertaken for the
Heinkd Aircraft Company at Marienehe, near Rostock on the Baltic coast.

Schriever was one of the four "scientists’ mentioned in Lusar's book
as having worked on the Nazi flying discs. He was dso, | found out
through the massively detailed file that my former journalistic colleague
Cross sent me via email, central to the Legend.

Though he started out as a pilot in the Luftwaffe, Schriever appeared
to have developed some highly advanced ideas about aircraft that could
take off and land vertically and it was in this capacity, after he had been
drafted to Heinkel's design section, that he soon came to the attention
of company chairman Professor Ernst Heinkel, who in early 1940 en-
couraged him to construct a small flying prototype.

So far so good. Though best-known for its lumbering He 111, the
Luftwaffe's mainstay bomber during the Blitz against London in 1940
and for much of the rest of the war, Heinkel was one of the most
pioneering and innovative aircraft companieswithin Germany at thetime.

Whatever the Legend said, this much was fact.

In 1936, Ernst Heinkel began funding experiments that three years
later would lead to Germany's successful construction of theworld's first
jet-powered aircraft, despite the fact that it was the British designer,
Frank Whittle, who had first invented and patented the concept. The
tiny, one-off Heinkel He 178 first flew on August 27, 1939, five days
before the German Army marched into Poland. Eighteen months later,
Heinkel would again eclipse all other aircraft companies by flying the
world's first jet-powered fighter, the He 280. If anyone was to develop
something as radical as Schriever's idea, therefore, Heinkel was the
company to doit.

The Legend then takes over.
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In the spring of 1941, Schriever's blueprints were being used to
construct a "proof-of-concept” model in a "garage" away from prying
eyes. Officially known as the VI (V for "Versuchs' or "experimental
version 1"), informally it was referred to as the "Flying Top." It was
probably no more than two or three feet in diameter and powered by an
electric motor or a small two-stroke engine. It is not known where this
garage was, but within the sprawling complex of buildings at Marienehe,
set in three square kilometers of the Mecklenburg State Park, there was
ample room for Schriever's esoteric little engineering project to be hid-
den from view. Furthermore, it fitted into the Heinkel way of doing
things. During the development of the world's first turbojet, Ernst
Heikel had installed Dr. Hans-Joachim Pabst von Ohain, a gifted gradu-
ate of the University of Gottingen, in the same kind of environment—
a converted garage at the university—before transferring the fruits of
von Ohain's labors, the revolutionary HeS 3A turbojet, to a secure
facility within the Marienehe site.

By June 1942, Schriever's Flying Top had been test-flown and the
results deemed sufficiently interesting to secure top secret funding from
the RLM, the Reichsluftfahrtministerium or State Air Ministry.

With RLM funding, the intention was to construct a full-scale piloted
version capable of controlled vertical takeoff and landing. Construc-
tion of this full-size version, the V2, began at Marienehe in early 1943.
The V2, which was known as the "Flugkreisel" or "Flightwheel," had
a diameter of approximately 25 feet, its power generated by one or per-
haps two Heinkel-Hirth jet engines, depending on which version of the
Legend you want to believe. The V2 supposedly flew with Schriever at
the controls, but as a piece of technology it was deemed to be heavily
overengineered and was quickly scrapped. Asaproof-of-concept vehicle,
though, it seems to have served its purpose, because shortly afterward,
Schriever and his team relocated to Czechoslovakia where they set about
constructing alarger and altogether more sophisticated prototype known
asthe V3.

With the Allied aeria bombing campaign now at its height, their
activities were dispersed around the Prague area to minimize the
exposure to the relentless air attacks, by now penetrating deep into the
Reich. But the bulk of the team's work was centered on a restricted area
of a satellite facility outside Prague belonging to the Munich-based
Bayerische Motorenwerke engine company, better known today as
BMW. Despite the existence of Heinkel's own jet engines, the real
cutting edge of German gas-turbine research was centered on BMW and
in particular on its Bramo division, located at Spandau in Berlin. Bramo,
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the Brandenburgische Motorenwerke, had been bought by BMW from
Siemens in 1939. By the middle of the war, BMW-Bramo had 5,000 staff
working full-time on gas-turbine research aone—a discipline then
barely a decade old—and was ultimately responsible for the BMW 003
jet engine, the best turbojet of the day, which powered the Me 262, the
world's first operational jet fighter, and the Ar 234, the Luftwaffe's
advanced jet-propelled reconnaissance-bomber, another aircraft far
ahead of its time.

It was from Spandau, supposedly, that Klaus Habermohl, the second
disc engineer mentioned by Lusar, was recruited to the Schriever team.
Habermohl's job in Prague was to integrate the disc with a new and
radical form of power plant caled the radial-flow gas-turbine, or RFGT.
Unlike Brown's electrogravitic motor, the RFGT was, at least, recog-
nizable technology by modern standards, if extraordinary. It was es
sentialy ajet engine. However, unlike aregular jet power plant, with its
compressors, combustion chambers and turbines mounted one behind
the other in what was basically a big tube, the RFGT formed part of the
airframe itself, with the whirling turbomachinery rotating around the
aircraft's centrally mounted cockpit. As such, "aircraft" did not ade-
quately describe what the machine actually looked like. There was only
one configuration to which an RFGT could possibly be adapted: that of
aflying disc or saucer.

By the autumn of 1944, the V3 is said to have been completed. With
German airfields under constant attack from Allied daylight bombing,
the prospect of a fighter or bomber that could take off and land vertically
from any dispersed site would have been exactly in line with Luftwaffe
requirements. However, due to "an administrative change,” the V3
program was abandoned in favor of a further prototype, the V7, pro-
pulsion coming from another experimental RFGT from BMW-Bramo.
The V7 supposedly had a diameter of 60—70 feet and a crew of two or
three.

Applying acrude rule of thumb, based on arough estimate of the disc's
weight, Habermohl's ingenious RFGT would have had to have gen-
erated around 10-15,000 pounds of thrust to have made the design of the
discin any way viable. Thiswasthe machine that supposedly test-flew on
February 14 with Schriever and Habermohl at the controls, achieving
2,000 km/h in levd flight.

The fastest aircraft of the day, the little rocket-powered Me 163,
struggled to attain half this speed.

Lusar's third and last German saucer scientist, Dr. Richard Miethe,
was supposedly working on another disc project at a subterranean facility
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near Bredau under the auspices of an atogether separate contract.
Toward the end of the war, the legend stated that Miethe was drafted
from his activities in Bredau to assst with the Schriever/Habermohl disc
in Prague, an indication, perhaps, that the Schriever/Habermohl disc was
the better bet in a procurement environment that was by now desperately
short of money, skilled labor and raw materials. This streamlining coin-
cided with the "administrative change" that had led to the abandonment
of Schriever's V3 design for the altogether more viable V7.

The V7, then, seems to have been the result of a three-way endeavor,
although there were reports that a Miethe disc—based, perhaps, on the
project he abandoned at Breslau—was captured by the Russians, along
with a number of engineers and scientists, when they drove the Germans
out of Poland.

AsfortheV7, some say it, too, was acquired by the Russians when they
took Prague; others that it was blown up by the Waffen-SS on May 9,
1945, the day hostilities in Europe ended. The Legend had it both ways.

The detail in the Schriever/Habermohl/Miethe legend was rich and
impressive. Here were names, dates and places—minutiae even, that
seemed to corroborate everything Rudolf Lusar had written down. The
trouble was, the data was based heavily on the say-so of Schriever, who
was long since dead; the rest had magically appeared out of thin air, just
as Cross had said. No one knew where the detail emerged from. Over the
years it had been passed down from one researcher to the next, with
no apparent attribution. When | approached BMW's archivists, for
example, they denied that there had been any BMW factory near Prague
"engaged in advanced aircraft projects including design or advanced
research during World War I1."

| began to see what Cross meant. Cross and | were used to sourcing
every piece of information we ever came by. This stuff was unverifiable.
What | needed was hard, solid proof; and within the Schriever portion of
the Legend there was nothing to hang a hat on, beyond the fact that the
man himself had existed.

Unfortunately, the same could not be sad of the other characters in
the story. All attempts by researchers to trace Miethe and Habermohl
had foundered, although there had been occasiona "sightings' in the
lore that had grown up around them.

Miethe is supposed to have escaped Czechoslovakiain early May and
to have headed west, eventually making contact with U.S. technica
intelligence teams operating inside Germany. Herded into a "pen" along
with Wernher von Braun and his fellow rocket scientists, Miethe was said
to have been taken to the United States, ending up at Wright Field, the
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USAAF's premier research and development center near Dayton, Ohio.
If any of this actually happened, there is no trace of it.

Habermohl is said to have been captured by the Russians at the Letov
factory, a German-administered aircraft plant outside Prague, and, after
a period of detention, sent to work at a top secret Soviet aircraft design
bureau east of Moscow.

Again, no one could say for sure whether he had even existed at all.

My research showed the Italian, Bellonzo, was rea enough, except
Lusar had misspelled his name. In 1950, Professor Giuseppe Belluzzo, a
former industry minister in Mussolini's cabinet, started talking about
disc-shaped "flying bombs* that he claimed to have worked on during
the war and passed on to the Germans, who had subsequently developed
them into working prototypes.

Belluzzo was adso convinced that these weapons were the basis of the
flying-saucer sightings that had gripped much of America for the best
part of three years and that they were now under further development
inside the Soviet Union. Beyond the fact that Belluzzo, like Schriever,
was real, his claims also remain unverifiable. Interestingly, though, he
started talking to the media just a few days before Schriever, leading
some researchers to reason that Schriever, aman who like so many other
Germans in 1950 was struggling to make ends meet, had invented his
entire story.

In fact, the Legend lacked a single item of corroborating data. There
was nothing in any archive or museum, no photograph, no indisputable
piece of testimony, to say that any of it was true.

There were splits and schisms in the Legend, just as there are orthodox
and unorthodox branches within major religions. The other strand to the
myth that | had to pay attention to was Vesco's. | had managed to obtain
a copy of his book, Intercept—But Don't Shoot (published 1971), and
scrutinizeit. What was beguiling about Vesco's account was the certainty
with which he presented his case. Vesco, who was 22 years old when the
war ended and said to have been well connected with technical experts
within the Italian Air Force at the time he wrote Intercept, claimed that
he pieced together his account of the top secret development effort
behind the foo-fighter program from sources inside the Italian military
and from Allied intelligence reports published after the war.

What also made Vesco's account worth more than a cursory glance was
the fact that it "detailed" a completely different development effort from
the Schriever/Lusar account. Vesco claimed that there were two kinds of
foo-fighters. One was unpiloted and remotely controlled; in effect, a
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flying bomb designed to knock down enemy aircraft. The other was
manned, but flew in anger only once before hodtilities ended.

The unpiloted version was caled the Feuerball (Fireball) and it
blended a number of highly advanced technologies.

"In the autumn of 1944," Vesco wrote, "in Oberammergau in Bavaria,
the OBF—an experimental center run by the L uftwaffe—had completed
a series of researches into electrical apparatus capable of interfering with
the operation of an engine up to amaximum distance of about a hundred
feet by producing intense electromagnetic fields."

In paralel, aseparate effort was under way by the Germansto produce
a "proximity radio interference" device capable of jamming or spoofing
Allied radio and radar systems. Put these two technologies into a small,
circular, armored airframe " powered by aspecial turbojet engine, also flat
and circular and more or less resembling the shell of a tortoise" and "a
highly original flying machine was born."

Radio-controlled at the moment of takeoff, the machine was steered
toward Allied bomber streams by a ground operator, whereupon it auto-
matically latched onto their dipstreams, "attracted by their exhaust flames,
and approached close enough without collision to wreck their radar gear.”

And then came the detail. The Fireball was first constructed at an
aircraft plant at Wiener Neustadt, south of Vienna, with the help of the
Flugfunk Forschungsanstalt of Oberpfaffenhoffen (FFO), an aircraft
electronics firm near Munich. Hermann Goering, Hitler's deputy,
inspected progress on the weapon "a number of times," hoping that the
principle of the Fireball could also be used to produce "an offensive
weapon capable of revolutionizing the wholefield of aerial warfare.

"The fiery halo around the perimeter—caused by a very rich fuel
mixture—and the chemical additives that interrupted the flow of
electricity [in Allied aircraft] by overionizing the atmosphere in the
vicinity of the plane, generally around the wing tips or tail surfaces,
subjected the H2S radar on the plane to the action of powerful
electrostatic fieldsand electromagnetic impul ses (the latter generated by
large klystron radio tubes protected with anti-shock and anti-heat
armor). Since a metal arc carrying an oscillating current of the proper
frequency—equal, that is, to the frequency used by the radar station-
can cancel the blips (return signas from the target), the Feuerball was
amost undetectable by the most powerful American radar of the time,
despite its nighttime visibility."

Once again, | pictured the desperation felt by Schlueter as his radar
operator, Meiers, failed to register the orbs of light ahead of the Black
Widow on the SCR540.
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Wias this what they had encountered that night, the Fireball?

To beieve that it might have been, | had to accept that what we had
here was a weapon system that was decades ahead of its time. Years
before the deployment of the surface-to-air guided missile—sufficiently
perfected to shoot down the CIA U-2 pilot Gary Powers over Russiaonly
in 1960—and decades before radar-evading stealth technology would
become a household word, the Vesco portion of the legend held that the
Germans had developed a single weapon system that blended these and
other exotic technologies. Not only that, but the Fireball was able to
home in on its intended prey, the Americans' B-17 and B-24 bombers,
via an automatic guidance system—one that tracked their exhaust
plumes—a sensor so advanced that it was unheard of, even with the
benefit of modern-day knowledge. Once close to the bombers, it could
then either disrupt their electronics or stop their engines in flight with a
gas that killed their ignition systems.

At astroke, Vesco had assembled al the evidence he needed to explain
the foo-fighter conundrum. He also threw in some eyewitness testimony.
"One person who saw the first short test flights of the device, without
its electrical gear,” he wrote, "says that 'during the day it looked like
a shining disc spinning on its axis and during the night it looked like a
burning globe." '

The trouble was, it sounded like science fiction.

When the Russians advanced into Austria, Vesco maintained, the
Fireball production line was moved from Wiener Neustadt into
underground facilities run by the Zeppelin Werkein the Schwarzwal d—
the same area of Rhineland and Black Forest where Schlueter, Ringwald
and Meiers, and a host of other aircrew from the 415th Night Fighter
Squadron, had first encountered the inexplicable.

Vesco went on to explain that the Feuerball had an "older brother,"
the Kugelblitz or "Ball Lightning Fighter,” that was built and flight-
tested—once—in the vicinity of Kahla, ste of a huge underground
weapons development complex in Thuringia, a region of mountainous
uplands in the heart of Germany known as the Harz. If this "fact” aso
was a hoax, it was a clever one, since the Harz certainly had housed
a number of underground Nazi weapons factories, among them the
facility at Nordhausen, where Wernher von Braun's V-2 rockets had
been produced.

Vesco was hotoriously reclusive. Some researchers believed he'd never
existed at adl; lending credence to the supposition that Intercept really was
just an elaborate hoax. But VVesco was red, dl right. | managed to trace a
group of Italian researchers who had been in contact with him up until
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his death in November 1999. According to them, Vesco didn't care
whether people believed him or not.

"He was very correct,” one of them told me over the phone, "0 it's
very hard to believe that he madeit all up.”

But where was the proof?

Vesco claimed that the evidence for Feuerball and Kugelblitz was to be
found within obscure tracts of the British Intelligence Objectives Sub-
committee (BIOS) reporting system and its successor, the U.S.-U.K.-
administered Combined Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee (ClIOS),
published in the immediate aftermath of the war (a number of reports
from which, however, are still withheld). BIOS and CIOS were the
systems employed by the British and the Americans for assessing
German high technology. But researchers had been through all the
available CIOS and BIOS files with a fine-tooth comb and had found
nothing that pointed to anything that described the Fireball or its "older
brother" the Ball Lightning Fighter.

Vesco had stuck to his guns, never wavering from the conclusions he
had espoused in his book: that the Germans had developed a truly
revolutionary new form of air vehicle; that it was the British who had
happened upon the technology at the end of the war and that they,
together with Canadian scientists, had refined it in the frozen wastelands
of British Columbia and Alberta.

Vehiclesresulting from this endeavor, Vesco maintained, were respon-
sible for the rash of U.S. flying-saucer sightings in 1947.

A familiar pattern was emerging and it wasn't helping my case. The
more | looked, the more "evidence" | found that the Germans had been
tinkeringwith technology that explained the foo-fighters sightings ofthat
winter of 194475,

From Schriever in the 1950s to Vesco's testimony in the 60s—and
others before, during and since—maybe a dozen Germans had come
forward to say that they had worked on flying-saucer technology under
the Nazis. And some, like Viktor Schauberger, were so very nearly
believable.

Schauberger, whose story was contained in notes on the Legend sent to
me by Lawrence Cross, was an Austrian who had supposedly invented a
totally new form of propulsion based upon a principle caled "implo-
sion." No one | spoke to seemed entirely sure what implosion meant, but
according to the stories that had grown up around this man, the
implosion process was at the heart of a radical turbine that Schauberger
had installed in a sub-scale flying disc sometime during the war. A test of
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this small flying vehicle, with its echoes of the Schriever Flying Top, had
supposedly taken place and the results were said to have been highly
impressive. In one account of the test, the craft had apparently risen
toward the ceiling of the test facility "trailing a glow of ionization." This
immediately elevated the report above the many others | had come
across, for it signaled that, whatever was occurring within the implosion
process, it had precious little to do with jet propulsion. If true, it could
only have been an antigravity effect.

If true.

Though Schauberger was long dead, his son Walter was still aive
when | telephoned him at his home in Austriain 1991. Talking through
an interpreter, | asked Walter about his father's experiments and got a
disconcerting answer. | had imagined that Viktor had attended some
impressive German or Austrian technical institute; that he was a
professor of physics at Vienna or Salzburg or, a the very least, an
eminent aerospace engineer. But no. Walter Schauberger told me that his
father had developed his radical ideas about energy and propulsion by
observing what he had seen in Nature, the way rivers flowed and fish
swam. His only professional training had been as aforester.

This was the trouble. While all of these stories were laced with detail,
which immediately gave them a veneer of credibility, they were almost
aways let down either by corrupted data or a complete absence of it. In a
decade of investigating the aerospace industry, | had never once come
across a designer who did not have a set of initials after his name. A
forester was simply absurd.

Had there been more to the Schauberger story, | would not have
hesitated to make the trip to Austria. But as decisions went, this was an
easy one. | was using my training to make value judgments all the time on
the data that was gathering in my basement. Y ou didn't need a degree in
physics, though, to appreciate that whatever they had or hadn't been,
foo-fighterswould have had to have come from the minds of engineers—
not from a man whao'd spent his time among Alpine forests and streams.

It was for this reason that | gently declined Walter Schauberger's of -
fer to visit his "biological-technical institute" in the Salzkammergut
Mountains.

For any of the "evidence" about German flying saucers to be irrefutable,
it had to emerge from official documentation. But Lawrence Cross and a
number of other credible researchers I'd contacted on the subject had
already been through the BIOS and CIOS reports and found nothing.
And that should have been the end of it. Yet, | knew that if the Germans
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had developed arevolutionary air weapon, based perhaps on some radical
form of propulsion technology, it was inconceivable that the CIOS or
BIOS intelligence teams would have documented the discovery for the
world to read about.

To go the extra mile, | redized I'd have to access the original
intelligence data on which the BIOS and CIOS assessment teams, most
of whom were technical types sat at desks in Brussels, Paris, London and
Washington, had based their analyses. Here again, | knew there would be
no smoking gun. Had intelligence units in the field come across anything
meaningful, these reports, too, would have been sanitized. Anything as
obvious as a full-blown air vehicle or a new form of propulsion system
would not have escaped the censor's attention.

But to identify evidence of a new form of aerospace technology,
particularly one as far-reaching as that described in the legend or by
Vesco, | wasn't searching for the obvious, because the obvious would
have been picked up by the censors.

As with any new piece of technology, developments came together as
a series of systems and subsystems. There would have been prime
contractors and subcontractors, some of them working in new scientific
areas—areas that would have been on the very edge of the technical
knowledge of the deskbound BIOS and CIOS assessors.

Between the chaos of the front line and the overstretched resources
of the intelligence units tasked with assessing German hardware and
documentation—which the victors had shipped out of Germany by the
ton-load—there might till, | figured, be some fresh evidence; something
useful that had been overlooked.

| started with the British, whose initial stab at organized technology
plunder was vested in the hands of a ragtag private army—composed,
bizarrely, of salors and Royal Marine commandos. This outfit was the
brainchild of a certain Commander lan Fleming, who 15 years later
would go on to create the Bond persona in the double-oh-seven novels.
Bond's character, it appears, drew heavily on the exploits of 30 Assault
Unit RN, which rode roughshod over the conventions of the day.
Following the battle for Cherbourg, in which 30 AU RN had been tasked
with capturing German naval headquarters, the marinesliberally enjoyed
the spoils of war. Their behavior was described as that of "merry
courageous, amoral, loyal, lying toughs, hugely disinclined to take no for
an answer from foe orfraulein”

As aresult of their "martial exuberance," as one assessor wrote, 30 AU
RN was reined in somewhat and renamed 30 Advanced Unit RN. It was
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also ordered to subordinate its activities to a new and much larger force
of British tech-plunder units, known as "T-Forces." These would move
forward with Genera Bernard Montgomery's 21st Army Group,
principally in Monty's theater of operations, northwest Germany, but
not exclusively so. Under the terms of the CIOS charter, with its Anglo-
American task jointly to exploit German spoils of war, British T-Force
teams would aso be alowed to tag along with forward U.S. Army units
in pursuit of their objectives.

These objectiveswereto locate and secure intact technical "targets' of
interest; to preserve German high technology from "destruction, loot,
robbery and, if necessary, counterattack,” until the completion of their
examination by teams of experts or until their removal. They werealso to
act as armed escorts in enemy territory for the "expert investigators"
drawn from CIOS offices far behind the front lines. As aquid pro quo,
U.S. technical teams could ride with forward British assault units. The
eventual size of British T-Forces would grow to 5,000 personnel.

But from the reports generated by these units, now freely available in
the U.K. Public Records Office, it was apparent that the British were
desperately ill-prepared to make the most of the opportunity that lay
before them.

Over the next two months, | spent every spare moment down at the
Public Records Office. And when | wasn't in the Records Office, just
down the road in Kew on the outskirts of London, | was gathering as
much open-source reading material as | could on the Allies systematic
plunder of German high technology at the end of the war. One book,
The Paperclip Conspiracy by Tom Bower, read like a manual on how to
dismantle an entire nation's technology base. If America, Britain and
their alies had applied the lessons of Paperclip to the Iragi problem at the
end of the Gulf War in 1991, the threat posed by Saddam Hussein's war
machine would have been eradicated forever.

During the November 1944 to March 1945 planning stage of the
T-Force operations, the problem facing British investigators was a
fundamental lack of intelligence on what they were supposed to be
looking for. A "black list" of technical targets was drawn up, the majority
of them weapons-development and research centers put forward by
Clos.

But a general air of ignorance of the situation on the ground persisted,
as a T-Force field commander later recorded. "It appeared that the
sponsoring ministries knew little or nothing about the specific where-
abouts and natures of their targets, and that investigators who would
eventually come out would know even less"
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If there was any sense at al that the British realized they were in arace
against the other allies—the French and the Americans particularly—it
came far too late. Roy Fedden, a senior and respected British aviation
industrialist who flew into Germany to view the tech-plunder operation
for himself, complained that his compatriots were being "lamentably
dow" to take advantage of the information on offer. With many of the
U.K. technical experts drawn from industry, part of the problem was a
considerable reluctance on their part to accept that Germany could
possibly have been as far ahead of British technology in certain pioneer-
ing areas—the jet engine, for example—as they evidently were.

There were British successes—the capture of the German navy's
laboratories at Kiel, for example, where highly advanced German
U-boats and torpedoes, propelled by an innovative peroxide-fueled
engine, were being developed. There were also significant British finds at
Krupp in Meppen, where advanced armor and artillery technology had
been produced for the Wehrmacht.

But reading between the lines of the British-controlled tech-plunder
operation, its disparate character was clearly a factor in its limited
success. Without adequate direction from London, there was confusion
aswell as apalpable lack of urgency about the operation at the front. And
in some cases—the activities of T-Forces of the 21t Army Group's
Canadian First Army, for example, who were roaming between Germany
and Holland, looking for targets—it was portrayed as being akin to a
jaunty adventure.

Among the most prominent targets on First Army's T-list, according
to records of its operations at the time, was the radio transmitter of Lord
Haw-Haw, the British traitor and Nazi propagandist. "Two further
wireless stations had been discovered on the (German) island of Borkum
and another platoon was dispatched there as guard. That platoon was in
the happy position of having 4,500 German marines to wait on them!"

It all seemed a very far cry from the exotic weaponry that Vesco had
described in Intercept—But Don't Shoot.

In scanning the British documents, however, I'd found one big
problem with Vesco's thesis that the British had discovered flying disc
technology and removed it to Canada. By far the greater part of Ger-
many's advanced aerospace development had taken place in Bavaria in
southern Germany, along way from the main thrust of British operations
in the northwest of the country.

And while some British T-Force units had been integrated with
American forward army operations in central and southern Germany,
they were more often than not outwitted by the Americans, who time and
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again seemed to have had the resources to take what they wanted, much
to the dismay of Roy Fedden.

"The Americans," he wrote, "have fine-combed the country, remov-
ing considerable quantities of drawings, technical records and actual
equipment direct to the States.”

This, | could see, was no mere happenstance. American tech-plunder
activities were the result of the most carefully thought out strategy in the
history of U.S. military operations, its orchestration planned at the
highest levels.

In November 1944, the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff had established a
Technical Industrial Intelligence Committee to seek out anything in
Germany that might be useful to the postwar American economy. Nor
did the Joint Chiefs' target list just comprise military objectives. One
subcommittee had a staff of 380 specially trained civilians set up
specifically to represent the interests of 17 U.S. companies. Specid
agents from the U.S. Field Intelligence Agencies (Technical) scoured
Germany for vacuum tubes a tenth of the size of the most advanced U.S.
devices, and condensers made out of zinc-coated paper, which were 40
percent smaller and 20 percent cheaper than U.S. condensers—and,
instead of "blowing" like the U.S. vacuum tubes, were "self-healing"-
in other words, they could repair themselves. Such innovation would
later prove invaluable to the postwar U.S. electronics industry.

The teams were aso on the lookout for German textile and medical
advances—and found them by the ton-load. At the German chemical
giant LG. Farbenindustrie, notoriousfor itsrole in the development of the
gas chambers of the Holocaust, investigators found formulas for the
production of exotic textiles, chemicals and plastics. One American dye
authority was so overwhelmed by the discovery that he declared: "It
includes the production know-how and the secret formulas for over 50,000
dyes. Many of them are faster and better than ours. Many are colors we
were never able to make. The American dye industry will be advanced at
least ten years." German biochemists had also found ways of pasteurizing
milk using ultraviolet light and their medical scientists had discovered a
way of producing synthetic blood plasma on acommercia scale.

Hundreds of thousands of German patents were simply removed and
brought back to America.

No wonder the Brits were struggling. It was clear from these and other
accounts that CIOS, the Anglo-U.S. reporting channel and assessment
office for German high technology, was little more than afront. The rea
American tech-plunder operation had been organized long beforehand,
under separate cover, in Washington.
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A year after the war ended the U.S. Office of Technica Services (a
body set up to ensure that German technology, where required, was spun
rapidly into American industry) was reportedly sifting through "tens of
thousands of tons' of documentation. This "mother lode" of material,
according to one contemporary report, "very likely contained practically
all the scientific, industrial and military secrets of Nazi Germany." Had
exotic propulsion science been buried somewhere within this mountain
of raw material, it would have been almost impossible to locate. But after
the war, the mother lode was divided between the Library of Congress,
the Department of Commerce and the technical archivesat Wright Field.
Most of the Wright Field material had come via Lusty, the postwar
intelligence report on Luftwaffe technology that Lawrence Cross had
told me about. This was the report that was stuck, frustratingly, in
Alabama—nowhere near the Air Force symposium that | was due to hit
in a quickie assignment to Washington later in the month.

| caled the Air Force Historical Research Agency at Maxwell Air
Force Base in Alabama again to see if the administrator there could
recommend any other sources of information comparable to the Lusty
report. Since | was going to be in the vicinity of the U.S. National
Archives in Maryland, | wanted to be sure | wasn't missing out on
anything.

"If you're gonna be in D.C. anyway," she told me, chewing slowly on
the syllables, "you might want to check out the other copy of Lusty that's
available at our sister site down by the Old Navy Yard, just across the
river from Capitol Hill."

For a moment, | thought she was joking. This was the person who'd
told me, in painstaking detail, that if | wanted to obtain a hard copy of
Lusty from the archives of Maxwell Air Force Base it would take me
months or even years; that due to the poor condition of the microfilm
redls, the only viable way of accessing the information was by reading the
reelsin situ.

When | pointed this out, her answer was nothing if not honest.

"You never mentioned nothin' 'bout no trip to D.C.," she said.

The Office of Air Force History maintained an out-of-the-way archive
in Washington, D.C., located at Boiling Air Force Base, next to the Old
Navy Yard.

| was supposed to be in and out of Washington inside a couple of days.
| stretched the schedule and bought myself another 24 hours.

If there were trace elements of a suppressed technology within the
U.S. documents plundered from Nazi Germany, | figured they had to be
buried in Lusty.



Chapter 6

It was gtill dark when | exchanged the warmth of the Holiday Inn for the
damp chill of the predawn, heaved my bags into the back of the cab and
hunkered down for the 30-minute ride across the river. | had around
eight hours to sieve Lusty for evidence of a technology Cross maintained
couldn't be substantiated.

The commuter traffic was jamming the bridges, the top of the
Washington Monument scraping the overcast sky, as the taxi headed
across the Frederick Douglass Memorial Bridge and into a part of the
nation's capital that only makes the news when the body counts from the
drive-by shootings top three or four.

By the time | reported to the guard at the main gate, the wind had got
up, lifting sheets of spray from a choppy confluence of gray wave caps
where the Potomac and Anacostia rivers meet off Greenleaf Point. The
spray snaked in rivulets this way and that in front of us as the cabdriver
navigated the maze of open streets looking for the address I'd been given.
It took him 15 precious minutes to find it.

The archive was tucked away in aforgotten corner of Boiling Air Force
Base, home of the Defense Intelligence Agency and the USAF's Office of
Special Investigations. It wasn't the sort of place you'd want to stroll or
take the view.

Boiling was a large cordoned-off military district sandwiched between
the black waters of the Potomac and the badland housing projects of
Congress Heights and Washington Highlands. It also bordered the
grounds of St. Elizabeth's—a hospital for the criminally insane, since
renamed—where John Hinckley served time for his assassination at-
tempt on President Reagan.

The reading room in the tiny Office of Air Force History was low-lit
and windowless. True to her word, the senior archivist had placed a cup
of coffee next to the warmed-up microfilm reader opposite the farthest
row of metal book stacks. There was a clock on the wall above the door to
her office. It was alittle after seven-thirty. The air-conditioning had not
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yet kicked in and my breath mingled as condensation with the steam
rising from the cup.

The documents were contained on several reels of microfilm and, like
the reels at the main repository in Alabama, they were in bad condition.
My business schedule allowed for one shot at a read-through. My plane
left at 6:15 that night.

To help me cut to it, the archivist had offered to open the office early
and said | was welcometo turn up any time after seven. Coffee was on the
house.

Time was already short when | slapped thefirst reel into the microfilm
reader and got to work.

Lusty opened with a condensed history, the opening paragraph of
which began:

"At a medieval inn near Thumersbach near Berchtesgaden [Hitler's
mountaintop retreat in Bavarial, early in May 1945, the German General
Air Staff patiently awaited the outcome of surrender negotiations taking
place in the north. They had arrived by car and plane during the past
weeks, when the fall of Berlin wasimminent, and had kept in contact with
Admiral Doenitz at Flensburg. Through the interception of one of these
messages, their location, which had previously been unknown, was
discovered. Within 24 hours, Lieutenant Colonel O'Brien and his small
party, representing the Exploitation Division of the Directorate of
Intelligence, USAFE (United States Air Forces in Europe), had arrived,
located the party and conducted the first of a series of discussions with
General Koller, who was then in command."

Colonel O'Brien's men were the advance guard of 200 officers cho-
sen from HQMArmy Air Forces to oversee the USAAF tech-plunder
operation and it was clear right from the start that they were in a race
against time.

In the chaos of the collapsing Reich, many German scientists were
dead, others had been captured by the Russians advancing from the east
or the Americans, British and French in the west. Many were held in
internment camps, but in a country brimming with former Reich save-
workers and displaced citizenry—almost all of whom had to befiltered by
the Allies for Nazi party members and war criminals—it was hard to
know who was who or where.

But the vast majority were still at their factories and laboratories when
the advance units of the USAAF plunder operation screeched up in their
jeeps and half-tracks. With no orders to stop working, they had carried
on at their workbenches, even though the armed forces of the high
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commands that had commissioned their work had either capitulated or
been wiped off the map.

Many documents and blueprints were missing. German project
managers would tell U.S. investigators that they had destroyed them
under orders, but the USAAF officers quickly learned to apply some
psychology of their own: men and women who had devoted years of
commitment to technologies they considered vastly superior to those
of their enemies were incapable of such vandalism.

Most of the files existed, but had been hidden.

Germany had already been divided by the Allies into zones of
occupation; and many of the most technologically interesting German
facilities—the underground V-l and V-2 production sites in the Harz
mountains, for example—were in the designated Russian sector.

Before the zones were locked and sealed the mi ssing documents had to
be located and brought under American control.

By a process of detective work and, where that failed, by persuasion
and coercion of the German scientists and program managers, boxes of
blueprints and notes were pinpointed, then recovered from the bottom of
lakes, aswell as caves, farms, crypts, hospitals and mines.

O'Brien's team hit pay dirt early: their sleuthing led them from
Thumersbach to an air raid shelter covered with earth in the side of a
mountain close to the Austrian border. There they found files belonging
to the | Gruppe/6 Abteilung, the German Air Ministry's intelligence
directorate. These detailed all the Luftwaffe's latest air weapons, from
the Me 262 jet fighter and the Me 163 rocket fighter to radars, air-to-air
missles and guided bombs. It dso showed that the blueprints had
recently been smuggled out of Germany in U-boat shipments to Japan.

Reading through the signals transmitted by Lusty field team officersto
their superiors, | was hit by the sheer scale of the operation and the
pressures endured by those who took part in it.

On April 22, 1945, two and a half weeks before the gunsin Europefell
silent, additional recruits were needed to process the data. "It is planned
to expand the activities of air technical intelligence tenfold, securing
the most highly qualified speciaist personnel available to the Army Air
Forces," Brigadier General George C. McDonald, head of USAAF In-
telligence, wrote that day.

The caliber of the technologica spoils was indicated by the arrival in-
theater at the end ofthat month of a "special group of scientists' headed
by Dr. Theodore von Karman, specia consultant to the U.S. Army Air
Forces supreme command.

The hardware that awaited them was detailed on severad pages of
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microfilmed documentation from McDonald's intelligence directorate.
Among them were a jet-propelled helicopter "infly able condition ac-
companied by a complete set of documents and detailed drawings'; the
Lippisch P-16 tailless rocket-propelled research aircraft whose advanced
construction indicated "possible operation at high Mach numbers in the
vicinity of 1.85"; and the Horten Ho 229 twin-jet flying wing bomber.

Nothing comparable existed in the American inventory; or anywhere
else, for that matter.

But by midday, | had still found nothing that indicated the merest
presence of the machines elucidated within the Schriever/Vesco legend.

As more men and resources were plowed into Lusty, the search for
high technology widened. The files detailed the growing number of
shipments back to the U.S. "Hanau: 50 tons of documents ready for ship-
ment. Munich: 30 tons of documents ready for shipment. Teisendorf:
Approximately two tons of documents pertaining to flight-path studies of
guided rocket missiles are on location ready for shipment..." From all
over Germany, documentation was being gathered, marshaled and
hauled back to the U.S.

But just when it seemed as if the USAAF mission was breaking the
back of the task, new finds and new problems added to the logjam. The
biggest and most unexpected of these related to the Nazis' underground
facilities, whose scale and number had not been anticipated by the in-
vestigators, because Allied reconnaissance had failed to pick up anything
but the vaguest hints that the Germans were putting their factories
underground.

The underground facilities were of more than passing interest to me
since they figured in the Legend as places where the Nazis had devel oped
their antigravity technology.

From the message traffic that built up around the discovery of these
facilities in the late summer of 1945, three or four months after the war
in Europe ended, it was clear that the discovery of these underground
facilities was diverting the Lusty investigators from their primary goal of
plundering German technology.

On August 29, Genera McDonald sent USAAF headquarters in Eu-
rope a list of six underground factories that had been discovered and
"excavated.” All of them had been churning out aircraft components or
other specialized equipment for the Luftwaffe until the very last day of
the war.

According to McDonald, the facilities varied in size from 5 to 26
kilometers in length, according to measurements of their tunnels and
galleries. The dimensions of the tunnels varied from 4 to 20 meters in
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width and 5 to 15 metersin height; thefloor space from 25,000 to 130,000
square meters.

Seven weeks later, in mid-October, in a Preliminary Report on
Underground Factories and Facilities in Germany and Austria, senior
USAAF officers were told that the final tally showed "a considerably
larger number of German underground factories than had hitherto been
suspected.”

In additionto Germany and Austria, the underground building program
had been extended across France, Italy, Hungary and Czechoslovakia.

"Although the Germans did not go underground on a large scale until
March 1944, they managed to get approximately 143 underground
factories into production by the last few months of the war," the report
stated. A further 107 facilities had been located that were either being
built, excavated or planned by the end of hostilities, but another 600 sites
could be added to the total if caves and mines, many of which had been
turned into production lines and weapons laboratories, were taken into
consideration.

The report's author was evidently taken aback by the breadth of the
German underground plan. "It isamatter of conjecture what would have
occurred if the Germans had gone underground before the beginning of
the war," he concluded.

And then, hot on the heels of the underground investigation, a fresh
directive, this time from a senior USAAF field officer to Genera
McDondd, the air force intelligence chief at Wright Field in Ohio.

Set against the steady but predictable buildup of documentation, its
tone was so unexpected and the content of the message so different that
it took me amoment to come to terms with its implications. It was dated
September 28, 1945:

1. Itisconsidered that the foll owing have been thoroughly investigated
and have proven to have no basis of fact.

a. Remote Interference with Aircraft

Investigations have been completed on this subject and it is
considered that there is no means presently known which was in
development or use by the German Air Force which could interfere
with the engines of aircraft inflight. All information available through
interrogations, equipment and documents has been thoroughly inves-
tigated and this subject may be closed with negative result.

b. Balls of Fire

As far as can be determined from extensive interrogations, investi-
gation of documents, and field trips, there is no basis of fact in the
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reports made by aircrews concerning balls of fire other than that
phenomena similar to balls of fire may have been produced by jet
aircraft or missiles. This subject may be considered closed with
negative results.

A.R. Sullivan Jr.,

Lt. Colonel, Sig. C.

This was the first hint or mention of anything connected with the foo-
fighters. Sullivan wastelling McDonald that investigations on the subject
had been completed; and yet, there was no sign in any of the raw
communications traffic that had hitherto flowed between the front and
Wright Fidld that anyone was the dightest bit interested in the subject of
"remote interference with aircraft” or "bals of fire." Furthermore, there
wasn't any suggestion of interrogations having taken place or equipment
or documents having been investigated pertaining to possible foo-fighter
technol ogies—or of specid "field trips" having been undertaken to track
them down. But the instruction that the subject "may be considered
closed with negative result" was so strident it made me sit up and wonder
if I'd missed something.

| felt a knot of excitement in the pit of my stomach. The subject, as
Sullivan put it, may be closed with negative result.

Why?

In the apparent informality of itsmemo format, the implication hadn't
been clear on afirst read-through. But it was now. This wasn't a casua
instruction. It was an order.

| flicked back afew frames and found afield report of an investigation
into German guided weapons technology.

It was then that my eyes were drawn to an assessment of a sensor called
Windhund ("wind-hound"). Windhund was a "sniffer" device that
detected the presence of aircraft by measuring differences in the polarity
of the surrounding air. It then automatically directed its parent aircraft to
follow the trail until it reached the bomber stream itself.

All you had to do was hard-wire Windhund into an autopilot and
you had a mechanism to allow a pilotless aircraft—conveivably, the
Fireball—to be controlled automatically.

In the same document, a second sensor from a related facility (same
organization, different location) was detailed as an infrared tracking
system for locating aircraft exhaust gas. Both technologies were at an
early stage, but the fact that they were being investigated at all was
significant. A half century later, as far as | knew, neither had been
perfected or developed. But here, in 1945, were sensors that afoo-fighter
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could have used to get close enough to a bomber to disrupt its engine
ignition systems.

| felt for the first time like | had afoot in the door.

A few frames later and here was a large document set out in tabular
format with headings running acrossthetop of the page: Target~, Organi-
zation, City, Activity, Assessed (date), Action Taken and Remarks. From
thefirst page, it was clear that thiswas avery different kind of file, filled
with data as raw as it came, and instantly noteworthy for what it did—
and didn't—say. In the remarks section of one target, listed only as
a "research station" near the town of Eib See, assessed primarily by
the British, curiously, on May 2, 1945, it said: "Over 400 evacuated
Peenemunde personnel held. Excavations made in the mountainside
close to lake for underground workshops. A very important target."
Nothing else.

Mysterious as hell.

Next page.

Target: Luftfahrt forschungs [sic]. City: Brunswick. Activity: Radio-
controlled aircraft. Assessed: April 21-24, 1945. Action Taken: Team has
been dispatched. Remarks. "Evidence of radio-controlled aircraft.”

| scratched some notes. Another potential foo-fighter technology.

Next page.

Target: Research. Location: 87, Weimarerstr. Vienna. Activity: Ex-
periments with antiaircraft rays. Remarks. "Research activity is con-
ducted in a house at the above address. Research personnel were not
allowed to leave house (reported hermetically sealed).”

The Germans had been working on directed energy weapons and had
sedled those working on it from the outside world.

So many radical technologies and so long ago. | had no idea.

Next page.

Target: Daimler-Benz. City: Unter-Turkheim/Stuttgart. Activity:
Secret weapon. Assessed: April 25, 1945. Remarks: "Said to stop ignition
system of a petrol engine. The apparatus has succeeded in stopping a
motor vehicle w/magneto ignition, but not one w/battery, at a range of
2o0r 3 km."

The report went on to say that the technology had been insufficiently
developed to have been brought against aircraft, but it made clear that
thiswas the goal.

The Germans, then, had also been working on devices that were
designed to "interfere with the engines of aircraft in flight,” contrary to
the note sent by Colonel Sullivan to General McDonald on September 28.

Why, then, did Sullivan say that al information available through in-
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terrogations, equipment and documents had been "thoroughly invesi-
gated" and that the subject "may be closed with negative result"?

What negative result?

Over the years, | had conducted extensive interviews on and off the
record with intelligence analysts on both sides of the Atlantic about
Soviet and Russian weapons developments and knew something of their
techniques. They would never have dismissed an invention such as
Windhund as cursorily as Sullivan had in the light of clear evidence that
the enemy had been developing such a radical strand of technology. At
the very leadt, the reports would have gone into a holding file. If no other
reports came in to substantiate this finding, then in time it would have
been downgraded. Only then, would field agents have been told to stop
looking.

Instead, Sullivan's exhortation for investigators to cease forthwith
their search for one of the key component technologies of the foo-fighter
sightings, a mystery that had absorbed the USAAF's intelligence
community in that winter of 1944—45, was, well, odd.

Unless, that is, they had found a foo-fighter and needed to put the lid
back on.

It got better. | came to the field report on the last target to have been
assessed, the Institut fur Elektrophysik Hermann Goering at Landsberg-
am-Lech in Bavaria. Like so many of the others it was quite anodyne
until the remarks section, which read:

"Experimental work in conjunction with airfield at Pensing, 9 km
north (toward Munich). Activities: research on gas, aircraft, pilotless
aircraft, radio communication.”

Here, then, was a facility that merged in a single program all the
activities that explained Vesco's Firebal drone: a pilotless, remote-
controlled aircraft that disrupted the engines and electronic systems of
Allied bombers. And the fact that the research activity was taking place
at an airfield seemed to suggest that the tests were at an advanced stage
when the Lusty assessment team showed up.

| sat staring at the screen for several more minutes, scouring the text
for other corroborative details, but there were no further clues and | was
out of time.

I photocopied what | could, thanked the archivist and made my way
outside. The taxi was already waiting, engine running, wipers working
against therain. | threw my bags on the backseat and sat back for theride,
my head buzzing with thoughts about a strand of weapons technology
that appeared to have been buried from view for more than half a century.

But it wasn't until the flight home that sanity prevailed.
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What had | actually learned from Lusty'?

That the Germans had been working on technologies that far exceeded
published accounts of their aeronautical achievements in the Second
World War?

Certainly.

That they had developed a craft that explained the foo-fighter
sightings reported by Allied airmen?

Possibly.

That they had developed antigravity technology—and that this
technology had fallen into the hands of the Americans at the end of the
war in Europe?

Unfortunately, not.

Besides which, | realized that Lusty had been declassified in the mid-
1960s, severa years before Vesco's book | ntercept—But Don't Shoot was
published. A skeptic could claim that Vesco had simply concocted his
account from the documents.

| had hoped that by applying a few basic investigative principles, |
would find some tangible evidence of a radica propulsion technology
that had been overlooked by everyone else.

Of course, it was never going to be that simple.

Degspite dl the stories, there was no concrete proof that the Germans
had even designed, let aone built, a flying saucer. As for antigravity
propulsion, no one had ever found a single piece of evidence that would
reliably hold up in court.

A short postscript to the German story emerged; in Canada of al places.
Atthetimeit seemed irrelevant to the main body of my investigation, but
it came screaming back at me later in a way | couldn't possibly have
guessed at so soon after my return from Washington. | would recall it
later as the "Silverbug affair."

In April 1959, during hearings of the Space Committee of the U.S.
Congress, the U.S. Department of Defense reveded that it was working
with the Avro Canada company to develop a "flying saucer." According
to the Pentagon's Research and Engineering Deputy Director, John
Macauley, the craft would "skim the earth's surface or fly at altitudes
reached by conventional aircraft." This was the first public admission
that Avro was building a flying disc, the Avrocar, the brainchild of a
gifted British engineer called John Frost, who'd moved to Canada shortly
after the war.

Activity surrounding the Avro project was shrouded in mystery. Word
of its existence had leaked as early as 1953, when the Toronto Sar
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reported that the company was working on a "flying saucer" that could
take off and land vertically and would fly at 1,500 mph. British and
American scientists were aso reported to be involved. Both the Canadian
government and Avro played down the reports.

When the Avrocar finally emerged from the shadows it was easy to see
why. One look at the prototype was enough to know that it would never
achieve supersonic flight. Flight tests, in fact, confirmed it was a dog.

Underpowered and unstable, the Avrocar made its first untethered
flight in December 1959 and soldiered on for two more years as Frost and
his team sought to overcome its failings.

By the end of 1961, at the conclusion of the U.S. development
contract, the Avrocar had managed to claw no more than a few feet into
the air. Funding for the world's only known flying-saucer program was
not renewed and the Avrocar drifted into obscurity—although not fast
enough for the Canadian aerospace industry, which has sought ever since
to distance itself from the project. There and elsewhere, it has become a
byword for failure; something of an aviation joke.

Y et, that may have been the intention all along.

Recently declassified papers show that from early 1952 right up until
the cancellation of the Avrocar in 1961, a select group of engineers known
as the Avro "Specid Projects Group," led by John Frost, had been
working on a highly classified set of programs that accurately reflected
the Toronto Star's original leak of 1953.

The papers revealed that, commencing with Project Y, also known as
the "Manta," via Project 1794 to Project PV 704, the SPG tested tech-
nology for awhole family of flying saucers whose projected performance
was designed to eclipse that of al other jet fighters. Data on Project 1794,
a design for a perfectly circular fighter-interceptor, show that it would
have been capable of Mach 4 at 100,000 feet. The best fighters then on
the drawing board were hard-pressed to achieve Mach 2.

On December 2,1954, Canada's Trade Minister C.D. Howe sought to
dampen speculation about the existence of an Avro flying saucer program
with a statement that the Canadian government had backed studies into
disc-shaped aircraft in 1952-53, but had since dropped the idea.

This, as it turned out, was true—up to a point. In fact, the Avro
design, now called Project Y2, had been purchased outright by the U.S.
Air Force and re-code-named "Project Silverbug."

Under pressure from the U.S. press to reveal the nature of this
program—which, though classified, had again |eaked—the USAF issued
a bland statement in 1955 that it had a "research and development
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contract with the Avro Company of Canada to explore a new aircraft
design concept.” But that was all.

USAF documents on Silverbug declassified as recently as the mid-
1990s show just how radical the Silverbug/Y 2 concept was. "The Project
Y2 design proposal incorporates a number of advanced improvements
brought about by the utilization of several radical ideas in fundamen-
tal areas." Among these was a "very large radial-flow gas-turbine en-
gine, which, when covered, will form a flying wing with a circular
planform, similar in appearance to a very large discus."

The entire air vehicle, in other words, was a giant flattened jet engine,
the hot gases that propelled it forward exiting from slots around its rim.
By directing the exhaust, Silverbug would have been capable of aimost
instantaneous high-speed turns in any direction; maneuvers that would
have included 180-degree reversals, the craft flipping this way and that
like a tumbling coin, and al with minimum discomfort to the pilot,
because the g-forces would have been alleviated by the adjustable thrust.

Much like the craft that had vexed the U.S. Air Force intelligence
community following the first rash of U.S. flying saucer sightings in
1947.

The only other place prior to this discovery | had ever heard mention
of aradial-flow gas turbine, an RFGT, was in Germany during the war.

After the ignominy of the Avrocar program, the Avro SPG disbanded
and most of its exceptional brain talent was snapped up by U.S. aerospace
companies or government-run research establishments. The most not-
able exception was John Frost, the maverick genius and inspiration
behind the saucer projects, who soon after the Avro company was dis-
solved in April 1962 emigrated to Auckland, New Zealand. After the
exhilaration and excitement of designing highly classified, highly uncon-
ventional air vehicles for the Canadian and U.S. air forces, Frost settled
for therelative obscurity of an engineering job with Air New Zealand. He
rarely, if ever, spoke about his work on the Avrocar and never mentioned
the existence of the supersonic saucer projects that had gone on al the
while behind it. He died of a heart attack in October 1979 at the age of 63.

Soon after | got back from Washington | rang Frost's son, Tony. | had
tracked him down to Auckland, New Zealand, via a small band of
researchers, al with strong aerospace credentias, who had done a fan-
tastic job in piecing together the Avro story—the real story; one in which
high-performance flying saucers had been shown to be real; far from the
stuff of legend, as they had been in Germany.

"Dad was very secretive about his work," Tony Frost told me.
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"Everything | ever learned about what he had been doing in Canada | had
to pick up from people he'd worked with. The Special Projects Group
was, for atime, just about the most secret group of its kind in Canada or
the U.S,, but why its activities should remain shrouded in secrecy for so
long is still amystery to me.”

In the brief silence that followed, my mind worked hard to fill in the
gaps. Had the lumbering Avrocar been an intentional blind all aong,
something to draw the flak from the SPG's real, but hidden goal: the
creation of a supersonic, vertical takeoff and landing interceptor?

With Avro shut down, had work on the supersonic saucers contin-
ued in the utmost secrecy in the U.S.? Was there something about
the very shape and form of the saucer, indeed, that was inherently
super-classified?

While the Avro program didn't entirely explain how saucer-shaped
craft had been "within the present U.S. knowledge" in 1947, it came very
close.

First off, Avro showed that man-made flying saucers were real; they'd
existed.

Secondly, if you substituted the radial-flow gas turbine, the RFGT,
for something even more exotic—a T.T. Brown—type propulsion sys
tem, for example—the specification was a pretty neat match.

In the conventional world of aerospace, testing a new kind of airframe
with a known engine was standard operating procedure. Was this what
the Avro program had really been about? Were the Americans using the
Canadians to perfect the aerodynamics of the saucer before the arrival of
an al-new propulsion source—something that Trimble and Co. had
hinted at in their statements of 19567

Or was the truth altogether more prosaic? Had the supersonic Avro
disc program merely been hushed up all these years in an attempt to
avoid embarrassment by those who had thrown money at it and seen it
fail?

These were guestions without answers, so | asked Tony Frost instead
how he thought his father had come by his radical ideas.

He told me, amost in passing, that a file recently uncovered in
Canada's National Archives had shown that his father had made a
journey to West Germany in 1953. There, at a Canadian government
installation in the company of British and Canadian intelligence officials,
Frost met with a German aviation engineer who claimed to have worked
on a vehicle similar to the disc-shaped aircraft on the drawing boards at
Avro. The German said that the project had been under way at a site near
Prague, Czechoslovakia, in 1944—45, and that the saucer had not only
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been built, but flight-tested. He told Frost that both the plans and the
craft itself had been destroyed in the closing weeks of the war.

How the information was used by Frost was never made clear. Like the
Avro supersonic disc program, he never spoke about it—to his family or
anyone.

| felt the historical data pulling me back. If the Canadians and the
British had been colluding on German-derived saucer technology, it was
dangerously close to the scenario that Vesco had espoused &l along.

But Tony Frost had spent years trying to piece together the secret
history of his father's life and he was still no closer to the truth.

| had exhausted the safe, cozy world of archives and Internet trails. It
was like Cross had said; they'd succeeded only in taking me everywhere
and nowhere. If a decade of training had taught me anything, | knew my
only real chance of verifying Trimble's outburst back in 1956 was to
search for leads in the real world.

| didn't know it yet, but | was about to get a helping hand from a
scientist on the inside loop, a man | came in time to regard as a genius,
who for reasons of his own had aready embarked on exactly the same
journey as| had.
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| had expected the drive to Austin, the state capital, to provide me with a
rich set of impressions of the frontier that divided the Eastern Seaboard
from the wilderness that started here and extended to the Pacific. But for
two hours | sat on the freeway, my views of Texas obscured by bumper-
to-bumper traffic, peeling trailer homes and secondhand car lots. And so
I thought of the man | was about to visit instead.

Dr. Harold E. Puthoff, "Hd" to those who knew him better than I,
was the director of the Institute of Advanced Studies at Austin. Puthoff
had lived hiswhole life on afrontier; one that straddled known science,
the world explained and understood, and a place that most people,
scientists included, said didn't exist.

| felt drawn to Puthoff, because his academic qualifications, not to
mention his connections to the military, put him squarely in a place that
| could relate to; yet, he was clearly aso involved in strange science.

His résumé, which | had pulled off the Internet, said that he had
graduated from Stanford University in 1967 and that his professional
background had spanned more than three decades of research at General
Electric, Sperry, the Stanford Research Institute (SRI) and the National
Security Agency, the NSA, the government's super-clandestine elec-
tronic eavesdropping organi zation.

It also told how he "regularly served various corporations, government
agencies, the Executive Branch and Congress as a consultant on leading-
edge technologies and future technology trends' and that he had patents
issued in the laser, communications and energy fields. Puthoff was no
lightweight.

What his résumé didn't describe was one of the strangest episodes in
the history of U.S. intelligence gathering: a program, known as remote
viewing or RV, that enabled the Central Intelligence Agency and the
Defense Intelligence Agency to spy on America’s enemies using clair-
voyance. For years, depending on whom you believed, this highly
organized, well-funded operation had proven remarkably successful,
providing reams of usable data on Soviet military activities that were
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inaccessible to more traditional intelligence gatherers, such as spy
satellitesand aircraft.

RV remained buried, deeply classified, until 1995, when the CIA
finally admitted it had used "psychic spies’ against Russia during the
Cold War.

Puthoff had been the RV program'’s founder and first director and had
run it for 13 years, finadly leaving SRI in 1985 to establish his own
institute, the IAS, at Austin.

And now, he was up to his earsin gravity work.

If the U.S. government had instituted a top secret antigravity
program, decades before possibly, then chances were Puthoff was either
directly involved, knew about it, or, at the very least, had someinkling of
it. On the other hand, doing what he'd done, acting as a consultant to
some of the government bodies he still advised, | knew that Puthoff
breathed the same air as people for whom disinformation was a just
another part of the tool kit.

Ordinarily, | would have been wasting my time and Puthoff's. My
limited, workaday knowledge of physics put me at an enormous
disadvantage when it came to sorting out good information from bad in
theantigravity field.

But on that day, as the miles to Austin sped by, | had some help.

Deep in the heart of Britain's own aerospace and defense estab-
lishment, | had found someone to decode the intricate mysteries of
gravity for me.

I wound back the clock to the time when I'd attended a trade
conference many years earlier. It had been entitled "Antigravity! The
End of Aerodynamics." 1'd only gone along because of the caliber of the
speaker: Brian Y oung, Professor of Physics at Salford University. Y oung
was also Director of Strategic Projects for British Aerospace (BAeg)
Defence, Britain's biggest military contractor.

The lecture had been given at the London headquarters of the Institution
of Mechanical Engineers, IMechE, just off Parliament Square. Handouts
beforehand (which I'd clipped to my copy of the transcript) had set the
theme: "Gravity is the most mysterious of al the natural forces. It
appears completely indifferent to anything we try to do to control it.
Nonetheless, its very presence is the driver for the whole science and
business of aeronautics. Scientists from the very distinguished to the very
ridiculous have tried for over 300 years to either explain it or destroy it.
Technology is making tremendous strides in &l directions and perhaps
we are getting close. If o, is this the end of aerodynamics?"
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| chewed over the words of Young's speech, according it a respect |
hadn't given it on the night it was given. Now | wished | had.

| recalled the elegant marbled hallway and the low hubbub of
conversation as I'd drifted among the attendees—a hodgepodge of MoD
men and aerospace industry executives, some of whom were familiar to
me—waiting for the doors to open into the auditorium.

Young had kicked off his talk by reiterating our general state of
ignorance about gravity. "It is an incredibly weak force,” he'd said,
"although it probably didn't seem so to the Wright Brothers and |
suspect most mountain climbers would disagree violently.

"But really gigantic quantities of matter, about 6x10 (to the power of
21) tonnes in the case of the Earth, are required to produce the gravity
field in which we live. If you think of a simple horseshoe magnet lifting a
piece of iron, then, as far as that piece of iron is concerned, the magnet
weighing a few ounces is outpulling the whole Earth."

He flashed up a set of artist's impressions showing how three different
kinds of antigravity vehicles might look assuming engines could be built
for them.

One, a "heavy-lifter,” looking much like an airship, was depicted
effortlessly transporting a giant section of roadbridge through the air.
Y oung made the assumption that the antigravity engine of the heavy-
lifter not only canceled the weight of the craft, but its underslung load as
well.

Another, saucer-shaped, craft, described as being like a bus for "city
hopper” applications, used a "toroidal” or doughnut-shaped engine to
allow it to skip between "stops' in a futuristic-looking metropolis.

The third showed a combat aircraft with a green-glowing antigravity
lift engine on its underside for vertical takeoff and landing (VTOL) and
conventional jet engines for forward propulsion.

But all these things were fiction, he stressed, so the designs were
simply conjecture. "The more | have read and thought about antigravity
and its terrestrial applications, the more | have become convinced that as
it stands today it is going nowhere. Whatever name the press may give
experiments, either in someone's garage or in Geneva, most of the real
work istrying to uncover basic knowledge and few people really believe
it will lead to gravity control.

"To the contrary, aview | have seen expressed is that if gravity control
is ever discovered it will be as an unexpected by-product of work in some
completely different field."

To which he'd added arider. Were he to have gotten it al wrong, were
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an antigravity effect ever to be discovered, the growth of the industry
surrounding it would be exponential—look what had happened after
Faraday's discovery of electromagnetic induction in 1831. Within five
years, the electric motor industry was born. Within seventy, the
generation of electricity was huge business. Today, it is hard to conceive
of a time when man-made electricity did not exist.

| vaguely remembered going up to Young after the lecture and
chatting to him about some of the points he'd raised. But now | kicked
myself. If only I'd paid more bloody attention.

Soon after I'd returned from the low-key archive in Washington that
housed the Lusty documents, 1'd picked up the phone and dialed British
Aerospace. Through to the public relations department and | logged the
request. Could they get me Professor Young's phone number?

Forty minutes later, the media manager called back to say that
Professor Young had died, of a heart attack he thought, some years
earlier.

| put the phone down, a little shocked at the news, and pinched the
bridge of my nose, looking for that extra bit of concentration. What had
Young and | talked about? Down into the basement and another
protracted rifle through a box taped up and marked "notebooks:
1989—94." There in among my old reporter's pads, after an hour on my
hands and knees, | found the one that I'd taken with me that night to
IMechE. | started reading and flicking pages.

The notes I'd jotted down were piss poor, highlighting terms like
"gravito magnetic permeability” and "toroidal engine" and putting big
question marks against them.

| kept turning. There, right at the end, I'd written myself a memo to
put in acal to amediaaffairs officer at BAe who would arrange for me to
receive photos of the artist's impressions Y oung had flashed up during
his speech.

This, 1 remembered now, was one of the things Young and | had
discussed.

Below the memo were two names. Dr. Ron Evans of "BAe Defense
Military Aircraft's Exploratory Studies group” and Dr. Dan Marckus, an
eminent scientist attached to the physics department of one of Britain's
best-known universities. The department was more than familiar to me.
Its work was well known in defense circles for the advice that it gave to
the government.

Beside Evans and Marckus' names were their contact phone numbers.

| caled Dr. Evans first.
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He turned out to be a nice, soft-spoken mathematician based at BA€'s
Warton plant, a facility that cranked out jet fighters close to where the
bleak mudflats of Lancashire's Ribble Estuary met the Irish Sea.

When | asked if he could brief me, as per the suggestion of Professor
Young, Evans said he needed to consult with the company's media
managers. He'd never dealt with the press before. | got the impression it
was sensitive stuff.

It was, but not for any of the reasons | had guessed or hoped. Britain's
biggest aircraft manufacturer, BAe, had an antigravity department. That
initself was key.

But its activities weren't classified. Far from it. The impression | got,
more than anything else, was that the management had tucked Evans
tiny department into the farthest-flung corner of the company because it
didn't know what else to do with it. That and the fact no one in BAe at
that level wanted to wake up to headlines that it was involved in kooky,
Buck Rogers science. It would destabilize the share price.

In the end, Evans wasn't allowed formally to brief me on his work, but
he was given permission to fill me in on some of the background that had
led to the formation of his Exploratory Studies group. That suited me
fine. BAe didn't want to break cover—nor did I. For once, we were on
the same side of the secrecy divide.

In March 1990, Evans chaired a two-day University-Industry Con-
ference of Gravitational Research, sitting around a table with a gathering
of distinguished academics to identify any emerging "quantum leaps’
that might impact on BA€'s military aircraft work. Gravity control
figured extensively on the agenda.

Imagine it. A technology, popping out of nowhere, that rendered all
of its current multibillion-pound work on airliners and jet fighters
redundant at a stroke. Now that, | thought, really would do things to the
share price.

The company also undertook some practical laboratory work in a bid
to investigate the properties of a so-called "inertial-thrust machine"
developed by a Scottish inventor called Sandy Kidd.

In 1984, after three years work building his device—essentially, apair
of gyroscopes at each end of aflexible crossarm—Kidd apparently turned
it on and watched, startled, as it proceeded to levitate, then settle three
inches above the surface of his workbench.

An ex-RAF radar technician, the Scotsman had become obsessed with
the idea of inventing an antigravity machine after he'd removed a till-
spinning gyroscope from aV ulcan nuclear bomber. Carrying it backward
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down the aircraft's ladder, he reached the ground and was promptly
flattened by asledgehammer blow to hisback. Theforce, herealized, had
been transmitted from the gyroscope, which had reacted in some
inexplicable way as his feet had touched the ground.

In May 1990, BAe began a series of trials to test whether there was
anything in Kidd's claims, knowing full well that he wasn't alone in
making them.

In the mid-1970s, Eric Laithwaite, Emeritus Professor of Heavy
Electrical Engineering at Imperial College London, demonstrated the
apparent weight loss of a pair of heavy gyroscopes by lifting the whole
whirling contraption with one hand and wheeling it freely around his
head. When the twin rotors were not in motion, attempting this feat was
impossible. The gyroscopes were the size and weight of dumbbells. But
when the rotors turned, they became as light as a feather.

Somewhere along the line, the machine had lost weight.

The accepted laws of physics said that this was not possible, out of the
question—heresy, in fact. But Laithwaite's claims were supported by a
top-level study into gyroscopes published by NATO's Advisory Group
for Aerospace Research and Development (AGARD) in March 1990.

The authors of the AGARD report concluded that a "force-generating
device" such as Laithwaite's, if integrated into a vehicle of some kind,
could, in theory, counteract gravity. "Clearly if such a counteracting
force was of sufficient magnitude it would propel the vehicle continu-
ously in a straight line in opposition to said field of force and would
constitute an antigravity device."

The report went on to say that there was at least one "gyroscopic
propulsive device" that was known to work and that the inventor, E.J.C.
Rickman, had taken out aBritish patent onit. The trouble was, the report
concluded, the impulses generated by these machines were so dight they
would be uselessfor al practical applications—except, perhaps, toinch a
satellite into a new orbit once it had already been placed in space by a
rocket.

It was hardly a quantum technological leap. But that wasn't the point,
Dr. Evans told me. What was being talked about here was an apparent
contravention of the laws of physics, the negation, at a stroke, of
Newton's Third Law, of action-reaction. Which was why the BAe-
sponsored tests on the Kidd machine had a relevance that went way
beyond their immediate and apparent value.

If there were ways of generating internal, unidirectional, reactionless
forces in a spacecraft, and in time they could be refined, honed and
developed, the propulsion possibilities would be limitless.
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In May 1990, atrial went ahead under the watchful eyes of two wind
tunnel engineers from BA€e's Warton aircraft plant. The first series of
tests showed no antigravity effects, but to everyone's surprise, during a
second series of trials, one result did appear to indicate that the machine
had changed weight.

Unfortunately, the engineers failed to repeat the result; and in science
and engineering, repeatability is the benchmark of success.

Had it been repeatable, the two percent weight change Kidd claimed
for his device would have been scientifically verified, and BAe would
have employed the world's first known antigravity device as an orbital
maneuvering motor for satellites.

Shortly after the trial, Cold War defense budgets collapsed and BAE€'s
share price went into free fall. As it fought for its survival, there were
cutbacks across the company and Dr. Evans' department, with little hope
of any short-term returns, was disbanded as quietly as it had come
together.

That, essentially, was how things were when he and | met.

| rang Dr. Marckus a few times, but only ever got an answering
machine and so | capped my involvement in the BAe antigravity story
with afew low-key articles inJane's about the BAe investigation. It was
more an excuse than anything else to broadcast a question: Was anyone
else out there engaged in similar work?

The U.S. Air Force had recently proclaimed its interest in the field
with adocument, published in August 1990, called the Electric Propulsion
Study. Its objective was to "outline physical methods to test theories of
inductive coupling between electromagnetic and gravitational forces to
determine the feasibility of such methods as they apply to space pro-
pulsion.” Stripped of the gobbledygook, it was really asking whether
there was any theory out there that might permit the engineering of an
antigravity device.

The existence of the Electric Propul sion Study gave me an excuseto dlip
tailored messages into a couple more stories about futuristic propulsion.
It felt alittle like pointing atransmitter into deep space and waiting for a
response.

| waited, but nothing came back. No emails, no anonymous faxes, no
spooky phone calls. Nothing.

Thereafter, | kept a weather eye on the antigravity scene, but the
receiver | had rigged for the dightest trace of life out there remained
silent. In the end, | switched it off.

During the mid-1990s, BAe kept its toes in the gravity field by plac-
ing a few small-scale contracts with a number of British universities,
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principally to see if there might be a provable relationship between
gravity and heat; alink first postulated by Michael Faraday in 1849.

Like me, the company was clearly reaching, but getting nowhere.

Then, in 1996, NASA—the U.S. National Aeronautics and Space
Administration—began questioning some of the perceived limits to the
advancement of air and space travel in two notable areas. One related to
the unbreachability of the light-speed barrier—a throwback to Einstein,
whose Theory of Relativity said that the velocity of light was a fixed
constant never to be exceeded.

The other questioned the heretical notion that, somewhere in the
universe, there might be an antigravity force; one that could be exploited
for air and space travel.

The resultant NASA program, wrapped within something called
ASTP—the Advanced Space Transportation Program—prompted BAe
to resurrect its antigravity work. It has since been rebranded "Project
Greenglow," a "speculative research program . . . the beginning of an
adventure which other enthusiastic scientists might like to join, par-
ticularly those who believe that the gravitational field is not restricted to
passivity."

Decoded, Greenglow involved little more than reseeding small
amounts of company R&D money to more British universities, funding
afew more experiments of the Kidd kind, and acting as a European feed-
in to the NASA effort.

It was, to say the least, depressing news. | thought back to
George S.Trimble, the man who had been too afraid to talk to me after
Dani Abelman of Lockheed Martin had approached him on my behalf. If
Trimble had cracked the gravity code back in 1956, why were BAe and
NASA, with their immense know-how and resources, still struggling
with the gravity conundrum today? It didn't make any sense.

And that should have been where the matter ended.

But long months after | had consigned the antigravity story to the
graveyard, | got a phone call. The man at the other end of the line was
bluff and unapologetic, verging on the rude. Dr. Marckus had finally
gotten in touch.
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The sunlight reflected brightly off the thin carpet of snow that had fallen
along the east coast overnight. | kept the estuary on my right and the sea
defenses on my left, edging the car along the narrow road, navigating by
the instructions | had been given over the phone. There was something
almost primeval about the combination of the pine forest, the limbs of the
trees twisted into impossible shapes by the wind, the open sky and the
stillness.

The trees parted briefly and | saw the radar mast that 1'd been told to
look for. Around another bend and the tiny haven swung into view.

| pulled up in the parking lot beside awooden jetty that jutted into the
green, fast-flowing current toward a small settlement on the far bank.
The buildings seemed run-down and dirty compared to the crisp scenery
through which I'd just driven.

There were two other cars parked beside mine and both were empty. |
got out, stretched my legs and shivered as the still-freezing temperature
blew away the fug of the hour-and-a-half-long journey from London.
Suffolk. The East Anglian coast and the cold waters of the North Sea. |
was in a part of the country | didn't know.

A light breeze tugged at the rigging of a row of yachts dragged onto a
thin stretch of stony beach nearby. Seabirds picked along the jetsam and
detritus of the shoreline. Above the gentle pinging of the mast ropes, |
heard children's voices.

There were four people on the jetty.

A woman sat on the far side, wrapped warmly against the cold, reading
abook as her two small children line-fished for crabs.

The father, standing farther off, his back to me, was tracking an open
motorboat chugging hard against the fast-flowing water, its helmsman
preparing to tie up alongside the jetty's end.

As the boat bumped against the tire buffers, the man stepped on board
and settled onto one of the bench seats.

| waited for the woman and the two children to get up and join him,
but they never so much as glanced his way.

86
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It was then that | realized the man in the boat was Marckus.

He looked up and waved me aboard. | hesitated. Taking a ride on a
boat had not figured in our brief phone conversation.

Until then, I'd not considered the possibility that Marckus was
anything other than the person he claimed to be.

But what did | know about him? That he was plugged firmly into
Britain's aerospace and defense community, that he didn't make a habit
of talking to journalists, and that he was taking arisk by talking to me.

The ferry was preparing to leave.

| ran along the jetty and dropped down into the boat. Marckus paid for
both of us and the ferryman cast off.

I found myself apologizing for the mix-up; how I'd thought Marckus
was with the woman and her children on the jetty. Sily, nervous
jabbering.

Dr. Marckus cut me short. "Does the significance of this site mean
anything to you?' he asked, his arm almost hitting my face as he waved
in the direction of the road.

| shrugged and he gave a mild snort of derision. "I thought you said
you were aJane's man."

"I'm sorry,” | said, "it looks like a small yacht club and a fishing
village." | neglected to tell him, because | couldn't see the point, that
history wasn't my bag. My work was high technology of the 21st-century
Kind.

Once, Dan Marckus must have been lean and ascetic-looking; the
thinning hair and high forehead still gave ahint of it. With age, however,
he had put on some padding, making him look a lot less severe than he
sounded. A dark, scratchy beard, flecked with gray, distracted the eye on
first meeting from athick pair of lenses in tortoiseshell frames.

Behind them, Marckus' brown, beady eyes watched me intently and
with a hint of irritation.

He was dressed sharply in athick blue polo-neck, atrendier version of
thekind fishermen wear, and abrown leather jacket. His voice said he was
around 65, but he looked younger.

"What you saw when you drove through those trees was one of the
orginal antenna masts of Bawdsey Manor. Before the Second World War
broke out, the Germans sent an airship, the GrafZeppelin, up and down
this coastline trying to figure out what we were up to—what those tall
stedl lattice towers meant.”

"And what did they learn?' | asked.

"They'd packed the Graf Zeppelin with electronics—listening gear.
But the old man was so much smarter than them, thank God."
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Marckus registered my bewilderment. "Robert Watson-Watt. The
man who gave the British the secret of radar. It al happened here. |
thought you'd know that."

Once on the other side, we jumped down onto the beach and strolled
along the shoreline, past alonely cafe, in the direction of the point.

"So how did Watson-Watt outwit the Germans?' | asked, to fill the
silence more than anything else.

"They saw the Graf Zeppelin on their scopes when it was way out over
the North Sea, realized what it was up to and switched off theradars. The
Germans went away believing that they were radio masts, that Germany
was the only nation that had successfully developed radar detection. A
month later, they invaded Poland."

"That's interesting. Did you work for him?' The term he'd used, "old
man," denoted more than a passing familiarity. "Watson-Watt, | mean."

Marckus never answered. He walked on in silence, watching the gulls
soaring on the cold currents above our heads. Then, without looking at
me, he said: "It's been a while since you've written about my favorite
subject. | was beginning to worry that you'd lost interest in it."

"It's like Professor Young said in his speech. | have come to the
conclusion—allittle late in the day, perhaps—that antigravity is for the
birds."

"I s=" he said. "Are you hungry?'

| looked at my watch. It was close to midday and | hadn't had any
breakfast.

Marckus, registering my hesitation, doubled back toward the cafe.

| pulled acopy of the U.S. Air Force's Electric Propulsion Study from my
coat pocket and set it down on the table next to atatty yellowing manila
folder that had been clamped under his arm throughout.

Marckus and | were the only two people this side of the deep fryer.
After serving us our plates of cod and chips, the cafe's proprietor left us
on our own.

Marckus seemed to start to relax.

"Apart from the fact that the math and the physics are beyond me, the
evidence says that this whole science, if you can call it that, is still inits
infancy,” | said. "One look at this report says they're still playing around
with algebra. When | wrote what | wrote, | thought the story was bigger
than that. | have to concede | was wrong."

"What were you hoping for, if | may ask?' Marckus asked.

| shrugged. "1 thought maybe they'd have at least built some hardware
by now. God knows they've had time. The U.S. aerospace industry first
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started talking about this stuff in the mid-1950s. Y ou'd think by now
there might just be something to show for it. But the Air Forceis just
staring at its navel and doing afew sums."

| tapped the Electric Propulsion report. "Modifications to Maxwell's
equations and al that."

"As | recal," began Marckus, "in the 1970s, the Americans tripped
over some research published by a Russian mathematician, Ufimtsev,
who in turn had gained his inspiration from work done by Maxwell a
hundred years earlier. The end result was stealth, the biggest break-
through in military aircraft design since the jet engine. Not bad, for a
mathematician."

"The differenceis, they developed stealth,” | told him.

"How do you know they haven't developed antigravity?"

| studied hisface. How much did Marckusreally know?

He must have read my expression. "My information isn't any better
than yours," he said, raising a hand in the air to signa his innocence.
"The U.S. and the U.K. share a lot of sengitive data, as you know. But
there's nothing come across my desk that says we're cooperating with the
Americans on antigravity—or even that the Americans are doing it on
their own. My point is, we don't know." He brought his hand down on
the manilafolder to reinforce the point.

| looked at the U.S. Air Force study again. It was hardly reassuring. If
antigravity existed and people had known about it years ago, how come
the Air Force—along with BAe and NASA—was only just starting to
look for it in the mid-1990s?

Marckus stared into his cup. "Did they build the first atomic bomb
with a few 'poxy' million bucks? Christ, no. It cost them hillions of
dollars, even in 1940s values. Secret dollars nobody outside the secret was
supposed to even guess at."

"So, has antigravity been developed in the black or not?"

Marckus glanced up. His voice hardened. "I already told you. | don't
know. None of us this side of the bloody Atlantic knows." Then he
coughed, semi-apologetically. "But there are signs.”

"What signs?' Despite myself, | leaned forward.

"Up until 1939, atomic energy was till a matter of conjecture, even
among physicists in the field. But by the following year, some of the
brighter sparks in the community realized that it was doable, that if you
split aneutron into equal parts, you'd quite likely get an enormous release
of energy. Things that appear impossible usually aren't, even when the
physics say they are."

I knew enough to know that in the 1930s next to nothing was
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understood about nuclear physics, that by the outbreak of the Second
World War all experiments resulting in nuclear reactions had required
more energy than had been released.

As more and more physicists escaped the Nazis, however, and debate
in America was stimulated further, the conjecture spilled into the U.S.
press and writers began to speculate about what they had heard. A
number of sensationa articles appeared about the weapons implications
of a nuclear reaction that could be compressed into the blink of an eye.
The word was, it would result in a massive bomb.

By 1940, when it was understood that uranium bombarded with
neutrons fissioned and produced more neutrons and that a multiplying
chain reaction really might occur with huge explosive force, something
remarkable happened. The nuclear physics community voluntarily
stopped the publication of further articles on fission and related subjects
and this, in turn, dampened the media’s interest.

By the time America entered the war in December 1941, you couldn't
find amention of fission. It was as if no one had ever been discussing it.

The parallel with what | had read in the U.S. mediain the mid-1950s,
culminating in all those statements in 1956 that antigravity was doable
with a Manhattan-style effort behind it, and then the crushing silence,
wasextraordinary.

By 1960, you talked about antigravity and people looked at you like you
were mad.

| stared out the window, trying to find Watson-Watt's once-secret
radar mast, but it was lost behind the trees. | knew Marckus lived
somewhere nearby. | wondered where, exactly; what his house was like,
whether he was married, if he had kids.

"What's in this for you?' | asked him.

"You have freedom of movement, | don't,” he said. "You can go visit
these people and ask questions, | can't.”

| still couldn't quite see where all this was headed.

Marckus took a moment before adding: "I think it's 1939 all over
again. | think we're poised on the brink of something. The physics is
mind-boggling—Christ, | don't pretend to understand haf of it
myself—but what we're talking is huge.”

"Spell it out for me."

"Bye-bye nuclear power. Bye-bye rocket motors. Bye-bye jet engines.
If we can manipulate gravity, nothing will ever be the same. But ex-
pecting British Aerospace to develop this stuff is like asking someone
who'd spent the first half of the 17th century building horse-drawn carts
to come up with the outline for Stephenson's bloody Rocket. People
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don't really have a taste for it here, not at a senior level. They don't have
the vision that the Americans do. Antigravity is too much mumbo-
jumbo, not enough ROI." He rubbed his thumb and forefinger under his
nose and pulled a face. "Return on investment—bean-counter talk."

"So, if you can prove that the Americans really are up to something,”
| said, "you raise the stakes and get something going here? You get a rea
program in this country with real money behind it?"

"Right—to a point,” he said. "The difference is you're going to prove
it."

| stared at him, thinking | hadn't heard him right.

"It's not such a bad arrangement,” he said, reaching into the manila
folder and pulling a bunch of papers from it. "You get a short course in
physics, a few tips on who to talk to, and maybe a story out of it." He
paused. "The story of the biggest breakthrough in transportation tech-
nology since the invention of the wheel."

"You said there weresigns . . ."l said cautiously.

Marckus pushed the papers across the table. The cover sheet was a
photocopy from some kind of index. The writing was small, but my eyes
were drawn to a section of text that had been highlighted with a yellow
marker pen.

| peered closer and words like "magnetic monopoles,
charge" and "linear equations’ swam into my vision.

"This is taken from something called the 'Source Index,’ " he said.
"It's a list of doctorate papers published by universities around the
world. The highlighted part shows you what is happening in one
U.S. university, that's all. There are dozens, maybe hundreds, of other
facilities like these across America engaged in related research. All of
them probing the sorts of areas you'd want to probe if you were pulling a
field-dependent propulsion program together. Some of the entries go
back decades.”

Field-Dependent Propulsion; yet another term for antigravity.

"Thisthing is amultifaceted, multilayered puzzle and you won't solve
it by picking away at the edges," Marckus said. "Begin with what you can
see, then search for what you can't. What NASA's doing is in the open,
so get over there and start looking and listening. Then go deeper. Some
people say that the B-2 Stealth Bomber uses an antigravity drive system.
It's like the bomb. The physics has been around for a long time. All it
requires is some imagination, a shitload of money and some technical
know-how and someone who wants to put the pieces together."

On the way back home, as the shadows lengthened and the traffic
bunched on the choke points into London, | thought long and hard

gravitationa
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about the road ahead and where it was taking me. | knew absolutely
nothing more about Marckus than | had gleaned from him before the
meeting. The meeting had confirmed that he was a highly gifted
academic with strong ties to the British government and its defense
industry and that he was unquestionably up to his eyes in secret work.
But that was all.

It didn't make me feel particularly comfortable. But then again, I'd
already painted myself into a corner and this, at least, was away forward.
Doing nothing was not an option if | wanted to progress things.

Marckus had given me the names of two people | needed to see in the
States. One was Garry Lyles at NASA; the other was Hal Puthoff.

In American defense procurement, there was awhite world and ablack
world—one that was open to public scrutiny and one that was so firmly
closed, from an outsider's perspective it was like it didn't exist.

The white world had know-how, a good sprinkling of imagination and
not alittle money at its disposal.

The black world, on the other hand, had all of the above in spades.

Lyles clearly worked in the white world. But with Puthoff, it was
absolutely anyone's guess.



Chapter 9

A larger-than-life depiction of Wernher von Braun, whose self-assured
good looks conjured up images of postwar Hollywood matinee idals,
stared down at me from amural in the gallery above the arrivals hall at
Huntsvillelnternational Airport.

Von Braun is still revered in that remote corner of Alabama as the
founding father of the nearby George C. Marshall Space Flight Center,
the NASA "center of excellence' for space propulsion. Von Braun had
died more than 20 years earlier, but American rocketry remained as a
testament to the work of Operation Paperclip, the U.S.A.'s clandestine
effort after World War Two to recruit Nazi V-2 specidists.

A complex of drab, rectangular buildings, "the Marshall Center
Wernher von Braun administrative complex," erected at that time,
stands as testimony to the decade in which the high ambient humidity
routinely reverberated to test runs of engines for the Mercury-Redstone
and Saturn V launch vehicles. The former took thefirst U.S. astronaut,
Alan B. Shepard, briefly into space three weeks after Yuri Gagarin in
May 1961; the latter formed the basis of the giant Apollo moon rocket.

Today, NASA Marshall scientists ill work on the same basic
technology that von Braun developed under the auspices of the Third
Reich, even though chemical rockets, his great invention, are today
regarded astoo dow, too unreliable, too expensive and too inefficient.

It was mid-summer, four months after my meeting with Marckus,
before | was able to wangle atrip to Marshall and do as he'd suggested.

Set in a vast area of grasslands, bordered by well-tended, lush
forestation, Marshall was melting under the high heat when | eased my
rental car up the long approach road that peeled off the interstate to the
hub of the Center itself. As | got out of the car, amilitary Huey thudded
low overhead, disappearing behind the trees in the direction of the
Redstone Arsenal, the Army's neighboring missile test facility. As the
low-frequency throb of the blades faded from earshot, it was replaced by
the gentle swish of grass sprinklers and the chatter of cicadas.

| was met at the entrance of the main building of the complex by a
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woman from public affairs. Aswemoved throughthelobby, she sketched
in some of the background to the program I'd come to talk about with its
manager, Garry Lyles.

Under the Advanced Space Transportation Program, ASTP, officials
a NASA Marshall have been working since the mid-1990s on methods
to reduce the cost of space access. Using today's generation of launch
vehicles—the Space Shuttle Orbiter, the Delta and Atlas rockets—it
costs around $10,000 per pound to put a satellite into low Earth orbit.
One short-term payoff of ASTP will be the development of a family of
reusable rocket planes that should cut these costs by a factor of ten by
the end of the present decade. A mid-term goal, due to yield results
in around 2015, is to develop a hybrid "combined cycle® engine—
half-rocket, half-jet engine—that will reduce launch costs by afactor of
a hundred. Even though the hybrid engine, if it can be mastered
technologically, will give NASA space access for as little as $100 per
pound, it will never lead to anything other than a delivery system to low
Earth orbit.

For missions beyond Earth, scientists will either have to rely
on improvements to the chemical rocket or on something radically
different.

For a mission to the planets of the inner solar system a nuclear rocket
could be developed in arelatively compressed timescale to cut round-trip
journey times from Earth to Mars from many months to possibly just
weeks. The feasibility of nuclear rockets had been proven in two NASA-
developed solid corefission reactor test programs, NERV A and ROVER,
between 1959 and 1972. These never came to fruition, my PR guide told
me, due to concerns over safety and aso because emerging and more
advanced nuclear fusion technology was seen as yielding three times the
efficiencies. Like the fission rockets, however, fusion systems never
happened either—not in the whiteworld, anyhow. Inthe early 1990s, the
Pentagon was reported to be working on a classified nuclear thermal
rocket under the code name "Timberwind," but soon afterward it was
canceled. Since the black world is publicly unaccountable, it is impos-
sible to know whether this really was the case.

Lightweight nuclear fusion propulsion is one methodology being
studied for a manned NASA mission to Mars, my guide continued as
we drifted toward the elevators, alongside "light-sails," "magnetic
sails" "antimatter fusion drives," lasers and other exotic-sounding
technologies.

While the physics behind these ideas is generally well understood, she
added, the challenge in turning them into hardware is enormous.
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But ASTP did not end there. In addition to examining ways to provide
cheaper accessto low Earth orbit and coming up with propulsion systems
that by the second half of the century will lead to "the commercialization
of the inner solar system," its original task went alot further.

Into an elevator, half a dozen floors up, and we emerged into a world
of bright walls, carpeted floors, posters of exotic spacecraft and artists
impressions of planetary systems, constellations and nebul ae.

Up ahead, through an open door, sitting behind a large desk, Garry
Lyles—bespectacled, bearded and thoughtful -looking—was waiting.

"Within a hundred years," he told me over coffee, his soft southern
drawl catching with emotion, "we'll be going to the next star system.”

He spoke about the journey with such absolute conviction that it was
difficult, in spite of the sheer fantasy at the heart of theidea, not to believe
him. Lyles was a dreamer, but his dreams were rooted in work that was
going on within the Wernher von Braun administrative complex as we
spoke. ASTP scientists at Huntsville—people working right on the edge
of what was known and understood in the harsh world of propulsion
physics—were collaborating with other NASA facilities on science that
would enable astronauts to make a "fast trip" to the Alpha Centauri star
system, Earth's nearest stellar neighbor, 4.3 light-years away. As head of
this portion of ASTP, Lyles was bound up in the immensity of the
challenge.

| asked what he meant by a "fast trip."

"We have st a god to go to Alpha Centauri in 50 years—a 50-year
trip." He stared at me intently as he rocked back in his chair. "You have
to really use your imagination to come up with a propulsion system that
will do that."

"When will you be able to make that trip?' | asked.

He gestured to another part of the complex visible beyond the blinds
of hiswindow. "We have agroup of thinkers out there that's beyond anti-
matter. They're looking at space warp, ways to get to other stars in a Star
Trek-like fashion. If we're not thinking about that kind ofthing today,
we won't be going to the stars in a hundred years time. But | have to tell
you that if you talk to these people, these engineers who are working on
interstellar missions, they think they can do it. And | have no doubt that
they'reright."

The trip, he reiterated, would be possible before the end of the 21st
century.

The phone rang and Lyles took it, allowing me a moment to
consolidate my thoughts. His team, he said, had opted for a 50-year trip
because it represented a time span most engineers could get their heads
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around. Fifty years, however, made no sense from the point of view
of a practical mission, because even if it could be accomplished tech-
nologically, old age (or boredom) would havekilled most of the crew long
before they ever got there, let alone back again.

But that wasn't the point. The "extra-Solar System" portion of ASTP
was about getting scientists to think about realizing impossible journeys.
In 1960, there were those who said that landing aman on the moon by the
end of the decade would be impossible. That we weren't colonizing Mars
by the end of the 20th century, they maintained, was directly attributable
to the drop-off in research activity that followed the Apollo program. If
we wanted to get to the stars by the end of the 21st, Lyles said, we needed
to be thinking about it now.

Which, though he didn't know it, was why | was here.

In 1956, a group of engineers had talked openly about an impossible
idea. Lyles "fast trip" to Alpha Centauri was so impossible, histeam was
having to really reach—to think way out of the box—to come up even
with half-answers to the challenge. To make the fast trip happen, NASA
had no choice but to tap heavily into some taboo areas of science. That
was my lead.

Supposing for a moment that NASA could come up with a vehicle
capable of light-speed, a one-way trip to Alpha Centauri would take 4.3
light-years. Since the speed of light was a constant 186,000 miles per
second, by extrapolation, the spaceship would be moving at almost 670
million miles per hour.

The 50-year journey time reduced the requirements to a more
manageable 16,000 miles per second or 57.6 million miles per hour.

| had only once come across real hardware (aside from a laser, the
ultimate "speed of light" weapon) about which comparable speeds had
been mentioned.

Shiva Star, the 250-ton capacitor 1'd seen at Kirtland Air Force Base
in New Mexico in 1992, had had a task to fire a plasma bullet at 10,000
km per second.

Andthen, just afew yearslater, when | returned to Kirtland, it waslike
the program never existed.

In the carefully regulated temperature of Lyles office, | shivered.

Shiva's plasmabullet, designed to be dumped into the soft electronics
of an incoming nuclear warhead at one-thirtieth the speed of light, was
but one of a handful of deep black programs I'd encountered in the
course of my career.

How many more secrets existed bel ow the waterline of accountability?
What other secrets were out there? What was the ultimate weapon? The
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questions churned, as they always did in a place like this, amost too fast
for me to get a hold on them.

What Lyles and his counterparts in the black world shared was their
absolute belief that they could engineer things other people said were
impossible. It was a part of the feeling | got when | visited facilities like
this and it thrilled and scared me with equal measure.

Why had Marckus sent me here? What did Lyles know?

When he got off the phone, | asked Lyles if he ever felt NASA was
developing technology that had previously been developed by the Air
Force in the black. He took a moment before answering, choosing his
wordscarefully. | thought that by tweaking his professional pride| might
be able to ruffle some of that soft, southern savoir-faire. But Lyles had
seen me coming. "Yeah, sometimes we do. But you have to understand
that going into space is avery hard thing to accomplish. It takes alot more
than money. | would guess—certainly when it comes to single-stage-to-
orbit technology—that NASA is at the cutting edge."

This was the essence of the multilayered conundrum that Marckus
had touched upon during our meeting on the estuary. While NASA was
struggling to develop technology that would reduce the cost of space
access, there were those that said that the Air Force had aready solved
the problem. Believers in Aurora, the large triangular aircraft supposedly
sighted over the ail rig in the North Sea, maintained that at least one
variant was capable of conducting single-stage missions to low Earth
orbit. If, as George S. Trimble and his contemporaries had stated back in
1956, the U.S. was on the threshold of developing antigravity tech-
nology, why spend billions on something as conventional (by com-
parison) as Aurora 20 years later? Or any other advanced kind of weapon
system for that matter?

But when Lyles said that he doubted the Air Force had cracked single-
stage-to-orbit, | actually had no way of knowing what he really knew.
There was every chance that NASA was simply repeating work the Air
Force had already carried out—and this applied to al aspects of its work
"on the cutting edge."

I knew of several Congressmen who were deeply pissed off about it.
On their watch, they'd committed money to a number of NASA
programs knowing damn well, but unable to prove it, the Air Force had
duplicate technology up its deeve.

A number of NASA scientists | had spoken to in other fields of
endeavor had acknowledged afeeling—though it was often no more than
this—that their work was a mirror image of some hidden effort, some-
thing they couldn't see, that was going on in the black. If NASA
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scientists, therefore, were thinking "way out of the box" to come up with
science that would enable them to reach another star system by the end
of the century, maybe someone, somewhere had experienced that same
feeling.

If anyone at Marshall had sensed such a presence, it would have been
George Schmidt. Lyles recommended | go talk to Schmidt, because
Schmidt, being a project engineer, was right on the cutting edge. A big,
genial man with afootball player's physique and a marine-style haircut,
Schmidt, as head of propulsion, research and technology on the ASTP
effort, waded routinely through the theory that could one day transform
Lyles interstellar vision into real hardware. Still under escort, | found
him down a maze of corridors in a different part of the von Braun
administrative complex.

Schmidt punctuated his remarks with references to "superlumi-
nal velocities'—faster-than-light speeds—and "space-time distortion,"
phenomena that weren't even accepted by mainstream physics ("al-
though General Relativity and Quantum Mechanics don't discount the
possibility"). By the same token, he said, there were some holes
in current thinking—"some windows of opportunity we may be able to
take advantage of—that might transition the theory sooner rather than
later. One of these related to so-caled "wormholes," shortcuts through
the universe that could be created with large amounts of "negative-energy
density matter”: material that existed only on the very fringes of theory.

Since it was known from the established physics of General Relativity
that gravity, electromagnetism and space-time were interrelated phe-
nomena, he said, it followed that any distortion of space-time might well
yield an antigravity effect.

Questioned on the principles of awormhole, Schmidt quickly warmed
to his theme. "It's based on the idea that you can actually curve space,”
he told me. "Einstein discovered that large masses curve space. Well, it's
the same thing with a wormhole. You're curving and distorting space so
that you don't have to follow the usual dimensions—you can go up and
out, so to speak, into another dimension, if you will. And that allows you
to travel much faster than the speed of light."”

| asked him if he ever got the feeling that anyone was working on this
stuff elsewhere; that there may even have been breakthroughs—ten,
twenty, maybe forty years earlier. His reply was more candid than | had
anticipated.

"That's always a possibility. I'm not one for conspiracy theories, but
we've learned about things that governments and organizations have
been involved in in the past."
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He paused and rubbed the bristle hairs at the back of his head. |
waited.

"It would be extremely frustrating to think that we're duplicating what
was done maybe decades before. We like to think we're on the cutting
edge, at the forefront of knowledge. It would be very discouraging to
think that everything had been determined before and we were just sort
of ... here for show. | hope that's not the case. But you never know.
Maybe in some aspects it is."

It was then that my PR escort interjected.

"You know," she said, "l really don't think thisis anything that we can
comment on in any depth."

| knew that the topic of conversation had taken an unwelcome turn.
Now, | had intruded far enough.

"I'm simply trying to get afeel for the kind of capabilities that are out
there—on both sides of the fence," | replied.

"Then maybe you should go talk to the Air Force," she said crisply. In
any case, | was talking to the wrong people at NASA, she added. Hunts-
ville was where the big picture behind the interstellar vision came to-
gether. But, she said, the "breakthrough physics' that would one day lead
to the engineering of a "device" was being managed by the NASA Glenn
Research Center at Lewis Field in Cleveland. It was from there, not here,
that NASA was actively in the process of handing out contracts that
aimed to prove or disprove whether there was any substance to the theory.

If I wanted to know whether the physics was doable, get up there, she
told me. Talk to a guy caled Millis. Marc Millis.

Before | left, | had one last question for Schmidt. | asked him if he
genuinely believed that awormhole might one day give man the ability to
Cross the universe.

"Yeah," he said, smiling but serious at the same time. "If you can build
awormhole, certainly. Who knows? But you've gotta be careful to make
sure you've got the right end point. Who knows where you'll end up if
you just generate it? You could end up anywhere in the universe. So
that's something to be very careful about."

Six hundred miles to the northeast in Cleveland, Ohio, but aworld away
culturally, Marc Millis had indeed just received a half-million-dollar
contract to test whether there was any theory out there, anything at all,
that might one day enable a propulsion device to be built with the energy
to take man out of the Solar System and into interstellar space.

Millis ran the NASA Breakthrough Propulsion Physics program,
referred to in the trade as BPP.
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"Thisisit," he told me, gesturing to the modest office he shared with
another NASA official whose head wasjust visible on the other side of the
screen that set the boundaries of Millis work space. It had taken some
hard negotiating after Huntsville, but | had managed to secure a visit to
the Glenn Research Center, NASA's "center of excellence for aero-
propulsion research and technology,” on my way to Washington, where
I was due to conduct some interviews for the magazine before heading on
down to Puthoff's place in Austin, Texas.

With his half a million dollars, Millis had awarded five contracts, any
one of which might lead to the breakthrough that gave BPP its name.

The first contract, placed with the University of Washington, Settle,
was designed to test theory which maintained that achange in inertiawas
possible with a sudden energy-density change, induced, say, by amassive
jolt of electricity. Manipulate inertia—an object's innate resistance to
acceleration—and apply it to a spacecraft and you had the ability to
reduce, if not negate altogether, its need for propellant. If the sums were
right, it would continue to accelerate until it reached light-speed.

The second experiment was tasked with examining the reality of the
so-called zero-point energy field and whether it existed at anything like
the magnitudes that had been postulated by some scientists. If these
people were even half right, Millis said, zero-point energy held enormous
significance for space travel and offered entirely new sources of non-
polluting energy on Earth.

What, | asked, was zero-point energy?

For some years, Millis replied, there had been a developing under-
standing that space was not the empty vacuum of traditional theory, but
a seething mass of energy, with particles flashing in and out of existence
about their "zero-point” baselines. Tests indicated that even in the
depths of a vacuum chilled to absolute zero (minus 273.15°C)—the zero
point of existence—this energy would not go away. The trouble was, no
one knew quite where it was coming from. It was just there, abackground
radiation source that no one could adequately explain. With millions,
perhaps billions, of fluctuations occurring in any given second, it was
theoretically possible to draw some—perhaps a lot—of that energy from
our everyday surroundings and get it to do useful work. If it could be
"mined"—both on Earth and in space—it offered an infinite and
potentially limitless energy source.

The third experiment, he continued, would set out to examine the
unproven link between electromagnetism and gravity and its possible
impact on space-time. Perturbations of space-time not only promised a
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propulsive antigravitational effect, but opened up other more esoteric
possibilities, such as time travel.

| asked Millis if this stuff was for rea and for a moment he looked
unsure. The mere mention of time travel and we were suddenly into
science-fiction territory. It was enough to put any serious scientist on the
defensive.

"The immediate utility is not obvious," he said stiffly, "but it's like a
foot in the door."

The fourth experiment looked at "superluminal quantum tunneling”-
faster-than-light speed. Recent laboratory tests had shown light pulses
accelerating beyond the speed of light, thereby shattering Einstein's
Theory of Relativity, which said that the light-speed barrier was un-
breachable. If alight pulse could arrive at its destination before it left its
point of departure, the theory said a spacecraft might be able to as well.

"How it translates into space travel," Millis said, anticipating my next
guestion, "is way down the pike."

Again | was presented with afailure of fit. If NASA was dtill struggling
with the theory how—40 years and a world of knowledge after the
pronouncements of George S. Trimble and his colleaguesin 1956—what
on earth had led them to believe they could crack gravity then?

Something I'd written down tugged me back to the present. | flicked
back over the list of experiments and did a quick inventory count.

"You sad there were five contracts. I've only got four. What's the
fifth?"

He looked momentarily taken aback.

"It's conducted under the auspices of the Marshall Space Flight
Center itself,” he said. "Since you'd just come from there | rather
presumed they'd briefed you on it."

| shook my head. "Briefed me on what?"

Millis reached into a drawer and pulled out afile full of newspaper
clippings and magazine articles. He rifled through them until he found
what he was looking for, a clipping from Britain's Sunday Telegraph
dated September 1,1996. The headlineread: "Breakthrough As Scientists
Beat Gravity."

"I'm surprised you didn't know about this" he said, pointing to its
source.

| said nothing. | had a photocopy of the same story in my filesat home.
I'd not taken much notice of it because it had seemed totally outlandish.

The story detailed the experiments of a Russian materials scientist
caled Dr. Evgeny Podkletnov, who claimed to have discovered an
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Breakthrough
asscientists
beat gravity

antigravity effect while working with a team of researchers at Tampere
University of Technology in Finland. What made the claim different
from "so-cdled 'antigravity' devices put forward by both amateur and
professional scientists,” wrote the paper's science correspondent, was
that it had survived "intense scrutiny by skeptical, independent experts.”
It had been put forward for publication inJournal ofPhysics D: Applied
Physics, published by Britain's Institute of Physics.

When the Telegraph hit the streets, Podkletnov's world turned upside
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down. He was abandoned by his friends, ostracized by the university,
which claimed that the project did not haveits official sanction (and later
threw him out), and the journal pulled his paper. Leaving his wife and
family in Tampere, Podkletnov returned to Moscow to lick his wounds
until the furor had died down.

And al because the Sunday Telegraph had used asingle, taboo word in
its opening sentence: antigravity. The term may have been vital for 1950s
pulp sci-fi, but it had no place in the world of mainstream physics.

What was unfair, was that Podkletnov had been so careful to avoid the
term himself. All along, he had referred to the test as a gravity-shielding
experiment.

It was dtill heresy; and he had burned for it.

But here was Millis saying that NASA had taken Podkletnov's claims
seriously. Not only that, but NASA had been apprised of the "gravity-
shielding" properties of superconductors even before the Sunday
Telegraph story broke.

| wondered why no one had told me about al this while | was in
Huntsville.

In 1993, the Advanced Concepts office at the Marshall Space Flight
Center was handed a copy of a paper written by two physicists, Douglas
Torr and Ning Li, at the University of Alabama at Huntsville. It was
called "Gravitoelectric-electric coupling via superconductivity” and
predicted how superconductors—materials that lose their eectrica
resistance at low temperatures—had the potential to alter gravity. Even
if the amounts were fractional, NASA officials quickly saw the benefits.
Applied to something like a rocket, even fractional methods for cutting
launch weights would, over time, lead to a considerable reduction in the
space agency's fuel hills.

In their paper, Torr and Li went out of their way to avoid the term
"antigravity." One whiff of it, they knew, and no one would take their
work serioudly.

It worked. NASA promised money for an experiment.

But when the Podkletnov story broke, Millistold me, NASA decided
to take amulti-path approach instead. First it tried to contact Podklethov
to see if he would share his findings with them. When the Russian
refused, it elected to do the experiments itself, setting up the "DeltaG
group" at Marshall specifically to look for interactions between super-
conductorsand gravity.

At first, Ning Li, the brilliant Chinese woman scientiss who had
predicted a one percent weight change in her original calculations, joined
forces with the DeltaG effort. Then, apparently frustrated by the pace of
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work at Marshall, she set up to pursue the experiments on her own. If she
was getting anywhere with them, she wasn't saying, al her most recent
tests having been conducted behind closed doors.

Since that time, according to Millis, the DeltaG group had found
causeto believe that something unusual was happening when gravity fields
were influenced by superconductors, although the precise nature of the
effect was a matter of conjecture. Podkletnov had claimed that two
percent weight reductions were being consistently observed during his
experiments—a result, if you could call it that, that was so close to the
Torr/Li prediction it was scary.

Like the whirling gyroscopes investigated by BAe, the low percentages
were, in a sense, immaterial. What was being talked about here—and
apparently engineered by Podkletnov—was a phenomenon that science
said was impossible.

The DeltaG experiments at Marshall continued, but, without
Podkletnov's input, Millis admitted that things had not gone as fast as
NASA would have liked. Part of the problem had been its inability to
reproduce superconductors of the size and fidelity Podkletnov said was
required to achieve gravity shielding—a term with which even Millis,
who was broader-minded than most, was uncomfortable.

"It'smore accurate to call it an anomalous gravitational effect, but even
that is jumping the gun." It could, he said, simply be an experimental
error.

But what ifit wasn't? If Podkletnov was right, if he had found away of
altering an object's weight, aerospace was about to change—civilization,
too, maybe—and forever. Conscious, no doubt, that it might be staring
at the greatest scientific discovery sincethebomb, | could seewhy NASA
was hedging its bets.

It had solicited a company in Columbus, Ohio, to try to develop
superconducting ceramic discs like those built by Podkletnov. Without
the Russian's secret recipe, however, it hadn't been getting on as well as
it might. At the time of my visit to Ohio, the Columbus-based company
had managed to build small discs, but it still hadn't acquired the knack
for turning out the larger variety—the type that Podkletnov said was
crucial to the success of the experiment. And this was the bittersweet
irony. Being amaterials scientist, Podkletnov had an insight into the way
the discs were constructed that left NASA, with its $13 billion annual
budget, floundering in his wake. Tempting as it was to view Huntsville's
silence over Podkletnov as a deliberately misleading omission, | sus-
pected that NASA's impotence in the face of this irony was the red
reason no one had mentioned him.
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On the flight down to Texas, | picked through a pile of clippings I'd
managed to track down during my brief stopover in Washington. From
the little that was known of Podkletnov's Tampere experiments, it was
apparent that the superconductors needed to be spun at around 5,000
rpm inside a large steel container filled with liquefied gas for cooling.
Electromagnets were used to make the superconductors levitate and get
them up to speed. In the absence of any firm data on Podkletnov's discs,
though, attemptsby NASA to duplicate hiswork wereinconclusive asfar
as gravity shielding was concerned. A couple of times, the readings had
blipped—a little like Dr. Evans' experience with the Kidd inertial thrust
machine at BAe—but they were never consistent enough to be taken
seriously.

If Podkletnov knew al this, | thought—and somehow or other, |
guessed he probably did—then he was more than likely pissing himself
laughing.

Either he had perpetrated a fantastic confidence trick, or he really had
pulled off one of the greatest scientific discoveries of the 20th century.

So, where the hell was Podkletnov?

The best and only clues to his whereabouts had been provided by
an American journalist named Charles Platt who had documented his
attempts to track down Podkletnov in a lengthy article for Wired
magazine. After the Sunday Telegraph story, Platt managed to get a
phone number for Podkletnov and they spoke a couple of times, but only
on the basis that Platt wouldn't publish anything without the Russian's
consent.

"He told me how he made his discovery,” Platt wrote more than ayear
later, quoting the Russian: " 'Someone in the laboratory was smoking a
pipe and the pipe smoke rose in a column above the superconducting
disc. So we placed a ball-shaped magnet above the disc, attached to a
balance. The balance behaved strangely. We substituted a non-magnetic
material, silicon, and still the balance was very strange. We found that
any object above the disc lost some of its weight, and we found that if we
rotated the disc, the effect was increased.'

When Platt suggested that huge amounts of energy would be required
for this to be remotely so, Podkletnov reportedly became irritated.

"We do not need a lot of energy,” he'd snapped back. "We don't
absorb the energy of the gravitational field. We may be controlling it as a
transistor controls the flow of electricity. No law of physics is broken. |
am not one crazy guy in a lab; we had a team of six or seven, al good
scientists.”
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And that, for the next year or o, was that. It was only when an
intermediary told Platt that Podkletnov had returned to Finland, where
he was now set up as a materials scientist in a local company, that the
American jumped in a plane and finally managed to confront the man
who'd dared to claim he had shielded gravity.

What Podkletnov had been doing during his yearlong self-imposed
exile in Moscow was never made clear, although the Russian soon hinted
that he had not been idle. He was quick to explain to Platt that his original
findings at Tampere had been meticulously charted using a mercury
barometer. Immediately above the superconducting disc, it had regis-
tered a4 mm drop in air pressure, because, the Russian said, emphasizing
the point, the air itself had been reduced in weight.

When he'd taken the barometer upstairs, Podkletnov had found the
same drop in pressure over the point where the experiment was taking
place on the floor below. He went up to the top floor of the building and
it was the same thing.

This showed that gravity reduction would not diminish with distance,
that the effect had no limit. Podkletnov's gravity shiddd went on,
extending upward in a 30 cm diameter column—forever.

And then, if that wasn't good enough, pay dirt. The two percent
weight reduction in all the air above the disc meant that a vehicle
equipped with gravity shielding would be able to levitate, buoyed up by
the heavier air below.

"I'm practically sure" Podkletnov had told Platt, giving him an
intense look, "that within ten years this will be done. If not by NASA,
then by Russia.”

During his year in Russia, he went on to reveal, he had conducted
research at an unnamed "chemical scientific research center" where he
had built a device that reflected gravity. By using superconduc-
tors, resonating fields and speciad coatings—and "under the right
conditions'—gravitational waves had been repelled instead of blocked.
Applied to an air vehicle, Podkletnov said, this "second generation of
flying machineswill reflect gravity wavesand be small, light and fast, like
UFOs. | have achieved impulsereflection; now the task isto make it work
continuously."

Their meeting over, Podkletnov dlipped back into the shadows and
Platt returned home. While there had been sightings of Podkletnov in the
years since—reports of his whereabouts had surfaced in Japan, Russia
and Finland—he had, to al intents and purposes, disappeared again.

Back in the States, Platt canvassed the physics mainstream for its
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reaction to the Podkletnov claims. Most scientists laughed outright.
Gravity shielding, they said, was simply inconceivable.

I made a note on the flight home to ask Marckus to keep his ear to the
ground for signs of the Russian's whereabouts. It was tempting to believe
that Podkletnov was by now working in the bowels of a crumbling
military research institute somewhere deep behind the Urals, refininghis
experiments to the accompaniment of a howling Siberian gade. And
maybe this wasn't a million miles from the truth.

But scientists had a habit of talking to one another, whatever obstacles
seemed to separate them. And since Podkletnov had shown himself to be
loquacious enough when it suited him, | thought he'd probably surface
again before too long.

When he did, | needed to be there.

| was intrigued by the Russian's work. It echoed something that Pro-
fessor Young had said in his lecture on antigravity—something that had
sounded right at the time. If gravity control is ever to be discovered,
Y oung had said, it would most likely be as an unexpected by-product of
work in some completely different field. An accident.

Podkletnov hadn't been looking for an antigravity effect. Hed been
playing around with superconductors. If he'd been working in a Western
laboratory, his discovery might have forever gone unnoticed. But in
Russia—and Finland, too, apparently—it was OK to light up apipeina
room full of test equipment. And, bingo, the smoke had hit the column
of shielded air and snaked straight up to the ceiling.

It struck me as not impossible that Podkletnov had discovered—in a
million-to-one fluke—what Trimble et a had predicted theoretically in
1956.

Had Podkletnov tripped over the answer and got in by the back door?

If anyone knew, it was Dr. Hal Puthoff, the second of the two contacts
passed to me by Marckus during our meeting by the estuary.

Even in the cocooning environment of the aircraft, nursing a stiff
drink, | felt anxious at the prospect of meeting him.

Up until now, I'd managed to palm off my interest in NASA's
advanced propulsion activities as a quirky sideline to my regular
journalistic pursuits. | knew, though, that when | pitched up at Puthoff's
door, a discreet address remote from any other legitimate aerospace
business, there'd be no hiding what | was really up to.
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| reached Puthoff's offices after a drive through the industrial suburbs of
the Texas state capital, parked and double-checked that | had the right
address. | had expected the Institute of Advanced Studies to be housed
in another windowless science block, a modern version of the concrete
edifices at NASA, replete with clean rooms and scientists swishing
around in white coats. But the IAS was a small glass-fronted officein a
leafy business park. Several of the other lots were vacant and at least one
was boarded up.

Puthoff's reputation as a scientist of vast repute went along way before
him. His paperson gravity and inertiawere viewed as semina worksby the
science community. He also sat on something called the Advanced Deep
Space Transport group, ADST, a low-profile organization composed of
people that someone had described as being "on the frontier of the
frontier." Staffed by select NASA, Air Force and industry representatives,
it wasthereal cutting edge, but you had to know where to look for it.

Puthoff'slink to NASA was bound up in theoretical work that he had
been conducting since the early 1970s into the zero-point energy field.

Before getting out of the car, | was beset with a rush of all the old
doubts. Did | really want to declare my interest in antigravity to a man
who had clear connectionsto the intelligence community?

| checked my watch. It wasalittle after five-thirty in the morning back
in England, but | needed reassurance. | called Marckus on my cell phone.

He picked up on the second ring, sounding bright and alert. |
wondered for a moment whether Marckus ever slept, then dispensed
with the small talk and told him of my concerns.

Marckus, showing a tendency that would become familiar over the
course of our acquaintance—a tendency to impart knowledge well after
thetime | needed it most—informed methat NASA, being agovernment
institution, was, in effect, the outer marker of an elaborate but invisible
security system.

"How's that?" | asked.

"Y ou show up asking the kind of questions you asked at Huntsville and
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Cleveland and, believe me, someone, somewhere will have registered the
fact. | have little doubt that you began pulsing away on radar scopes at
government agencies too numerous to mention the moment you even
logged your requests to visit NASA. You've already crossed the thresh-
old. It'stoo late to go back now."

| felt the muscles in my stomach tighten, but | said nothing. This
propensity to unsettle was also a part of Marckus' act. | asked him
instead, as casually as | could, for a data dump on everything that was
known about zero-point energy (ZPE).

I'd already grasped the principles: that space—the air that we
breathed, the atoms in our bodies, the far reaches of the cosmos,
everything—was filled with a churning "foam" of energy. Its presence
was signified by the background static hiss of the universe—something
you could hear on atransistor radio—but as far as visual detection went,
was invisible. Which was what made it so controversial.

In 1948, Marckus told me, a Dutch physicist, Hendrik Casimir, came
up with a theoretical model for proving that the "quantum vacuum'
existed. If two aluminum plates were placed very close together, so close
that their separation was less than the wavelengths of the fleeting
particles in the quantum foam, it followed, Casimir reasoned, that there
would be nothing between the plates.

Because the theory said that everything outside the plates would still
be seething with zero-point fluctations, the externa force pushing in on
the plates ought to be enough to close them together, thereby proving the
existence of the ZPE field.

The difficulty, however, related to the experiment. To exclude the
wavelengths of the fluctuating particles, Casimir's plates had to be
exactly parallel and separated by less than one micron—one hundredth
the width of a human hair. It wasn't until 1997 that science was able to
come up with equipment that could satisfy thetolerancesrequired for the
Casimir experiment. When it did, it found that the Casimir Effect existed
exactly as predicted.

And with it flowed the corollary that the quantum vacuum, zero-point
energy—call it what you will—existed as well.

In principle, there was no reason why mechanisms couldn't be built to
tap into this energy.

And since the fleeting particles were popping in and out of existence
billions of times every second, on every conceivable frequency, in every
possble direction, there was, theoretically speaking, no limit to the
amount of energy resulting from the fluctuations.

In principle. Theoretically speaking.
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"The argument now is not about whether the ZPE field exists”
Marckus concluded, "but about how much energy it contains. It comes
down to a difference in peopl€'s calculations and interpretations. Some
say that there's enough energy in a shoe box to blow the world apart;
others say that all the ZPE in the volume of the Earth couldn't boil you
an egg with it." He paused. "I think you'll find with Puthoff that it's
closer to the shoe-box scenario.” And then he signed off.

| locked the car, walked over to the IAS office, pushed the glass and
watched asit swung open. Therewasno oneinthefront office, so | called
out a couple of times and, not getting any answer, moved toward the back
of thebuilding. | followed acorridor till | heard aman'’s voice. Poking my
head around a door, | saw Puthoff sitting on the edge of his desk, a phone
jammed to his ear. He was shorter than he'd appeared in photographs,
but his puckish features and thick head of hair belied his 60-odd years.
He waved me in, pointed with a mock grimace to the voice on the other
end of the receiver, and gestured for me to grab a seat. A couple of
minutes later, he hung up, muttered something about a canceled meeting
in Washington, and asked if I'd like a coffee.

While we were standing by the coffee machine, | asked him which of
Marckus' analogies he inclined toward.

"If we're right," he said, as | stirred creamer into my coffee, "and you
have al possible directions of propagation in the universe, and all
possible frequencies and wavelengths, and every one of them has this
little contribution of zero-point energy, when you add it al up, the
numbers are ridiculous."

"How ridiculous?' | asked.

He paused and added matter-of-factly: "There's enough energy in the
volume of your coffee cup to evaporate all the world's oceans many times
over."

He showed me alarge workshop at the back of the building filled with
workbenches, electrodes and measuring equipment. This, Puthoff said,
was where he and his small team worked on the ZPE devices that people
routinely sent him for analysis; tiny little reactors that supposedly drew
energy out of the vacuum of space: the space that we occupied and the
space, in its quantum sense, that occupied us.

The machines came in al shapes and sizes. Some were solid-state
devices with no moving parts that used the pinching motion of the
Casimir effect to create clusters of electrical charge with energy outputs
many times greater than the kick they required to get going.

Others used the millions of imperceptible yet infinite movements of
the quantum foam to stimulate a vibrating motion in magnetic fields.
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These vibrating fields, their proponents claimed, served as "gates' via
which unending supplies of vacuum energy could be fed through
electronic circuits and put to use.

If they could be proven to work repeatedly and reliably, Puthoff said,
imagine it: no more pulling power off the national grid. You'd have a
reactor in a box in your backyard; a little thing the size of a microwave
oven that sucked energy from the space that it occupied and belted out
clean, unending power wherever it was needed. Initial machines would
feed power to your house, but later, as they developed in sophistication,
just as computers had developed exponentially at the end of the 20th
century, these devices would shrink in size and double in output; and
they'd keep on shrinking and doubling, over and over, until they'd be
small and powerful enough to put in cars or aircraft or submarines.
Applications would be limited only by the imagination of the user.

"If" | said. "You said, 'if." "

"Ah, well, that's the point," he replied. "Of the 30-odd devices that have
come through this door, none has passed the magic test yet: ademonstrable
measurement of more energy flowing out than is flowing in."

But it would happen. Maybe tomorrow, maybe in 30 years. But for
sure, one day someone was going to announce that they'd invented a
machine that could extract energy from the immeasurable pulse of the
universe. It'd rate a paragraph in the news-briefs columns, but clip it or
keep the paper, mark it well, Puthoff said, because on that day the world
would change. Nothing would ever be the same again.

As he talked, Puthoff filled in the gaps in the résumé that I'd pulled off
the Net. Soon after gaining his master's degree at the University of
Florida, he went on active duty as a Naval Intelligence officer seconded
to the National Security Agency. When he left the Navy, he converted to
civilian status at the NSA, then went on sabbatical at Stanford University
in Californiato get his Ph.D. He gained his Ph.D. in 1967, resigned from
the NSA and soon afterward joined the Stanford Research Institute, a
spin-off from the university, st up, among other things, to pursue
heavily classified research for the U.S. defense and intelligence com-
munities. Puthoff's thing was lasers, but it was at SRI that he developed
the notion of the remote-viewing program for the CIA and the DIA. The
RV work formed the hub of the "heavily classified research” that he
undertook at SRI for the next 13 years.

| asked how he'd made the jump from lasers to remote viewing.

"It sounds weird, but it was a very straightforward thing," he said. In
the early 1970s, physicists were searching everywhere for evidence of
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tachyons—particles that theoretically had the ability to travel faster than
light. Finding them was problematic, because, if the theory was right,
they couldn't travel below light-speed, making identification somewhat
challenging.

Someone had given Puthoff abook called Psychic DiscoveriesBehindthe
Iron Curtain, which mentioned how Soviet scientists were looking for
evidence of ESP in plant life. The Russians had connected up a pair of
plants to polygraphs, separated them over huge distances and shielded
them from all electromagnetic frequencies. They found that when one
plant was burned with a cigarette, or even if someone was thinking about
it, the other plant responded on the polygraph.

Since one of the postulated characteristics of tachyons was that they
could penetrate al kinds of shielding, it occurred to Puthoff that one of
the few places that scientists hadn't looked for tachyons was in "organic
living systems." He wrote up a proposal that aimed to verify if plants
were "tachyonically connected" by linking separated algae cultures with
lasers. He sent the proposal to an acquaintance involved in similar work
who happened to show it to Ingo Swann, a noted psychic and medium,
who in turn approached Puthoff, assuming that he was interested in ESP.
Even though he wasn't, Puthoff was sufficiently intrigued to invite
Swann to SRI, where he proposed to immerse him in a "shielded quark
magnetometer," a"tank" in avault that wastotally cut off from all known
emissions and frequencies.

As Swann approached the vault, which he hadn't been forewarned
about, he appeared to perturb the operation of the magnetometer. The
dialsand instrumentsinsideit al flickered into life. He then added insult
to injury by remote viewing the interior of the apparatus, "rendering by
drawing a reasonable facsimile of its rather complex construction,”
according to Puthoff, even though details of it had never been published
anywhere.

Puthoff wrote up his findings, circulated the report among his
colleagues and got on with other work.

A couple of weeks later, the CIA showed up at his door and invited him
to sat up aclassified research program to see if it was technically feasible
to use clairvoyance to spy on the Soviet Union. It turned out that the CIA
had been tracking Soviet efforts to do the same thing for severa years,
but didn't believe what it was seeing. It was only when Puthoff wrote up
his paper that it put two and two together and thought it'd better set up
something of its own. And so the U.S.-controlled remote-viewing
program was born, with Puthoff as its director.

For the next decade and a half, U.S. "psychic spies’ roamed the Soviet
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Union, using nothing more than the power of their minds to reconnoiter
some of the Russians most secret R&D establishments. If you believed
what you read in published accounts of these people's activities, they
were able to roam not merely in three dimensions—up, down, left and
right—nbut in the fourth dimension as well: time. They could go back in
time to review targets and they could look at them in the future as well.

Puthoff showed me a picture that one of his team of remote viewers
had drawn of an "unidentified research center at Semipalatinsk,” which
had been deeply involved in Soviet nuclear weapons work. He then
showed me some declassified artwork of the same installation, presum-
ably drawn from a U.S. spy satellite photograph. The two were damn
near identical.

It all seemed along way from zero-point energy, gravity and inertia, in
which Puthoff had been busying himself even before he left the remote-
viewing field.

Or was it?

In arecent paper written by Puthoff, which | had already seen, he'd
mentioned that the Russian physicist and Nobel prizewinner Andrei
Sakharov had published a paper in 1967 suggesting that gravity and
inertia might be linked to what was then still a highly theoretical
proposition: vacuum fluctuations of the zero-point energy field. Now
that the zero-point energy field had been proven to exist, "there is
experimental evidence that vacuum fluctuations can be altered by
technological means," Puthoff had written in the paper. "This leads to
the corollary that, in principle, gravitational and inertial masses can aso
bealtered.”

Puthoff was too smart to use the term—for al the reasons that
Podkletnov, Ning Li and the others hadn't—but he was saying that
antigravity was indeed possible.

And, so were the Russians. All you had to do—somehow—was
perturb the zero-point energy field around an object and, hey presto, it
would take off.

| asked him why NASA and the Air Force should be so interested in
ZPE when it was obvious that there weren't going to be any practical
applications of it for years—maybe centuries.

Puthoff looked at me in a meaningful way. "Unless we find a
shortcut.”

"Is that a possibility?"

"Podkletnov could have come across a shortcut.”

The maverick Russian materials scientist and the idea of pipe smoke
hitting a gravity shield had entered the conversation so abruptly that it
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caught me off guard. Puthoff was saying that anything was possible. And
this from aman who had spent most of his professional life plugged into
the heart of the classified defense environment.

| probed further, but gently. Were there already forms of aerospace
travel out there—in the black world, maybe—whose principles contra-
vened, if not the laws of physics, then at least our understanding of
aerodynamics?

He sucked the top of his pen, giving the question a lot of thought
before responding. "l've certainly talked to people who clam that
something is going on," he said, pausing to add: "I would say the
evidence is pretty solid."

| felt myself rock back on my chair.

| eased back on to the more comfortable subject of the NASA BPP
study. "Which of the five methods outlined in Breakthrough Propulsion
Physics would you say isthe one most likely to have apayoff?* | asked him.

Because of Puthoff's promotion of ZPE, | thought it inevitable that
this explanation would have figured in his answer. But it didn't. Without
even thinking about it, he said his money was on the third experiment—
the one about perturbing space-time; antigravity from time travel.

Given Puthoff's strong connections to the military-intelligence
community, it was tempting to dismiss all such talk as a deliberate blind,
something to lead me away from a more probable area of breakthrough.
But it didn't seem that way at all.

| liked Puthoff. He seemed on the level. Besides, one thing | had
learned after years of formal briefings and interviews was how difficult
scientists found it to lie when confronted with a direct question on their
chosen subject. Spooks could lie at the drop of a hat. It was what they
were trained to do. But scientists found it inherently unnatural, since it
contravened al their instincts to match a question quid pro quo with data.

Puthoff's answer to the question had been swift and visceral. And
there had been something else, too; a look on his face, a willingness to
confront my gaze, that in itself conveyed information.

We'd been talking about breakthroughs—events that, at a stroke, had
the power to short-circuit the evolutionary development of technol ogy.

The important thing about breakthroughs was that they didn't happen
over an extended period of time. They changed things overnight. And
they could occur at any moment.

It wasonly later, when | was back on the freeway, crawling south inthe
bumper-to-bumper traffic, that | had the feeling he'd been trying to tell
me that some kind of payoff from the third experiment had already
produced tangible results.



Chapter 11

If antigravity had been discovered in the white world, then some-
one, somewhere had to be perfecting it—maybe even building rea
hardware—in the black. The trouble was, | had no idea where to begin
looking for it. Contrary to the implicit promise of revelation contained in
Dr. Dan Marckus' hints by the estuary, neither Lyles nor Puthoff had
taken me any further in so far as hard-and-fast |eads were concerned.

On my return, | tried to raise Marckus. | left several messages on his
answering machine. In the first of them | foolishly spelled out the fact
that | didn't know awhole |lot more—beyond strict theory, at |east—than
| had before my trip to the States.

During subsequent calls, as the answering machine clicked in, | just
knew that Marckus wasthere—listening in, but refusing to pick up. | was
beginning to get the measure of this relationship. Marckus gave a little
and | had to give something back. He now knew that | had returned from
the States with nothing, so he was punishing mefor it. Well, | didn't need
to play psych games with some spook academic with a warped taste for
drama. | had enough on my plate already—a major feature article on
stealth technology to deliver. Antigravity, for the time being, was going
to have to go on the back burner and Marckus could stew with it.

As background, | reread an account of what is probably the most
definitive history of stealth to date: Skunk Works, the story of Lockheed
Martin's super-secretive specia projects facility, as told by the guy who
had run it for 16 years, Ben Rich.

In the summer of 1976, America's leading radar expert, Professor
Lindsay Anderson of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, arrived
at what was then the Lockheed Skunk Works in Burbank, California,
with a bag of ball bearings in his briefcase. The ball bearings ranged in
size from a golf ball to an eighth of an inch in diameter. Rich, a grizzled
veteran of Lockheed's secret projects department for more than 25 years,
led Anderson to amocked-up design of afunny-looking diamond-shaped
aircraft, poised on a plinth in the middle of a blacked-out hangar.

Over the course of the day, Anderson repeatedly attached the ball
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bearings to the nose of the aircraft, starting with the largest and ending
with the smallest, while Lockheed engineers fired radar signals at it.
What they were looking to measure was the radar cross section, or RCS,
of the prototype aircraft, code-named Have Blue. The moment the radar
picked up the ball bearing instead of the aircraft behind it was the
moment its RCS could be accurately plotted.

When the test was over, Anderson zipped the bearings back into his
case, left the site as quietly as he'd arrived and returned to MIT to
process the data.

A few days later, Rich received atelegram from the air force chief of
staff. Have Blue had been classified "Top secret—Special Access
Required,” a security grading reserved only for "quantum leaps’-
programs that jumped right over the state of the art. The first of these
super-secret "black” programs had been the atomic bomb. The telegram
had just pitched "stealth" into the same category of secrecy.

Have Blue's RCS had bettered every single one of the ball bearings
Anderson had attached to it—even the one that was sized down to an
eighth of an inch. This gave the aircraft and its operational successor, the
F-117A Stedlth Fighter, a radar signature equal to that of a bee-sized
insect. Stealth, which up to that point had been viewed by skeptics as
nothing more than puff and magic, suddenly went "deep black"—so
secret that no one outside the program would ever know it was there.
L ockheed had discovered away of making aircraft invisible to radar, but
the stakes were far, far higher even than that.

Soon after the late 1977 first flight of Have Blue from the U.S. Air
Force's remote testing base on the dry desert lake bed at Groom Lake,
Nevada, aso known as Area 51, Dr. Zbigniew Brzezinski, President
Jimmy Carter's national security adviser, flew into the facility in an
unmarked jet and grilled Rich about the true significance of his firm's
breakthrough. Rich put it on the line for him.

"It changes the way that air wars will be fought from now on. And it
cancels out al the tremendous investment the Russians have made in
their defensive ground-to-air system. We can overfly them any time at
will."

"There is nothing in the Soviet system that can spot it in time to
prevent ahit?' Brzezinski asked, jotting notes as he talked and listened.

"That is correct,” Rich replied simply.

After more than three decades of standoff between the two super-
powers, the realization made Carter's national security chief catch his
breath. If the Russians wanted to match stealth with counterstealth,
theoretically they could do it, but it would bankrupt them in the process.
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Stealth had the power to end the Cold War, but it also had the power in
the meantime—should the Russians realize what the Americans were up
to—to trigger World War Three.

Have Blue was a strange-looking aircraft. It didn't look mean and
hungry. It didn't look like the kind of plane that could start and end wars.
It had the appearance of a bunch of bolted-on geometric shapes that had
somehow been hammered into the vague outline of a jet. It turned out
there was more than a good reason for that.

Have Blue hadn't been the creative inspiration of an aerodynamicist,
but of a mathematician.

Begin with whatyou can see, then searchfor whatyou can't.

As | wrestled with the stealth feature, Marckus' words from our
meeting battered around my head, forming as adark thought with ablack
body and soft wings.

| had trawled the white world and found five possible pathways to
antigravity: manipulating an object's mass and/or inertia; exploitation of
the zero-point energy field; perturbations of the space-time continuum;
faster-than-light travel; and gravity shielding. None of them was visible
in the developmental activities of the U.S. aerospace industry, but just
because you couldn't see them, it didn't mean they weren't there.

Just as it had, or hadn't been with stealth a decade and a half earlier.

Ben Rich and | had sparred on a number of occasions on the stealth
question—most recently at an air show where he'd turned up, des
perately ill with cancer, to promote his book. I'd respected him utterly
and liked him hugely, sensing in his presence the grit and wisdom of a
generation of postwar aviation pioneers that wouldn't be around us for
much longer.

It was Rich who'd once told me of a place—a virtual warehouse—
where ideas that were too dangerous to transpose into hardware were
locked away forever, like the Ark of the Covenant in the final scene of
Raiders of the Lost Ark. It had almost happened to stealth.

By starting with stealth, something that | knew about, something |
could see, maybe | could pick up traces of that energy, the friction that
astronomers looked for when hunting down black holes.

In the year ahead, the calendar of aerospace and defense events showed
that | had multiple excuses for visiting the States—to look for the self-
generated heat of a buried antigravity effort's interaction with the real
world.

As | sat behind my desk, calling contacts and sources in an effort to
plug holes in the incomplete, still highly secret history of stealth, | could
hear the faint echo of a signal. It was almost impossible to decipher, but
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the cold side of my training, the part | kept separate from the muffled
wing beats of the creature let loose upon my thinking by Marckus, said
antigravity had something to do with the shared origins of the two most
powerful weapons of the 20th century—stealth and the atomic bomb.

Have Blue would never have happened, but for the work of a retired
L ockheed math guru named Bill Schroeder and a Skunk Works software
engineer named Denys Overholser. Schroeder revisited a set of mathe-
matical formulae originally derived by Maxwell and refined by aturn-of-
the-century German electromagnetics expert called Arnold Johannes
Sommerfeld. Between them, these two physicists predicted the manner
in which a given geometric shape would scatter or reflect electromagnetic
radiation. A Russian, Pyotr Ufimtsev, honed their work into a more
simplified set of equations in the early 1960s, but Ufimtsev could only
apply the equations to the most basic geometric shapes. Schroeder's and
Overholser's breakthrough had been to take Ufimtsev's concept and
apply it to the inherently complex form of an aircraft, rejecting the
regular smooth, curved lines of aerodynamic aesthetics in favor of a set
of ugly flat, angled panels. If an aircraft could be broken down into
hundreds, maybe thousands of these two-dimensional shapes, if each flat
surface or "facet" could be angled in away that would reflect an incoming
radar beam away from its source, and if the combined shape could still
create lift, then atrue "steath" aircraft was possible.

The irony, of course, was that stealth was in part a Soviet invention.
The Soviets had allowed Ufimtsev's paper to be published, because no
one east of the Iron Curtain had entertained the idea that such a complex
st of equations could ever be applied to an aircraft. It had taken
Overholser to pick it out from hundreds of other ponderous Soviet
science texts and draw the necessary conclusions.

Stealth, like the bomb, then, had owed its genesis to algebraic
formulae. In a sense, it was pure accident that it had been discovered
within the nuts-and-bolts world of the aerospace industry.

Podkletnov's apparent discovery of gravity shielding in Tampere,
Finland, had been an accidental by-product of the Russian's work with
superconductors.

What they al shared was their origins in pure math and physics.

That thought gnawed at me as, working through a decade's worth of
my files, | began to reimmerse myself in the world of the F-1 17A Stealth
Fighter, Have Blue's operational successor.

L ockheed was used to black programs. It had built the U-2 spyplane
that the CIA had used to overfly the Soviet Union on reconnaissance
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missions in the late 1950s and it had developed the Mach 3.2 A-12 for the
CIA as the U-2's successor. Both projects had come together under rules
of draconian secrecy, but stealth, from a security standpoint, would need
to be protected even more stringently. The problem facing Rich and his
customer in the Pentagon, the Air Force Specia Projects Office, was how
to go about shielding an entire industry. The U-2 and the A-12 had been
built in "onesies and twosies," but the F-117A was required in multiple
squadron strength. Clearly, there would come a time when the program
would need to be revealed, but the longer it could be shielded from public
view, the less time the Russians would have to react when it finally
emerged into the light.

Rich was one of five Lockheed employees cleared for top secret work
and above. Everyone else connected with the program—including
several thousand factory floor workers—had to be rigorously security-
checked. And nothing about their lives was off-limits. "Security's
dragnet poked and prodded into every nook and cranny of our opera
tion," Rich wrote years later. It amost drove him insane.

As the F-117A began to take shape at Burbank, arrangements were
made to accommodate it operationally. A secret base was constructed in
the desert at Tonopah, Nevada, and pilots were asked to volunteer
without being told anything about the assignment. In New Mexico, at a
radar range miles from the nearest public land, thefinal configuration of
the F-1 17A was subjected to more RCS checks to validate its insect-like
radar properties. When the aircraft made its first flight, in June 1981, it
did so at Area 51, shielded from the remotest scrutiny by the jagged
mountains of southern Nevada and a crack air force specia forces unit
authorized to use "letha force" to protect Groom Lake from intruders.

As production ramped up under the administration of the hawkish
presidential incumbent, Ronald Reagan, who took office in 1980, it
rapidly became clear that the Skunk Works was outgrowing its Burbank
facilities and so plans were drawn up to relocate the plant eastward, to
Palmdale, on the edge of California’'s Mojave Desert. Palmdale was aso
home to a giant new production facility operated by Northrop, designer
of the B-2, the USAF's four-engine strategic Stealth Bomber. The B-2
was black, but not as black as the F-l 17A. This meant it was acknowl-
edged to exist, even though the rudiments of its design were classified.

It was in this triangle of land, bordered by New Mexico to the south,
Cadlifornia to the west and Nevada to the northeast, that people—
ordinary people—started seeing things on moonlit desert nights that they
could not correlate with the known facts. Speculation grew that a "stealth
fighter" program of some description existed—and almost certainly at
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Lockheed, where security in recent years had tightened considerably—
but the detail was invariably way off the mark. And since the money for
the F-117A program—to the tune of severa billion dollars—had been
appropriated from the Pentagon's "black budget,” ring-fenced as it was
from public scrutiny, that was how things remained until late 1988, when
the outgoing Reagan administration revealed just what it had hushed up
for so many years.

The F-117A, the bland press release stated, had gone operational in
1983. For five years, its pilots had operated at squadron strength "in the
black," roaming the desert night skies of the U.S. Southwest, practicing
for the nighttime attack mission they would be required to performin a
war. The disclosure had only been made at al because the air force
wanted to expand the training envelope and start flying the F-117A by
day. Otherwise it would have remained buried even longer.

During the F-I 17A'sfiveyears of secret ops, thousands of workers had
been involved in the assembly process at Burbank; hundreds more in
supporting the aircraft at Tonopah. And yet, not one had breathed a
word about it.

The big story in November 1988, then, related to the existence and
capabilities of the Stealth Fighter, a program that rivaled the scale and
daring of the Manhattan Project amost 50 years earlier. Like the bomb
program, the F-117A had been meticulously covered up, but unlike the
bomb program, the secrecy had held. With hindsight, this was under-
standable. The moment the U.S. government had decided not just to
develop the bomb, but to use it on the enemy, its security was com-
promised. Atom spies sympathetic to the Soviet Union—the liberal,
heady atmosphere of Los Alamos cultivated them like seeds in a hot-
house—were always going to ensure that details of the weapon would
be passed to Moscow; and the traffic merely accelerated when it was
dropped on the Japanese.

The logic these people had applied in betraying their country was
simple. They didn't want America to have a monopoly on such a
devastatingly powerful strand of weapons technology. By passing bomb
secrets to the Russians, the atom spies believed they were restoring the
balance of power and making the world a safer place. It was alesson that
U.S. security managers would not forget.

Stealth was a passive technology. It did not need to be "dropped” on
an unsuspecting enemy, but it had the power to begin and end wars just
the same. Because it didn't need to be revealed, it had been easy to cover
up, until the moment it suited the U.S. government to make the
revelation—to bring it out of the black. Neglected in the process of
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disclosure, however, was any analysis of the system that had allowed this
superhuman feat of engineering and parallel security to materialize; and
the black world was a system—a huge, sprawling machine.

Between the bomb and the Stealth Fighter, a massive security
structure had swung into place to protect Americas ever-proliferating
black programs. And in the vastness of the desert, it wasn't hard for
individuals—the little cogs of the machine—to develop a sense of their
frailty. The desert had been a good place to build the bomb and the
perfect place to field stealth. It had swallowed both programs—the
weapons and the people who'd constructed them—whole.

If antigravity was real—and by now | believed the white world
contained evidence that something was going on—the desert was where it
would have come together.

According to Marckus, the black world had known | was coming from
the moment | sat foot in NASA and had had plenty of time to prepare for
my visits.

In London, | struggled to make the right connections.

| returned to something Marckus had said during our meeting by the
estuary; something about the Northrop B-2 Stealth Bomber. There was
a strand of thought, even among some quite high-profile academics, that
the B-2 used some kind of antigravity drive system. | wasn't inclined to
believe the story at face value. But with scant entry points to the black
world, it seemed, for the moment, as good a place as any to start. If there
were lessons still to be learned from the media's coverage of the F-1 17A
in the early 1980s—before the program had been revealed, but when
people were reporting things they couldn't explain in the night skies of
California, Nevada and New Mexico—the most appropriate was the old
one about smoke and fire.

The detour through NASA had pointed up five possible pathways to
antigravity's application in the black world: manipulating an object's
mass and/or inertia; exploitation of the zero-point energy field; per-
turbations of the space-time continuum; faster-than-light travel; and
gravity shielding. Of thefive, two (space-time and faster-than-light) were
patently out of the question—the B-2 was not a time machine and it
could not even muster the speed of sound—and two more (mass/inertia
manipulation and zero-point exploitation) were still some way from a
practical breakthrough. Only one, the last of the five, seemed to have
resulted in any kind of payoff. And Podkletnov had tripped over it by
accident because of somebody's pipe smoke, which meant it had been out
there, waiting to be discovered, for as long as anyone needed it.

Applied to the B-2, using some of the many billions that had gone into
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its development, the kind of weight reductions that the Russian had been
reporting (anywhere from 2 percent to 5 percent) would have been highly
significant. The B-2 had already shown its ability to fly halfway around
the world and back—a 37-hour, 29,000-nautical-mile return flight from
Whiteman Air Force Base, Missouri, to Guam in the Pacific with several
air-to-air refuelings en route. With gravity shielding—if such a thing
could be moved from the laboratory to afully fledged aircraft program—
either itsrange could be extended or the number of midair refuelings cut.
Either of these would make the technology a powerful draw.

The biggest argument against the existence of antigravity technology
had seemed to me to be the lack of any visible hardware from production
programs. Now, | was having to confront the possibility that antigravity
played avital part in the most important technological development since
the bomb.



Chapter 12

I'd been aware of rumors about the B-2 for some time, but they were so
bizarre as to be quite unbelievable, so I'd ignored them completely. In
following the thread that had been dropped by Marckus at the estuary,
however, | discovered that it led somewhere that was already familiar.
The chief proponent of the idea that the B-2 utilized an exotic propulsion
source was my old friend Paul LaViolette, the Ph.D. who had tripped
over the reference to antigravity in the Library of Congress.

LaViolette had written an elegant thesis about the B-2 and its anti-
gravitational properties soon after the publication of a revelatory article
in Aviation Week, the "bible" of the U.S. aerospace industry, in which
a number of black-world engineers had whistle-blown to the author,
the magazine's West Coast editor, Bill Scott, about a host of amazing
new technologies supposedly being developed in the deeply classified
environment. One of these related to "electrostatic field-generating
techniques’ in the B-2's wing leading edge with a view to reducing the
giant Stealth Bomber's radar cross section.

LaViolette had taken this revelation and coupled it to his own
knowledge of Thomas Townsend Brown's work and patents and drawn
the conclusion that the B-2 was the embodiment of Project Winterhaven,
T.T. Brown's proposal in 1952 to the U.S. military for aMach 3 saucer-
shaped interceptor powered exclusively by electrogravitics—antigravity.

In an essay entitled "The U.S. Antigravity Squadron,” LaViolette
outlined the reasoning behind his extraordinarily bold assertion.

The B-2, he held, was simply a scaled-up version of the subscale
discs, the little charged saucer-shaped condensers, that had whizzed
around Brown's laboratories in front of multiple witnesses from the U.S.
Air Force and Navy in the late '40s and early '50s. If true, it explained
why superficialy the U.S. Air Force had shown such little interest in
Winterhaven, while on the inside—I remembered the recovered tran-
scripts of conversations between Air Force generals Bertrandias and
Craig following the former's visit to Brown's lab in 1952—those who had
seen the tests were going apoplectic with excitement.

123
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While conventional wisdom had it that the B-2's outer skin was
composed of a highly classified radar-absorbent material (RAM) that
made it invisible to radar, LaViolette plausibly argued that the RAM was
in fact a ceramic dielectric material able to store high amounts of electric
charge. The material was said to be made from powdered depleted
uranium—an incredibly hard substance, commonly used to tip armor-
piercing tank shells—with three times the density of the "high-k"
ceramics proposed by Brown in the 1950s. This would give the B-2
"three times the electrogravitic pull” of the Mach 3 saucer at the heart of
the Winterhaven study.

Another useful bit of synchronicity was the fact that Brown had, for a
short period of time, worked for Genera Electric, the company
responsible for the B-2's engines.

But try as | might, | couldn't get LaViolette's theory to fit. For the
thesis to be accurate, it hinged on something approximating a switch in
the Stealth Bomber's two-man cockpit that would permit the aircraft to
transition from normal jet-powered flight—something, according to La
Violette, that it used on takeoff and landing and other occasions where
witnesses might be present—to antigravity cruise mode.

If there were such a thing as this switch, | knew, pound to a penny,
dollar to a cent, its existence would have leaked.

The B-2 first flew in 1989 and the first operational aircraft arrived at
Whiteman Air Force Basein 1993. A total of 20 aircraft had been built at
$2 billion a shot and all of them had been delivered by the end of the
decade. Dozens of crewmembers had been trained in that time, and many
of them had been interviewed. The B-2 had started as a black program
(or more accurately, a dark-gray one, since its existence had been
confirmed officially from the start, al other details being classified). But
now it was in the open, albeit, still, with some highly classified features.
Pilots—an inherently talkative breed—would have let it slip somewhere
along the line. Rumors would have developed about such a switch. But
they never had. Moreover, B-2 pilots and engineers hadn't just denied
the antigravity story, they had scoffed at it openly. Intuitively, my
colleagues and | were agreed, the B-2 antigravity story was wrong. In
fact, the whole notion of it was absurd.

The end result was that "the B-2 as antigravity vehicle' had been
consigned to the columns of conspiracy mags and tabloids; the main-
stream aerospace press, afraid of an adverse reaction fromits conservative
readership, had refused to touch it.

With one exception.

Enter Britain's most eminent aerospace journalist, Bill Gunston, OBE,
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Fellow of the Roya Aeronautical Society, and an article heéd penned
entitled "Military Power."

Gunston, who served as a pilot in the RAF from 1943 to 1948, was
scrupulous over his facts—as editor of Jane's yearbook on aero-engine
propulsion, he had to be. "Military Power," published in Air Inter-
national magazine, was a walk-through dissertation on the development
of aero-engine technology since the end of the Second World War; good,
solid Gunston stuff.

Until the last couple of pages, when, to the uninitiated, it appeared
that the aerospace doyen had lost his mind. Gunston not only portrayed
the B-2 antigravity drive story as fact, but went on to reveal how he had
been well acquainted with the rudiments of T.T. Brown's theories for
years, but had "no wish to reside in the Tower [of London], so had
refrained from discussing clever aeroplanes with leading edges charged
to millions of volts positive and trailing edges to millions of volts
negative."

Gunston explained why he felt that there was much more to the B-2
than met the eye, drawing on a lifetime of specialized knowledge. In
short, if you applied the laws of aerodynamics and basic math to the
known specifications of the B-2, there was a glaring mismatch in its
published performance figures.

It was clear, Gunston said, that the thrust of each GE engine was
insufficient to lift the 376,500-pound listed gross weight of the aircraft at
takeoff.

The only way the B-2 could get into the air, therefore, was for it
somewhere along the line to shed some of its weight. And that, of course,
was impossible, unless you applied the heretical principles of Thomas
Townsend Brown to the aircraft's design spec. The B-2 wasn't a black
world aircraft program anymore. It was operational, had been blooded in
combat and was frequently exhibited to the public. If it used an
antigravity drive system, the proof of the phenomenon existed in plain
sight.

If it didn't, then someone, somewhere had gone to some lengths to
make a number of highly respected aerospace experts believe that it did.

In October 1990, Aviation Week published a report based on an analysis
of 45 different daylight and nighttime eyewitness observations of strange
aircraft over the desert Southwest—Bill Scott's backyard. In this, he
concluded that there were "at least two—but probably more—types of
vehicles' beyond the F-| 17A and B-2 under test. One was a "triangular-
shaped, quiet aircraft seen with aflight of F-1 17A stealth fighters several
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times since the summer of 1989"; another was a "high-speed aircraft
characterized by a very deep, rumbling roar reminiscent of heavy lift
rockets'; athird was a "high-altitude aircraft that crosses the night sky at
extremely high speed . . . observed asasingle, bright light—sometimes
pulsating—flying at speeds far exceeding other aircraft in the area."
Becausethe latter was always seen above 50,000 feet, where you wouldn't
routinely expect to hear engine noise, Scott deduced that the second and
third aircraft might be one and the same type.

Speculation that the Reagan administration had embarked on a
massive program of black world aerospace and defense research began
circulating in earnest among Washington reporters and defense
journalists following the publication of a"line item" called "Aurora" in
the Pentagon'sfiscal year 1986 budget. Aurorawas supposedly a"sleeper
site" used by the Pentagon for burying B-2 funds at a time when the
Stealth Bomber was still highly classified. But this explanation, put about
by "highly placed Pentagon sources' when the Aurora story hit the
streets, simply smacked of backpedaling. As Aurorawas listed under the
"Other Aircraft" category and was projected to receive ahugeincreasein
funding between fiscal years '86 and '87—a jump from $80.1 million to
$2.272 billion—the sleuths concluded that its inclusion in the budget
request was a genuine mistake, that the aircraft was real and, because it
was listed in the "reconnaissance” section, must have been a replacement
for the Mach 3.2 Lockheed Blackbird, which was earmarked to retire
from its strategic spying duties in the early 1990s.

Then, when that dark triangular shape was seen by a trained Roya
Observer Corps spotter over the oil rig in 1989, people put two and two
together and deduced that Aurorawasn't just alineitem, but areal flying
aircraft.

One of the supreme ironies of the black budget system is that, thanks
to U.S. bureaucratic procedure, you can work out, aimost to the cent,
what the Pentagon is spending on its most deeply classified programs.
Every year its financial planners submit an unclassified version of the
defense budget to Congress. It isaremarkably detailed document, listing
major lineitems of expenditurein themilitary research and development
(R&D) and weapons procurement arenas. Trawl down the list, however,
and some of the dollar values of these line items are missing. Many of
those in this category have strange-sounding code names like Forest
Green, Senior Year, Chalk Eagle or Centennial. Others have curiously
nondescript headings such as "specia applications program” or "specid
analysis activities."

These are black programs. Because the unclassified budget includes
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accurate total budgets for all three armed services, al you need do is
subtract the total dollar value of the line items from each category, and
the difference is what the Pentagon is spending on black world research
and acquisition.

In 1988, the total was computed to be $30 billion for R&D and secret
weapons programs—more than the entire annual defense budget of a
major European NATO nation such as Britain, France or Germany.

What we were talking here was an industry within an industry,
multiple layers deep and compartmentalized to death horizontally. The
black world's inaccessibility was based not just on its segregation from
the outside, but on the inability of managers and engineers in one of its
compartments, or on one of its layers, to have oversight of anything that
wasn't within his or her "need to know."

In a system whose existence had been designed to be denied, examples
were few and far between, but one shone clear. General George
Sylvester, head of the Air Forces R&D program in 1977, was not
"accessed" to the Lockheed Have Blue program, even though the
program itself was run out of his office at Wright-Patterson Air Force
Base. One of the "bright young colonels’ at Air Force Special Projects in
Washington who ran the Air Force's portion of the black budget had
decided to cut Sylvester out of the loop.

It was small wonder, then, that reporters and investigators began to
level the charge that the black world had spiraled out of control.

How deep did the layers go? How many compartments did the system
contain? What kind of technologies were being pursued within it?

The truth was, nobody knew. The black world was labyrinthine and
it was essentially unaccountable; its whole system of compartmentaliza-
tion so convoluted, so tortuous, that if people like Sylvester had been
excluded, then God only knew how many others who should have had
the "need to know," didn't.

It was in this climate of hidden expenditure that Bill Scott reported
what he was seeing and hearing in and around Palmdale.

The prognosis was that Aurora was a massive leap forward in aero-
space terms, that it was powered by a new form of "combined-cycle"
engine fueled by liquid methane or hydrogen to give it a cruise speed
anywhere up to Mach 8—5,300 mph. It was aso a fair bet, Scott and
others reported, that the Lockheed Skunk Works, which was in the pro-
cess of shifting to Palmdale, was the firm responsible for building it.

Outwardly, the Skunk Works had next to no work on the stocks, but
something was keeping its 4,000 employees busy just the same and some-
thing was rattling the windows of the desert Southwest at night.
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From mid-1991 until the mid-'90s, the U.S. Geological Survey, the
agency that monitors earthquake activity, revealed that an unknown
aircraft, with sound footprints different from the SR-71 or the Space
Shuttle, was causing "airquakes' as it crossed the California coastline
from the Pacific, heading inland for southern Nevada. Couple this with
some fresh U.S. eyewitness sightings after the North Sea encounter of a
huge, arrow-shaped aircraft that left aweird, knotted contrail in its wake
and made a noise "like the sky tearing apart,” and a recent program of
expansion at the Air Force's test site at Area 51 in southern Nevada, and
it al added up to ablack world economy that was, so to speak, booming,
too; a situation that continued even after the Cold War ended.

Following the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the U.S. Air Force
budget, in concert with those of the other armed services, was cut and
black world funding along with it. But as a proportion of the overall
budget, the classified segment of the USAF's R&D and acquisition
spending actually increased and, even in the mid—Ilate 1990s, hovered
comfortably at around the $11 billion a year mark. This left more than
enough money for the Air Force to pursue arange of exotic technologies
for the 21st century.

In early 1992, Scott was contacted by a group of black world engi-
neers who had decided to break cover and talk about some of the
programs they were working on. Their reasoning was simple. The Cold
War was over and there was no need for the U.S. government to protect
some of its most highly classified technologies any longer. Some of these
technologies, the engineers told the reporter, could actually be spun into
the white world of commercial aerospace programs to give the U.S. an
enormous economic advantage over its international aerospace trade
rivals.

In revealing their presence to Scott, they acknowledged that they were
breaking a "code of silence that rivals the Mafia's." The dangers of their
approach were already manifest. Two engineers said that their civil rights
had been "blatantly abused" by their black world controllers in a bid to
prevent them from leaving the deeply classified environment.

"Onceyou'rein, they don't let you go,” one of them said.

Amidst the revelations that the engineers dangled in front of Scott
were a number of technologies for reducing the visible signatures of the
B-2.

To people in the business, Northrop's winning of the $40 billion
Stealth Bomber competition against Lockheed in 1981 had long been
something of a mystery. It was, after al, Lockheed that had made the
breakthrough in mathematically computing stealth in 1975. But then, the
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F-1 17A, composed of its mass of angled flat panels, was "first-generation
stealth.”

The B-2, or the Advanced Strategic Penetrating Aircraft, as it was
known when it was still deeply gray, was asecond-generation aircraft and
this, according to Northrop, was manifest in its blended aerodynamic
shape. Instead of being rough and angular like the F-I 17A, it was smooth
and rounded—a product, Northrop claimed, of five years worth of
improvements in computing technology between the start of the Have
Blue program and the ASPA.

Improved software algorithms processing had allowed Northrop to
come up with ashape—arefinement of the Y B-49 flying wing jet bomber
it had first flown in 1947—that allowed the aircraft to look and fly right
and to remain invisible on enemy radar screens.

Not only that, but according to LaViolette it had the capability to fly
electrogravitically aswell.

In my basement, where the noise of the city couldn't intrude upon the
sort of silence you needed to sift a decade's worth of documents and files
on the arcane properties of stealth, | still wasn't happy about LaViolette's
assertion, because of the absence of that all-important switch, the one
that kicked in the B-2's antigravity drive system.

There was one other beguiling aspect to Scott's story. His sources said
that charging the airframe electrostaticaly not only helped to make the
B-2 stealthy, it aso reduced friction heating of the airframe, its sonic
footprint and its drag.

Thislast point was crucial. If it were possible to alter the "drag” or air
resistance of an aircraft, you could either make it fly farther or faster or
both.

The drag reduction system was supposed to work as follows. By
creating an electrostatic field ahead of an aircraft, it ought in theory to
repel air molecules in the aircraft's path, allowing the plane, in effect, to
dip through the atmosphere like a thin diver of soap through warm
water.

Like antigravity itself, the whole notion of using electricity fields to
reduce aircraft drag was heresy—it was, according to traditionalists, just
smoke and mirrors. But here, in Scott's article, was a reference to
Northrop having conducted high-grade research in 1968 on just such a
phenomenon: the creation of "dectrica forces to condition the air
flowing around an aircraft at supersonic speeds." Furthermore, the
California-based aircraft company had supposedly submitted a paper on
the subject to the American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics
that same year.



130 The Huntfor Zero Point

I hit the Net and went into the AIAA website, then did a title search.
But the papers on the AIAA site went back only as far as 1992 and | was
out of time.

| rubbed my eyes. In two days | was due to attend an aerospace
convention in Las Vegas. And | wasn't any closer to solving the puzzle.

Or was I?

During the Second World War, | remembered Thomas Townsend
Brown had been involved in experiments that sought to show how you
could make a ship disappear on a radar screen by pumping it with large
doses of electricity. Between 1941 and 1943, Brown had supposedly been
involved in tests, | saw now, that were identical in principle to the
methodology that Northrop seemed to have applied to the B-2 to make it the
ultimate word in stealth. Researchers had never taken Brown's wartime
experiments seriously because the precise nature of the work had been
obscured by the myth of parallel dimensions aboard the USS Eldridge—
the ship at the heart of the "Philadelphia Experiment.” Brown had aso
used electrostatics to power his model discs and, by his own testimony
and that of witnesses—including a general from the U.S. Air Force—
they had flown by defying gravity.

Could it really be that in researching the B-2 | had picked up the
threads of T. T. Brown's work again? Work that the U.S. had continued
to develop in the black?

| jotted the keywords on a piece of paper, like a crossword player
consigning letters to a page in the hope of unraveling an anagram.
Brown—el ectrostati cs—stealth—antigravity—and then, against my better
judgment—parallel dimension.

| studied the words for along time, but nothing jumped out at me.
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Below: Dr Evgeny Podkletnov (left) with Dr Ron Evans, Head of BAE Systems' Project Greenglow.
(BAE Systems)



Above: The Northrop Grumman
B-2 Stealth Bomber. (Northrop
Grumman)

Left and below: LaViolette's
schematic illustrations of the B-2's
electrogravitic drive system,
showing positive and negative
charge and flow distribution.
(Electrogravitic Systems)



Right: Ben Rich and
the F-117A.

(All images via
Lockheed Martin)

Left: The Lockheed
Martin F-117A
Stealth Fighter over
typical desert
terrain.

Below: 50 years of
Skunk Works
Products - those
that the company
has owned up to.



Above: Map showing key
California-based sites of the
Skunk Works in the late
80s/early 90s. (Lockheed
Martin Skunk Works)

Right: Jack Gordon, head of
the Skunk Works in 1996.
(Lockheed Martin Skunk
Works)

Below: An artist's rendering
of Aurora, the USAF's
mythical hypersonic
spyplane. (JulianCook)



Right: The concrete henge structure
at the Wenceslas Mine - test-rig or
cooling-tower? (M. Banas)

Below: The Wenceslas Mine, Ludwigsdorf,
Poland, looking across what was once a
covered railway marshalling yard. (Nick Cook)

Above: The Wenceslas Mine. The henge-like
structure is situated behind the trees in the
distance. (Nick Cook)

Right: The entrance to the Mittelwerk
at Nordhausen. (I. Witkowski)






Below: SS General Hans Kammler -
the only known photograph of him
in uniform; France, 1944.

Above: A partially lined gallery a
the SS-run 'Giant' underground
manufacturing complex near

Waldenburg, Poland. (M. Banas)

Left: A completed gallery at the
'Giant' underground complex.
(M. Banas)



Above: Viktor Schauberger and his implosion-based home power generator in 1955, with interior
shot.

Left and below: The Schauberger
Repulsine with and without cone-
shaped intake. (All images via
Schauberger Archive)



Right Bob Widmer in
his Lockheed Martin
office at Fort Worth,
in 1996. (Nick Cook)

Left: Bob Widmer, chief designer of General
Dynamics Convair, in his office in the late
1950s. (Lockheed Martin)

Below: A grainy shot of a wind-tunnel mode
of Kingfish, Widmer's Mach 6 spyplane
proposal. (Air International)



John Hutchison in his Vancouver
apartment, surrounded by equipment
integral to the Hutchison Effect. (John
Hutchison)



Metal ingots ‘disrupted’ by the
Hutchison Effect. (John Hutchison)



Chapter 13

Vegas. Two thumps through the 747 and | was on the ground at
McCarran International, an airport, like Miami's, that crackled with
illicit activity; you could just feel it. We taxied to theterminal and passed
engineering shops filled with propeller planes that looked like they
should have been scrapped decades ago; old classics running freight
operations now, with radial engines that dripped oil on the ramp and
coughed clouds of smoke, their tired but sturdy airframes lined with
irregular rows of rivets and bumps.

| raised my eyes and took in the view. Vegas, sprawled there just
beyond the perimeter fence under an upturned bowl of blue sky, half a
dozen giant new hotels since I'd been here last, half a dozen more going
up amidst athicket of cranes.

| loved and loathed this city with equal measure.

Down on the Strip, with the sun setting on this city of broken dreams,
| took in the glare of the lights from the back of the cab, half listening to
the driver's lament over the mob's exodus and its replacement by
corporate America.

The slipping sun played over the tops of the mountains that bordered
the southern end of the Nellis Air Force Range, a closed-off piece of
government land the size of Switzerland where the Air Force tested its
latest military hardware and ran air warfare exercises, and the driver's
voice dill filling my head about the days when people in the city had lived
and died by a set of rules everyone understood.

I grunted something neutral as | tracked the Convention Center where
tomorrow I'd tramp the hallways, doing what | always did on these
occasions: talk to old friends, meet contacts, trawl the stands, hoover up
data, collate stories, file copy, hit the town, go to bed late, get up early and
then go through it all over again.

The cab pulled into the Sahara, a hotel that exuded the Vegas of
Sinatra, Martin and the mob; the mid-'50s, when it had opened.

It had been face-lifted so many times, it seemed like the demoalition
teams would be here at any moment, but through half-closed eyes you
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could till see how it once had been, which gave it a strange kind of
charm. The Sahara suited me just fine.

Its pile-'em-in, rack-'em and stack-'em ethos, ideal for gamblers
passing through, meant it was shunned by most of the show delegates,
but it had the enormous advantage of being a stone's throw from the
Convention Center.

The following day, | picked up my reporter's pass and filed into the
exhibition hall. It was jam-packed with aerospace and defense companies
from across America, their stands and booths ranged in rows either side
of the carpeted walkways.

From al over the hall, TVs plugged into videos on permanent loop
flashed with images of combat aircraft going through their paces or
weapons under test, the pictures backed by deadpan monologues and
Top Gun-style soundtracks.

| slipped into the routine, walking the course, checking the stands for
signs of developments or breakthroughs.

Sometimes stories came from a new aircraft, spacecraft or weapon
system depicted in model form or artist's impression, but such copy as
this generated was merely the low-hanging fruit—things that the public
affairs people wanted you to see. As long as it constituted news, most
reporters, myself included, were happy to go through the motions.

More often than not, though, the developments we looked for were
more subtle: amissile fitted with a new seeker or an aircraft with a new
sensor, denoted by an aeria or antenna window on the display model that
hadn't been there last time around.

Such changes, though seemingly inconsequential to an outsider,
pointed to performance gains that signaled real news to a defense
reporter, news that the industry's primary customers generally didn't
want to seein print.

But there was another side to show reporting, a side that | atogether
preferred: chewing the fat with people in the business I'd known and
liked for years, gathering data that gave hints of longer-term trends; what
was really happening to theindustry in the face of Cold War budget cuts,
where the technology was headed, who was buying, who wasn't.

Three days at an aerospace and defense exhibition gave you informa-
tion you couldn't get from amonth's worth of phone calls. And after the
intensity of weeks spent scrutinizing obscure pieces of data for hints of a
black world antigravity program, the change was refreshingly good.

On thethird day, long after the press conferences had dried up and I'd
filed my final piece of copy to the magazine, | hit the Northrop Grumman
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stand and started talking to a guy who'd worked a whole range of the
company's programs, including the B-2 Stealth Bomber.

Careful not to provoke the reaction that usually greeted the antigravity
guestion, | asked him what he made of the stones that the B-2 charged its
surface electrostatically.

This time, no derogatory smirk, just a straight answer and a half smile.

It was impossible, he told me. If you charged the airframe of the B-2,
you'd fry its onboard eectronics. He went on to describe a secondary
problem. All aircraft need to discharge the static electricity they absorb
naturally as they move through the air—usualy via smal wire agrias
on the wing tips. Deliberately adding to this static buildup with a
man-made electrical charge would be enormously risky, the engineer
maintained. Since it would be impossible to discharge the electricity fast
enough, it would turn the aircraft into a giant lightning conductor.

| called Marckus from my hotel room the following morning. The
eight-hour time difference meant that he was at home, the day's work
finished. Classicad music filled the background, Brahms' Symphony
Number Four turned deafeningly high, giving me, in a moment of in-
sight, a clear view of Marckus domestic situation. | knew then the man
lived alone.

"He said what?' he shouted back.

| repeated the engineer's assertion. Marckus left the phone for a few
seconds to turn the music down.

"The man's an idiot," he said when he came back. "Either that or he
deliberately lied to you."

"Why should he do that?"

"Why do people normally lie?"

"Come on, Dan, it's too damned early here for twenty questions.”

"The guts of the B-2 are held within a Faraday Cage Marckus
explained. "It doesn't matter how much electricity you pump across the
skin. Theinside remains insulated from it. The guy was bullshitting you.
And it's not even very good bullshit."

The rest of his argument was badly flawed also, Marckus said. If you
looked at the B-2 from the top, it looked like aboomerang, with straight,
sharp leading edges and a serrated trailing edge. Regular aircraft had two
wing tips; two points from which to discharge their natural buildup of
static. But the B-2 was aflying wing. With its sawtooth back end, it had,
in effect, seven wing tips from which to discharge the continuousflow of
electricity from its supposed flame-jet generators.

At low altitude and low speed, the discharges would be difficult, if not
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impossible to see with the naked eye. But at cruise altitude, with enough
plasma buildup around its leading edges, an aircraft—particularly a
supersonic or a hypersonic platform—would glow like a lightbulb. It
would pulse.

"A high-altitude aircraft that crosses the night sky at extremely high
speed . . . observed as a single, bright light—sometimes pul sating—
flying at speeds far exceeding other aircraft in the area" one of the
nighttime eyewitness observations reported in the October 1990 edition
of Aviation Week.

"Northrop has been playing around with electrostatics for years,”
Marckus said. "In 1968, it submitted a paper caled 'Electroaero-
dynamics in Supersonic Flow' to the American Institute of Aeronautics
and Astronautics.”

"l know," | told him, happy for once | had something he didn't. "I
tried to find it on the AIAA website, but the papers on their eectronic
database don't go back far enough. I'll have to request a copy from their
archives instead.”

Even across eight time zones, | caught Marckus withering sigh.

"Don't bother. | applied eight years ago. It's missing. They couldn't
find any record of it. Almost certainly, some special projects officein the
Pentagon pulled it. Made it disappear. That happens occasionally.
Someone screws up and the black world has to go clean up. Actually, it
wasn't al Northrop's fault. Back in the '60s, they had some noble ideas
that this technology could be applied as a drag-reduction device for
supersonic airliners, cutting heat friction and fuel burn. 1t was only when
someone clocked the fact that a plasma shield around an aircraft aso
reduces its radar signature that the military really woke up to it. It's been
rumored for a while that Northrop had come up with something
revolutionary in thisfield. The missing paper proves it."

Marckus carried on. | closed my eyes and tried to think.

The signa | was picking up was painfully indistinct against the
background mush of interference, but | could see that it added up to
something important.

The B-2 clearly used some kind of skin-charging mechanism to lower
itsradar (and quite possibly its heat) signature. But it was also clear, from
the nature of the paper that Northrop had written in 1968, that the
origins of this electric shield, this stealth cloaking device, were actually
rooted in another field of research atogether—drag reduction. Accord-
ing to Marckus, who now admitted to having witnessed similar ex-
periments in the U.K., the electrostatic field could also be made to
behavelike abig "jet flap," an extension of the wing. Deploy thisinvisible
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jet flap on takeoff and it was the same as if the wing area had been sub-
stantially increased, with a parallel reduction in drag and a concomitant
improvement in lift—by perhaps as much as 30 percent.

Bingo.

This could explain how the B-2, or an aircraft like it, staggered into the
air with a full bomb-and-fuel load. Thirty percent seemed far too high,
but even a few percentage points would constitute a breakthrough. A
substantial lift improvement was the equivalent of asubstantial reduction
in weight. Maybe the B-2 lost weight, so to speak, aerodynamically, not
electrogravitically. It would explain why Northrop had beaten Lockheed
to the B-2 contract. While the Skunk Works had been playing around
with Maxwell's equations and two-dimensional shapes, Northrop had
already worked out how an aircraft could be enveloped in a shield of static
electricity and how that energy could be put to work: as both a cloaking
device and a method for reducing its air resistance.

No laws of physics broken, no antigravity switch in the cockpit, but an
extraordinary development nonethel ess.

A weight reduction device by proxy.

And in working this through, | realized something else. The B-2
antigravity story actually played into the hands of black world security. It
was so fundamentally unbelievable that it discredited any seriousinvesti-
gation of the application of electrostatics to aircraft. What defeated me
was why the spooks should have worked so hard to stop its disclosure—
pulling papers from the AIAA and so forth—and yet be content for
details to be released of the Lockheed stealth method.

But then, disinformation works best when you mix it in with a little
truth.

It was then that the picture cleared momentarily and | glimpsed some-
thing through the snow and distortion. The keywords I'd written down
and then hurled into the bin in the basement of my home a few days
earlier swam into focus. If | could just hold the picture a second or two
longer . . .

Marckus' voice, punchy and impatient on the other end of the line,
brought me back to the here and now of my room in the Sahara.

I'm still here, | told him.

He was asking me where | was headed next.

| told him there was only one possible place | could go. If Northrop
had been working on electrostatics since the 1960s, if it was now
operationally deployed on a $2 billion frontline bomber that had been
designed in 1980, there had been plenty of time in the intervening pe-
riod for improvements and refinements. | knew there was no way that
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Lockheed, now Lockheed Martin, would have taken Northrop's B-2
victory standing still.

Aviation Week had written about the "fast mover" that had been
observed crossing the night sky as a single, pulsating point of light. And
others had reported the manifest contradiction of a prominent Air Force
contractor at Palmdale that was filled to capacity with workers, was
hugely profitable, yet had nothing to show for it.

| told Marckus that my request to interview the head of the Skunk
Works, Jack Gordon, had just been given the green light.

Better till, it was to take place within the holy of holies itself.

It was only on the road to Lancaster, my next stop, across the border in
California's Antelope Valley and a three-hour drive across the Mojave
Desert, that | found the quiet | needed to work through what I'd been
unable to finish in my call to Marckus.

Its starting point was one of the keywords that 1'd written down on the
note 1'd penned and then trashed five days earlier: stealth. It al started
and ended with stealth. In 1943, Brown had been involved in an experi-
ment that sought to make a ship radar-invisible. His test was the first
attempt by anyone—certainly, as far as | knew—to have conducted a
genuine radar-stealth experiment.

At its heart was atechnique developed by Brown to wrap aship in a
field of intense electromagnetic energy, produced by powerful electrical
generators.

In the mid-1970s, the U.S. Department of Defense was briefed by
L ockheed on a new form of technology—essentially, to do with airframe
shaping—that reduced the radar cross section of a fighter-sized aircraft
to that of alarge insect.

In 1976, the company was awarded a contract to develop the Have
Blue stealth demonstrator. Two years later, Lockheed was given the go-
ahead to develop the F-l 17A, the world's first "stealth fighter."

A new military science had been born—one that was about to change
the defense planning of entire nations.

As aresult, the technology was classified to the rooftops. Stealth had
become America's biggest military secret since the bomb.

It was then that somebody must have remembered Northrop's
research papers into drag-reducing plasmas and dusted them off, recall-
ing, probably, that el ectrostatics had ahighly beneficial spin-off effect: it
could reduce—perhaps even cancel altogether—the radar signature of an
aircraft.

A picture formed in my mind's eye of an insect-sized image on aradar
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screen winking out altogether. The B-2, three times the size of the F-1 17,
would be 100 percent radar-invisible if it worked as advertised with its
plasma cloak activated.

Since the development of big-budget weapon systems is al about risk
reduction, the Northrop approach, fundamentally different from Lock-
heed's, would have appealed to the bright young colonels of Air Force
Specia Projects.

If one of the methods failed to deliver, you could always rely on the
other one to show you the money. It gave the colondls two bites at the
problem.

Soon afterward, Northrop won the contract to build the B-2A
Stealth Bomber, based on its use of electrostatics to make it ultra-
stealthy. The technique, first developed by Brown, aso improved its
aerodynamic efficiency and reduced its drag. It represented a phe-
nomena breakthrough—a development that would give the U.S. a ten-
year lead, maybe more, over the Soviet Union.

But herein lay a problem.

The whole science of stealth would need to be protected like no other
strand of weapons science before—the lessons of the bomb being
uppermost in the minds of those charged with securing the Air Force's
precious new secret.

A novel protection strategy, one that overcame the flawed security
model established to protect the bomb 40 years earlier, needed to be set
in place.

Eradication and disinformation, coupled with the secure compart-
mentalisation of the program, formed the basis ofthat strategy.

From that moment on, past clues or pointers to stedth would have
slowly and carefully been excised from officialdom. It was most likely at
or around this point that the Northrop paper was pulled from the
archives of the AIAA.

But then, in the archive trawl, somebody would have come across the
work of T. T. Brown. Brown's stealth work for the U.S. Navy in the early
1940s, coupled with his use of eectrostatics in his electrogravitic work,
was an unexpected discovery that needed to be handled with great care.
The man's work was a dangerous liability. Something needed to be
done—something truly innovative.

In 1978, the authors of the Philadelphia Experiment, Berlitz and
Moore, were apparently approached by two U.S. Air Force officers who
claimed to have knowledge of a fantastic secret. They told how they had
had a chance encounter with a man who'd claimed to have been on the
\JSSEIdndgeinl 943.
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The man had told the two officers how the warship had vanished from
its moorings during atest that sought to make it invisible to radar.

In 1979, after further research by Berlitz and Moore, much of it
supplied by their elusive and slippery source Carlos Allende, aka Carl
Allen, The Philadelphia Experiment appeared in print—and Brown's
name became forever linked with the myth of the Eldridge,

The story's primary twist was that the ship had been transported into
another dimension—kooky stuffand, to any sensibly minded individual,
wholly unbelievable.

In the 1980s, the decade when stealth came to be fielded operationally,
the technology had acquired its own tailor-made cloak of disinformation.

Tempting as it was to assume that Winterhaven or something like it
had been pursued in the black since the 1950s, there was simply no
evidence for it.

There was no doubt in my mind that LaViolette's articles on the B-2
were sincere, but they had only helped to muddy the Brown story
further. When the B-2 and its antigravity propulsion system appeared in
print, Brown—whose work was at the heart of this technology—was
already a highly discredited figure. Whichever way you approached the
story of his life and work, sooner or later you hit the Philadelphia myth.
It blew all hope of dispassionate reporting on the man out of the water.

It turned out that the removal of the AIAA paper wasn't the only
example of censorship in thisfield. Before leaving Vegas, I'd called Tom
Vaone of the Integrity Research Institute. Vaone told me that he had
been trying for years to locate a copy of an appraisal of T.T. Brown's
experiments conducted in 1952 by the Naval Research Lab in Washing-
ton, D.C., but had been informed that the NRL no longer had it. The
T.T. Brown Electrogravity Device: A Comprehensive Evaluation by the
Office ofNaval Research had disappeared into the ether as well.

To deduce from this that Brown had cracked gravity was too big aleap
for me. In his experiments, he had demonstrated to the satisfaction of
many that an antigravity effect was possible. But that didn't mean he'd
got to the point where the technology could power an aircraft. Project
Winterhaven had promised to deliver this, but Winterhaven never got off
the ground. Not in the white world, anyhow.

Somewhere between the junction at Barstow and Boron, a tiny mining
community on the edge of the Mojave, the sun finally slipped behind the
southern tip of the Sierra Nevadas and | knew I'd taken the dis
information angle as far as it would go. There were just two things that
wouldn't fall into place. One of them related to the words on that self-
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penned note. Brown, electrostatics, stealth and antigravity: all of these
elements were bound together in the disinformation story—those who
had assembled it operating on the age-old principle that a little truth
really does go along, long way.

Why, then, did they introduce the fifth element? The part about the
Eldridge slipping into aparallel dimension? How had such an improbable
notion popped into the heads of the disinformation gurus?

Somehow, | had the feeling Marckus knew about al of this, yet hadn't
passed the knowledge on. As | hit the freeway and turned west toward
Lancaster, night falling as fast asrain, it was this thought more than any
other that troubled me most.

The Desert Inn motel, its lobby replete with signed photographs of test
pilots, display-case models of their aircraft and other Right Stuff
memorabilia, was located on an invisible confluence of routes connecting
the various nodes of the Air Force's classified desert kingdom. Twenty-
five milesto the north lay Edwards Air Force base, home of the USAF's
premier test pilots from the days when Chuck Yeager had broken the
sound barrier in the Bell X-I. Proof of alink between Edwards and Area
51, the Nevadatest base that didn't officially exist, 250 miles away as the
crow flew, had been ascertained in a neat piece of detective work by
Glenn Campbell, the leader of an outfit called the Desert Rats, a group of
dedicated "stealth watchers' who hung out in the scrubland around Area
51, hoping for a glimpse of some exotic piece of classified hardware.
Campbell had come by a procedures manual for security personnel
assigned to Area 51 in which they were advised to tell anyone who
professed any interest in them that they were attached to a facility called
"Pittman Station." Going through local county records, Campbell found
papers attesting to the fact that these personnel had been sworn in aslocal
deputies. One of them had listed his mailing address as " Pittman Station,
Henderson 89044, but all of them said that they were affiliated to
something called "DET AFFTC." Campbell knew that AFFTC stood
for the Air Force Flight Test Center at Edwards.

A powerful Web search engine did the rest. It turned up a 1990 NASA
résumé for an Air Force astronaut candidate called Captain Carl Walz
who was employed at "Pittman Station, Nevada" which in redlity,
Campbell knew, was nothing more than an abandoned electricity
substation on the Boulder Highway. Another biography, found by a Net
dleuth colleague of his, ascertained that Walz had served as a flight-test
program manager at "Detachment 3 of the Air Force Flight Test Center
at Edwards.” Because there was no Det. 3 at Edwards itself, Campbell
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deduced that it had to be Area 51 and that Pittman Station was the mail
drop.

Edwards, then, was the white world mirror image of Area 51, the
super-classified facility at Groom Lake.

Both the "pulser" and the aircraft tracked by the U.S. Government
Survey's seismic equipment (more than likely one and the same aircraft
type) were viewed on aheading that either led into or out of Groom Lake.

Twenty miles to the west, somewhere behind the palms surrounding
the Desert Inn's swimming pool, lay the "Tegon Ranch,” Northrop's
RCS range, aremote facility buried in agulley on the southern end of the
Tehachapi Mountains. People who found themselves in the vicinity of
this place in the dead of night had reported seeing orbs of light within the
confines of the range and, inevitably, stories that Northrop was testing
recovered alien spacecraft began to circulate among UFO buffs. Based on
Northrop's highly classified work applying electrostaticsto the B-2, these
pieces of eyewitness testimony now perhaps had a more plausible
explanation.

UFO stories had grown up around the two other radar test ranges in
the area—L ockheed Martin's and McDonnell Douglas (now Boeing's)—
a score of miles to the east. Closer still, was Plant 42, the site on the
airfield at Palmdale where the Skunk Works' huge manufacturing facility
was located. It was there that | was due to meet with and interview Jack
Gordon, bright and early after breakfast.

It was sometime in the dead hours that | heard the sound of scratching
coming from the lock. | turned toward the handle, no more than four
feet from the head of the bed, and saw it move, fractionally, but
perceptibly, in the thin sliver of light spilling from a crack in the
bathroom door. In my head, | knew exactly what was happening even
before the action started. Someone was about to hard-key the front door
lock and there was nothing | could do about it. As | braced for the bang
from the hammer that would drive the platinum tool into the barrel of
the lock and core it out in a split instant, it happened, but so fast, al |
could do was lie there, paralyzed, as the door flew in and the bolt cutters
took down the chain. Then, | saw them: three shapes silhouetted
momentarily in the doorway—black jumpsuits, body armor, kevlar
helmets and semiautomatic weapons. A glint of reflected moonlight on
the barrel of the gun as it moved and then it was hard against my
forehead, grinding against the thin skin between my eyebrows. More
pressure, killing pressure, as the snub-barreled MI16 was pushed down
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harder and harder, the force driving my head deep into the mattress. And
aboveit al, the double click of the bolt being cocked and locked, a shock
of white teeth in aface otherwise hidden by the shadows as he braced to
take the shot.

It was then that | came up for air, sucking it down in great gulps, my
hands outstretched, pushing against bodies | could still see but weren't
there and never had been.

Slowly, the ropey, '70s charm of my motel room at the Desert Inn
pulled into focus. | was bathed in sweat and my hands were shaking. | lay
there motionless until the sweat dried on my skin and then | tried to get
back to sleep, but against the rattle of the air-conditioning unit, | knew |
was righting alosing battle. Around four-thirty, | gave up, got out of bed
and stepped outside, a bottle of Coke in hand, into the enveloping
warmth of the tinder-dry Mojave night air.

The liquid shimmer of the night sky had been diluted by the first
traces of dawn light, dimming the intensity of the stars alittle, but not the
overal effect. | lay back on the hood of my car and tried to lose myselfin
thoughts of the cosmos and Garry Lyles dreams of a "50-year fast trip"
to Alpha Centauri in a craft whose modus operandi was beyond the
comprehension of the best brain talent in NASA.

After six months of sniffing around the black world, even longer
reporting on its periphery, | had found nothing within the Air Force or
its attendant industry to suggest the remotest link with any of the five
methodol ogies espoused by NASA for cracking the gravity code. All |
had found was apossiblelink to T. T. Brown and, significant though this
was, it left too many gaps in the overall picture.

While Brown's early work might conceivably have explained how an
aircraft with the performance characteristics of a UFO had come to be
"within the present U.S. knowledge" in 1947—the footnote to the memo
I'd found between USAAF generals Twining and and Schulgen (now
stained with the coffee I'd spilled across it)—it begged other questions:
why NASA had studiously chosen to ignore his work, for example, as a
pathway toantigravity.

The official reason, according to Valone, LaViolette and others, was
that the Air Force had carried out its own investigation into the Brown
effect asrecently as 1990 and had found no causeto believeit wasreal. In
a report on "Twenty-first Century Propulsion Concepts," prepared for
the Air Force Systems Command Propulsion Directorate, the author,
Robert Talley, had concluded from his experiments that "no detectable
propulsive force was electrostatically induced." This failure to replicate
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Brown's work was cited by both NASA officials and Dr. Hal Puthoff as a
valid reason for excluding the Brown effect in their search for exotic
propulsion technologies.

But what the Air Force report did not make clear was that Brown had
consistently advocated using very high voltage to induce an electro-
gravitic effect—50 kilovolts in the case of the 2-foot diameter discs and
150 kV in the follow-up experiment that had supposedly exhibited
results "so impressive as to be highly classified." In Winterhaven, Brown
had urged further tests using a 10-foot diameter disc charged at 500 kV—
the Air Force, by contrast, had not raised the voltage in its tests above
19 kV.

During two out of dozens of readings, it conceded that it had recorded
some "anomalous' results, but it then made no attempt to explain these
anomalies in any subsequent analysis.

| tried to figure why this should be.

Was the Air Force afraid of the truth—or merely trying to suppressit?

In the clarity of thought that can come in the aftermath of dreams, the
other notion | latched onto was this: Ever since I'd stepped into the black
world 1'd not been moving forward, as I'd hoped, but backward; to a
period of research I'd already covered, rooted in work that had gone on a
half century earlier.

| was trying to find answers in high-tech hot spots like the Skunk
Works, when something told me | was looking in the wrong place; the
wrong time, even.

And Marckus, | felt sure of it, had known about this from the
beginning. He'd been in possession of the facts surrounding the B-2 and
for dl | knew he was bang up to date on NASA's advanced propulsion
activities as well. For the past God knows how long al I'd done was
duplicate his vast knowledge in a couple of key areas.

I'd been set some kind of practical exam and gone along with it.

After breakfast, | set off for my appointment with Gordon, keeping the
railway on my left and the sun behind me. In the distance, through the
early morning haze, a giant hangar pulled into view. It had been built in
the '70s as a fina assembly hall for Lockheed L1011 airliners, but
subsumed since the early '90s by the Skunk Works for the only official
work on its stocks: a bunch of "onesie-twosi€' upgrade programs
associated with the U-2 and F-117A.

The hangar dominated the desert scrubland for miles.

| pulled into the parking lot across the road from the main facility and
was met by Ron Lindeke, a seasoned veteran of Lockheed's PR machine.
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Since the interview was to take place on the main site itself—a rare
sanction, Lindeke reminded me—I was reminded to leave my camera
and tape recorder in the PR building. This functioned as an air lock
between the outside world and the organization's highly secure
operations on the other side of the road.

We drove in his car to the main gate, where our documentation was
double-checked and triple-checked. It took an age before we were finaly
admitted to aerospace's inner sanctum.

Gordon's office was located in an administration block in the lee of the
giant hangar. There was alow-slung building to the | eft of the gate and a
cluster of busy-looking facilities to the right. These were the factories
where the bulk of the company's classified work went on.

The giant hangar was what you were meant to see. The real work went
on in the buildings in its immense shadow.

| followed Lindeke to Gordon's office. The cool, low-lit atmosphere
chilled the sweat on my back and | wondered what it must be like to work
in thiswindowless environment al the time, day in, day out; and whether
it was true, as the engineer had told Bill Scott, that they really didn't let
you go once you were inducted.

We stepped into an office, as dimly lit asthe corridor | had just left. A
tall, powerfully built man got up from a table on the edge of the room.
Jack Gordon, the fourth president of the Skunk Works, smiled hesitantly
and shook my hand.

The Skunk Works and its dynastic leadership system was founded in
1943 by Kelly Johnson, a hugely talented, opinionated and irascible
aerospace engineer, in response to an urgent U.S. Army Air Forces
requirement for a jet fighter to counter the emergent threat of the
Messerschmitt 262. The Me 262, a twin-jet swept-wing fighter-bomber
of revolutionary performance, had recently been identified by Allied
intelligence as being under development for the Luftwaffe.

Johnson had long been badgering the L ockheed |eadership for aspecia
engineering department—small, agile and free of the overweening over-
heads and administrative baggage that encumbered technical progressin
every large aerospace corporation (including Lockheed); and with the
XP-80 project hefinally got it. The XP-80 was built in just 143 days and,
despite arriving too late for a showdown against the 262, went on to
become an aviation classic.

The unorthodox methods Johnson pioneered to bring the XP-80 in on
time and under budget—all the while under conditions of intense
secrecy—set the standard for everything that followed. Ten years later,
when the CIA drafted arequirement for aspyplane that could overfly the
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Soviet Union, it was Lockheed that came up with the solution. When
the Agency needed an aircraft to surpass the performance ofthat aircraft,
the glider-like U-2, again it was Lockheed that furnished the answer, this
time with the extraordinarily graceful Mach 3 A-12 Blackbird.

Like the U-2, the A-12 started as a black program, but gradually
moved into the light, emerging finally as the USAF SR-71, the fastest
operational aircraft in the world until its retirement in 1990. To this day,
there is nothing faster, but that, of course, presupposes the "Aurora’
stories aren't true.

Ben Rich, who succeeded Johnson in 1975, denied in his book Skunk
Works, which serves asits semiofficial history, that Auroraever existed.
But Rich did not offer any plausible explanation for what his company
had been up to since it produced the last F-| 17A Stealth Fighter in 1990.
There had been rollouts of two Y F-22 prototypes—the forerunner of the
USAF's new F-22A Raptor advanced tactical fighte—and a couple of
unmanned DarkStar reconnaissance vehicles, but neither of these could
account for the comings and goings of 4,000 workers or the busy
appearance of the low buildings | had passed on my way in.

| was questioning Gordon about the Skunk Works' operating charter
when he let dip that in the course of his 23 years with the company he
had worked on 15 "real flying aircraft"—adding hastily that he could
only talk about 12 of them.

It was in the ensuing seconds that the thought formed and rapidly
solidified in my sleep-starved brain.

Whatever was going on here, however many secret programs the
Skunk Works had on its books, none of them had anything to do with
antigravity.

Perhaps Aurora was real. Maybe it was the "fast mover" that people
had described crossing the high frontier above the Southwestern U.S. as
apulsating point of light—as reported in Aviation Week in the late 1980s.
Maybe it employed a drag-reduction device of even greater sophistica-
tion than the one apparently on the B-2. But whatever it was or wasn't,
Aurorawas an aircraft, designed and developed by aerospace engineers.

Forty years earlier, T. T. Brown had proposed specifically that Project
Winterhaven should be built outside the aerospace industry. Maybe
Brown knew intuitively what it had taken me months to grasp. The
aerospace industry had more to lose from antigravity than it could ever
gain from it. Gordon's entire business base relied on the science of
aerodynamics. Take that away and he, it—everything about the aero-
space industry, in fact—ceased to have any role or purpose.

Antigravity threatened to wipe the aerospace industry off the map.
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Was this the reason for the crushing silence that had followed the
industry'sinitial burst of enthusiasm for antigravity in 19567 If so, it was
the simplest explanation of al. And | had spent months on the wrong
heading.

| pressed Gordon on the missing three aircraft, but in view of the
direction my thoughts had taken, | must have unintentionally signaled
my indifference.

When he raised his eyes to mine, they told me that the meeting was
over.

Minutes later, Lindeke escorted me back toward the high heat that was
baking the floor of the Antelope Valley.

Just before | left the building, | stopped in front of a large chart on the
wall of the lobby area. | hadn't noticed it on the way in.

It proudly illustrated the lineage of every Skunk Works aircraft since
the XP-80. Past the picture of the U-2, past the SR-71 Blackbird and the
F-117A Stealth Fighter, past the YF-22 and DarkStar, and there was
something called "Astra."

Sitting at the top of the tree, Astra looked like an ultra-high-speed
reconnaissance aircraft; every pundit's dream of how Aurora ought to
look.

It was difficult to gauge Lindeke's reaction because he did not remove
his sunglasses, but he knew as well as | that the Skunk Works had built
nothing since DarkStar; and DarkStar, being unmanned, looked nothing
like "Astra."

In the car, | pressed him for an answer and he promised to come back
to me. It was several weeks later, long after | returned to England, that he
finallydid.

"Astra was a high-speed airliner we studied in the 1970s that got
canned,” he announced without any preamble. "l checked."

It took me a moment to absorb this. "The thing | saw was at the very
top of the chart, Ron, and it was most certainly not an airliner."

"Hey," he interjected testily, "the only Astra anyone here ever heard
of was something we considered more than 20 years ago and never built.
Take it or leave it." For a moment, the receiver filled with the sound of
hisbreathing. "Cal meif you got any further questions, won't you?' And
with that he was gone.
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There were two final way points on the invisible network of nodes and
links that held the black world together and here was thefirst of them, the
Pentagon, with its long, wide corridors leading to the offices of
Lieutenant General George Muellner, principal deputy, Office of the
Assistant Secretary of the Air Force for Acquisition. After a month's
interlude in the U.K., | was back in Washington on official business.

It was Muellner's last day as the service's chief procurement officer.
Tomorrow he retired, the culmination of a service career that had begun
in the late '60s as a pilot flying F4s out of Cam Ranh Bay, South Vietnam.

According to his bio, he had more than 5,300 hours on F-4s, A-7s,
F-15s and F16s. Muellner completed 690 combat missions over
Vietnam and logged another 50 combat sorties during the Gulf War
in 1991, at which time he commanded a deployment of Joint STARS
battlefield surveillance aircraft. In 1991, Joint STARS was still officially
under experimental test, but its belly-mounted radar proved invaluable
in picking out Iragi tanks and Scud launchers against theflat backdrop of
the desert. It was, to use the jargon, an "enabling technology" that had
helped the Codlition to win the war.

Another "enabler" had been stealth, a technology with which Muell-
ner was intimately familiar, although you would never guessit from his
official past. The merest clue that he had once been bound up in the
stealth revolution came in the fourth paragraph of the "assignments’
section of his bio, the part that outlined the key milestones of his career.
While the maximum period of time contained in each of the 17 other
paragraphs covered ayear, two at the most, the fourth paragraph spanned
an unusually long length of time: May 1973 to July 1982.

During these nine years, Muellner's activities were described as "F-15
operational test pilot, 4486th Test Squadron, Edwards Air Force Base,
Cdlif.; chief of systems testing, USAF Test Pilot School; test pilot with
the 16 Combined Test Force; and operations officer and commander,
6513th Test Squadron, testing classified aircraft." It was kind of like
Pittman Station all over again.
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So, Muellner had the Right Stuff in spades and he had lived a great
deal of his professional life in the black. His nine years in the test
community, it turned out, covered one of the most intense periods of
development in the U.S. Air Force's history—a time when it had had to
take a long hard look at its equipment and tactics and rapidly come up
with araft of new ideas and hardware to ensure that it was as ready for
the next conflict as it had been ill-prepared for the one it had just fought
and lost in Vietnam. It was this period that presaged the biggest hike in
black world spending since the days of the first and most grandiose black
world project of all: the bomb.

By even stepping into the building—the great edifice constructed by
General Ledlie Groves prior to his appointment as director of the atomic
bomb project—I knew | had entered a world of Catch-22s. If the Air
Force was developing antigravity, there was no way, of course, that
Muellner was simply going to come clean and admit it. Then again, if it
was going on, it was also possible Muellner had been excluded from it. If
this was the case, Muellner's answers to my questions, whether they were
true or not, would have "plausible deniability"—the earnest and sincere
response of an official whose résumé said he should be in the know, even
though in reality he wasn't.

It seemed an apposite way to start, so | asked the general whether he
was satisfied that he'd been briefed on everything that was being
procured for the Air Forcein his name.

He replied without missing abeat. "l believe s0. Y ou know, it's one of
those questions you never know the answer for sure, but | think the
answer is'yes."'

S0, just what was the Air Force developing in the black?

"Things that push the envelope beyond where we're at," he replied,
again without hesitation. Next-generation stealth, certain breakthrough
weapons technologies, information warfare, spy satellites. That sort of
thing.

Civilians who made it their business to keep tabs on such affairs,
sleuths like the Desert Rats who ventured as deep as it was possible go
into black world territory without getting their heads blown off, claimed
that there might be as many as four secret "platforms" flying out there, |
probed, including the fabled Aurora—or was it Astra now?

Suddenly, Muellner looked uncomfortablein his stiff, blue uniform; a
shirtsleeves airman who'd have gladly swapped the formality of his
Pentagon suite for something a little closer to the front line of advanced
flight test.

"If they are," he said, "then my earlier answer about knowing about
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all our programs may be faulty, because I'm certainly not aware of
them."

The Air Force, he added, had no need for a reconnaissance aircraft
that could fly around the globe at Mach 7 or Mach 8 when the satellites
it already had in place could, for the most part, do the same job at a
fraction of the cost.

Stealth, however, was a different matter and here the Air Force was
developing a range of new technologies in the black.

Muellner wouldn't be specific, but he hinted that at least part of this
effort entailed the development of "reactive skins' that would enable a
next-generation stealth fighter to change color like achameleon, blending
against its background from any perspective. A cloaking device that
could, in effect, make an aircraft disappear into the surrounding ether.
Visual stealth to add to the radar and infrared variety aready in place.

None of these efforts had resulted in any new operational aircraft yet,
but there were test programs under way, he said, designed to "mature
technology."

From this it was acceptable to deduce that something had been
developed at the time of the Aurora sightings over the North Sea ail rig
and elsewhere, that something real had been tripping the seismology
sensors of the USGS, but that for whatever reason the vehicle had not
been procured for front-line service. Why? Because Muellner didn't
need to be saying any of this. The Air Force never talked about black
programs; but on this, his last full day in office, had the general decided
to invoke his other responsibility as the service's "chief information
officer" and set the record straight?

The black world had taken a pasting of late. The rumors about what
the Air Force was doing away from the public light of accountability were
starting to spiral out of control. There were certain things that the Air
Force would always need to develop in the black to maintain America's
readiness in an uncertain world, Muellner said.

"And the rest?" | asked him, easing between the agreed subject matter
of the interview and the antigravity question. What about the people—
apparently sane and credible witnesses—who said that they saw thingsin
the desert night skies that seemed to defy the laws of physics? Craft that
hovered right over them sometimes, huge, motionless, silent?

Muellner smiled. Get him the name of the contractor, he said, because
he'd love to put them under contract. Whatever was out there, it had
nothing to do with the Air Force.

But here was the disconnect. People were seeing things that defied
explanation in the vicinity of Area 51, Nevada, the U.S. Air Force base
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that didn't exist a hundred miles north of Las Vegas, north of a bend on
Highway 375—the "Extraterrestrial Highway," as it had been dubbed by
the Nevada state legislature.

Here, Tikaboo Valley, 25 mileswide and six times aslong, aslonely a
place as you could find on the planet, stretched into the distance till it
merged with the horizon.

It was Tikaboo Valley that connected the outside world to Area 51,
hidden as it was by the jagged peaks and ridges of the Groom Range and
the Jumbled Hills. Right above it, high on top of Bad Mountain,
elevation 9,380 feet, sat the radar site and observation post that gave
security officersan unrestricted view of all traffic entering and transiting
the area. It was the first of several security rings and sensor networks
employed by the Air Force to ensure that nothing penetrated the discreet
cordon sanitaire around the base. The others, if you were unlucky, could
be a lot less passive, more in-the-face: the sworn-in deputies from
"Pittman Station" who patrolled the valley looking for miscreants and
who occasionally locked them up and were said to throw away the key;
and the Black Hawk helicopters that had been known to sandblast the
odd Desert Rat from his hidey-hole on the high ground overlooking Area
51's 27,000-foot runway .

Already one of the longest paved runways in the world, it had been
specially extended in the late 1980s in amove that supported the widely
held view in the "stealth-watcher" community that a very high-speed
aircraft was under test at Area 51. Couple this with the unmarked charter
planes and buses with their windows blacked out that were ferrying up to
4,000 workers in and out of the base from Los Angeles and Las Vegas
every week and word soon got around that Area 51 was as busy as it
had ever been in its 40-year history—ever since, in fact, Kelly John-
son, the Skunk Works' founder, brought the U-2 here for testing in the
mid-1950s.

But alongside the stealth-watchers, another set of pilgrims regularly
made the trip to Tikaboo Valey. Many of these people had been drawn
to Area 51 by the revelations of a man named Robert Lazar, who in 1989
claimed to have worked on recovered alien spacecraft at asite adjacent to
Area 51 known as S-4. While Lazar's claims seemed wild, his followers
consistently reported sightings of strange orbs of light over the base
objects that seemed to defy the way aircraft—even the top secret variety
at Groom Lake—ought to fly.

But tread the fine line between the world of black programs and the
world of UFOs and you entered another minefield of disinformation.

In 1997, the CIA admitted in a set of released documents that it had
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encouraged reports of flying saucers in the 1950s and 1960s to obscure
the flight trials of its then top secret U-2 and A-12 spyplanes. The
implication wasthat if you saw one of these things overflying the highway
and reported it, there was something wrong with your reasoning. It was
a tactic that worked well.

Add this to the highly compartmentalized, watertight environment in
which black program engineers and scientists worked, and the fear they
were reportedly subjected to, and here, as with the Philadelphia
Experiment, was a cheap, but highly effective means of maintaining
program secrecy. By the cusp of the millennium, there was so much bad
information mixed in with the good about black programs that it was
often impossible to tell them apart.

Was Astra ancther case in point?

On my return from California I'd left a message on Marckus
answering machine. Maybe, 1'd conceded, talking to the machine like it
was a confessional, | had been expresdy meant to see that chart. Maybe
Astrawas asubtle piece of disinformation; amisleading fragment planted
ahead of my visit. Then again, maybe it wasn't. Maybe it was genuine.

Faced as | was with the official denial, Astrawas every bit as effective
as a hit team equipped with Colt Commandos and a platinum hard-key.
Less messy, too.

Thistime, Marckus had called me back. | told him then what | thought
of his wild-goose chase. He never attempted to deny it. | got the
impression he truly beieved it was good for me, like it was an extension
of my education or something.

In the small hours of a particularly hot night, three days after I'd sat in
Muellner's office, | watched from my mountaintop lookout as a ball of
shining golden light rose above the hills that separated Groom L ake from
Tikaboo Valley. The light appeared to hang in the air for afew moments
before drifting lazily downrange and disappearing behind a mountain
peak 50 miles to the south.

It left me strangely unmoved.

In the kind of silence that you can shred with a razor when you're a
hundred miles from anywhere, | found myself thinking again about the
memo from Lt. Gen. Nathan Twining, head of the U.S. Army Air
Forces' Air Materiel Command, to Brig. Gen. George Schulgen, chief of
USAAF intelligence in September 1947. The memo I'd spilled coffee
over in my basement back in London.

Twining's observation—that objects "approximating the shape of a
disc, of such appreciable size as to appear to be as large as a man-made
aircraft" were neither "visionary nor fictitious'—was written just three
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months after the supposed crash of a UFO at Roswell, New Mexico, in
July 1947: the period that most peopletout asthereal start of the modern
UFO sightings era.

What was it that Twining had written? That it was possible, "within
the present U.S. knowledge—provided extensive detailed devel opment
is undertaken—to construct a piloted aircraft which has the general
description of the object above which would be capable of an approxi-
mate range of 7,000 miles at subsonic speeds.”

In mid-August 1945, | recalled, too, that 300 railroad freight cars of
V-2 components captured in the European theater of operations had
trundled westward across the wilderness from the Gulf of Mexico to the
Organ Mountains, deep inside the dry, desert hinterland. Every railroad
siding from El Paso, Texas, to Belen, New Mexico, a distance of 210
miles, had been seen to be full of cars al headed for the White Sands
Proving Ground, 125 miles to the west of Roswell. Following on behind
them were approximately 40 captured German scientists recruited under
the covert selection program known as "Operation Paperclip." They
were led by Wernher von Braun.

Maybe Roswell had happened, maybe it hadn't. But if something had
comedown in that summer of 1947, something extraterrestrial, there was
no definitive proof, more than half a century later, to say that what had
crashed there was dien; and dozens, if not hundreds of researchers had
sought to discover the truth about it.

But if Roswdl's extraterrestrial dimension was simply a piece of
fiction, then why not turn the thing around, look alittle to the left or the
right, and see what swam into focus.

When | looked at Roswell this way, | saw the White Sands Proving
Ground. And then | saw something ese.

The V-2 rocket program had started under the aegis of the German
Army, the Wehrmacht, but had been transferred in thefinal stages of the
war on Hitler's orders to a higher authority: Reichsfihrer-SS, Heinrich
Himmler. The same had been true of the Me 262 jet fighter and just
about every other German high-tech weapons program. Most of them
had started under Luftwaffe control and then migrated in the same
direction. In short, anything that had shown any real promise as aweapon
system—in particular, anything that appeared to represent a quantum
leap over the then state of the art—had ended up under the oversight of
the SS.

Eight thousand feet above sealevd, | felt a constriction in my throat. |
was so keyed up, my breath was coming in short, sharp gasps. But the
thoughts kept on tumbling.
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Just as it seemed |'d been wrong in trying to connect antigravity with
the USAF, so | redlized, in a moment of clarity, I'd made the same
mistake in Germany.

What had Lusty actually stood for? Luftwaffe Secret Technology.

In looking for evidence of an antigravity program in the raw
intelligence reports of Project Lusty, had | been heading up ablind alley?

If antigravity had been developed by the Nazis, then perhaps it hadn't
been under Luftwaffe control at all, but that of the SS.

| called Marckus from a public phone in a windswept diner just after |
turned off the Extraterrestrial Highway for Vegas. | told him the
conclusions I'd reached and that the available clues said | should take
another look at Germany.

"I think you're making a mistake,” Marckus said. "If anyone has
cracked it, it's the Americans. Stay in the States, use your contacts, go
deeper."

| neglected to tell him that, thanks to hisfield test which showed that
my research in the U.S. was merely duplicating his knowledge, I'd
wasted enough time already.
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In the reading room of London's Imperidl War Museum, under a
skylight battered by autumn winds and icy rain, | immersed myself in
books and papers that plotted the SSs gradual takeover of the German
aerogpace and weapons industry in the last two years of the war. But
as the evidence mounted, | found myself increasingly distracted by
thoughts of Marckus. Why had he warned me off the German research
angle? Why did Marckus, with his incisve mind and razor-sharp
reasoning, insist on belittling information that seemed more beguiling by
the hour?

It was the intractible aspect of this contradiction that led me to pledge
quietly to mysdf that from now on I'd be much more careful about what
| told him.

It was in August 1943, just three months after the first successful test
shot of the A-4 rocket, better known as the V-2 vengeance wespon, that
Himmler, head of the SS, managed to wrest the V-2 from the control of
the Wehrmacht, the German Army. Himmler was at the Wolf's Lair,
Hitler's remote headquarters in the forests of East Prussia, when the
Fahrer, in the company of his deputy Martin Bormann, brought up the
subject of A-4 manufacture and his concerns about program secrecy.
Hitler, as was his wont, was demanding the impossible.

The recent test of the A-4, which had landed just five kilometers off-
target over a distance of 265 kilometers, had finally convinced Hitler,
after months of vacillation, that the rocket would thwart the Allies
developing invasion plans and quite possibly bring Britain to its knees.
He demanded that 5,000 rockets should go into immediate production
and be delivered in the shortest possible time.

Himmler saw his chance. Quick to exploit an opportunity, the
Reichsfuhrer knew that neither the Wehrmacht nor Albert Speer,
Hitler's young and energetic minister of armaments and war production,
could deliver the project under existing arrangements. Hitler had
decreed that "only Germans' should be employed in the production of

153



154 The Huntfor Zero Point

the A-4, but the sheer size of the task meant, practically speaking, that
foreign civilian workers—Poles, Hungarians, Czechs and others from the
conquered east—would have to be involved sooner rather than later in
the process. But with foreign workers came the risk of the security leaks
that Hitler had expressly sought to eliminate. It was to this apparently
insoluble conundrum that Himmler claimed he had the answer.

What he offered Hitler, he promised, was watertight: his proposed
workforce would be drawn not from the diminishing manpower re-
sources of the Reich's civilian labor pool, but from the SS-controlled
concentration camps, from which there was no escape. The same work-
force, Himmler added, could be used to build the underground manu-
facturing facilities that would keep the A-4 secure from Allied bombing.
Faced with the logic of this proposal, Hitler agreed, but informed
Himmler that he must cooperate with Speer.

Though the SS controlled the camps, it was the armaments ministry
that had masterminded the revitalization of the German manufacturing
economy, achieving month-on-month growth, in spite of the ferocity of
the Allies strategic bombing campaign, since Speer's appointment the
previous year. Y et, when he was informed of Himmler's proposal, Speer
couldn't help but object to it, knowing that Himmler, whose dreams
invariably exceeded his abilities, would never be able to deliver what he
had promised. This was undoubtedly the case, but it was not what Hitler
wanted to hear. The following day, Himmler informed Speer that he had
taken charge of the manufacture of the "A-4 instrument” (as it was
known to concedl its identity and purpose to outsiders) and demanded
Speer's full cooperation as a subordinate. This the outmaneuvered
armaments minister was forced to provide.

Thus, within 24 hours, did Himmler not only acquire control of the
V-2 program, but in the process lay the foundations for the SS takeover
of al secret weapons programs within the Third Reich.

For years, the Reichsfiihrer-SS had harbored a grand scheme to turn
the SS, originally established as Hitler's bodyguard, into a self-sustaining
economic entity, capable of funding and running its affairs without
reliance on the everyday financial and administrative mechanisms that
maintained and sustained the Reich. It was via the camps that Himmler
and his leading economic authority, Oswald Pohl, realized that they
could achieve their aims. By 1943, population of the camps had surged—
from around 25,000 on the eve of the war, to well over half amillion, a
figure that did not begin to reflect the millions that had already died in
death camps like Auschwitz, Dachau and Mauthausen and the millions
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more that would die of disease, starvation and the gas chambers before
hostilities were over.

In a perverse reflection of the growth of the camps, the size of the SS
itself surged from an eve-of-war strength of 240,000 to an end-of-war
tally numbering 800,000. Aside from its task to maintain security within
Hitler's state and its brutal administration of the death and labor camps,
the SS dso provided 38 fighting divisions alongside the Wehrmacht.

After the abortive bomb plot against Hitler in July 1944, a scheme
hatched by anti-Hitler elements within the German Army Genera Staff,
the control of the SS and its grip upon Germany would become absol ute.
But it was in August 1943, at the Wolf's Lair, that the seeds of the SSs
takeover of the armaments industry were sown. Skilled workers and
scientific specidists, Himmler told Speer, would immediately be trans-
ferred from the camps to begin work on the A-4. Furthermore, the
Reichsfihrer-SS added, he had asked a "young energetic construction
expert, who had already proved his outstanding ability, to take charge of
the enterprise.”

Speer must have had an overwhelming sense of inevitability as to the
identity of thisindividual, but he inquired anyway. The man who was to
assume direct oversight of the A-4's manufacture, Himmler told him,
was Dr. Ing. (Engineer) Hans Kammler, head of the SSs Building and
Works Division—the entity that had masterminded and built the camps.

Kammler's rise inside the SS had been meteoric. Up until 1941, he
had been an unremarkable civil servant within the RLM, the Reich Air
Ministry, with specia responsibility for construction projects—hangars,
barracks, administrative offices and the like. In the autumn ofthat year,
realizing that he was never going to rise to the heights to which he
aspired, he transferred to the SS, where he received the rank of Brigade-
fuhrer and was immediately put in charge of building projects. By the
end ofthat year, Kammler had aready drafted afive-year RM13-hillion
program of construction for SS barracks and concentration camps
stretching from the newly captured territories of the Soviet Union to
Norway.

The sense that the SS gave Kammler free rein to indulge his ideas and
ambitions—suppressed during his years of obscure service at the
RLM—is unavoidable. No sooner had his appointment taken effect, than
he was drawing up detailed plans for the rapid expansion of the camps,
egged on by Pohl, who had impressed upon him their value as the engines
of growth for his and Himmler's grotesque vision.

To turn it into reality, Kammler immediately saw what needed to be
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done and requested to expand the capacity of the camps to four million;
three months later, he increased this figure again to 14 million.

While the building program got under way, he set about industrial-
izing the existing camps, but progressively found himself thwarted by
Speer, who, irrespective of any feelings he may or may not have had
about the moral consequences of such a scheme, believed that the camps
were not the answer to Germany's manufacturing needs. Yet it was a
confrontation that Speer was bound to lose, as he tacitly admitted in his
memoirs; for, in Kammler, he was essentially battling against a twisted
image of himself.

"He too came from a solid middle-class family, had gone through
university, had been 'discovered' because of his work in construction,
and had gone far and fast in fields for which he had not been trained."
Speer, it is clear, was jealous of Kammler, but while Speer patently
wrestled with his conscience, especially during these years, there is no
sign of any moral doubt on the part of the 40-year-old SS officer.

Kammler was cut from the same cloth as SS-Obergruppenfihrer
Reinhard Heydrich, the author of the "Fina Solution of the Jewish
Problem," who was assassinated by Czech agents in Prague in 1942,

"Both were blond, blue-eyed, long-headed, always neatly dressed, and
well bred. Both were capable of unexpected decisions at any moment,
and once they had arrived at them would carry them through with arare
obstinacy," Speer noted.

With Heydrich dead, Himmler had found in Kammler a cold, ruthless
and energetic executor of his wishes; the man who would carry though
his simple, yet grandiose vision.

Kammler set about his task as overseer of the A-4 manufacture
program with clinical zeal. One week after Himmler's fateful meeting
with Hitler at the Wolf's Lair, he dispatched the first group of
concentration camp inmates from Buchenwald to Nordhausen in the
Harz Mountains of central Germany, where work on a giant under-
ground construction facility for the A-4/V-2 commenced.

Within amonth, Kammler and Speer, the latter in his new capacity on
the project as junior partner to the SS, established the low-profile
Mittelwerk GmbH (Central Works Ltd.) to run the rocket venture.

By the end of the year, 10,000 Buchenwald prisoners—mostly Rus-
sians, Poles and Frenchmen—had been dispatched into the limestone
cliffs of the Kohnstein, the mountainous ridge close to the village of
Nordhausen into which the facility was tunneled, to bring about the
impossible: the construction of the largest underground factory in the
world, afacility a kilometer and a half long containing 20 kilometers of
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tunnels and galleries, dedicated to the construction of rockets, missiles
and other top secret weapons. It was finished in a year—20,000 prisoners
dying in the process.

Plans show that it was the first phase in a construction program that
would have made the Mittelwerk part of an enterprise three times the
size.

Thereafter, Kammler's ascent to the top levels of the bureaucracy
surrounding Hitler'sinner cabinet was unstoppable. As 1943 drifted into
1944, the SSs steadfast refusal to believe in anything other than final
victory ensured its degpening involvement at all levels of state. In March
1944, at the formation of a combined "Fighter Aircraft Staff composed
of senior Luftwaffe and armaments ministry officials tasked with
increasing fighter production in the face of the Allies' determination to
wipe it out with carpet bombing, Kammler represented the SS as
Himmler's special delegate, offering two primary areas of expertise: his
rapidly developing knowledge of underground factory construction and
his ability to mobilize vast numbers of concentration camp laborers. In
recognition of this, Reichsmarschal Hermann Goering, head of the
Luftwaffe and Hitler's nominal successor, tasked Kammler with trans-
ferring strategic aircraft factories underground. Just over three months
later, Himmler was able to report to Hitler that ten aircraft factories with
an underground floor space of tens of thousands of square meters had
been constructed in just eight weeks.

Asthe Reich's decay accelerated under the rel entless news of defeat on
al fronts—the D-Day invasion had placed Allied troops in France, the
Red Army had just crossed into Poland and British and American
bombers were pummeling German cities daily from the air—Kammler's
influence spread. In the air of paranoia that followed the bomb plot of
July 20, his ascendancy entered its final and most decisive phase. On
August 6, following Himmler's appointment as head of armaments,
adding to his portfolio as chief of internal security and commander in
chief of the reserve army, Kammler was given responsibility for all
aspects of V-2 operations—from design through manufacture to deploy-
ment and offensive operations against England and the Low Countries.
In effect, Kammler now had sole charge of the project from planning to
firing; aposition that, thanks to his obsessive eye for detail, gave him an
insight into the running of a strategic weapons program that no other
individual has enjoyed before or since.

InJanuary 1945, with the Red Army in Budapest and Warsaw and the
Western Allies turning the tide of the Germans Ardennes offensive,
Kammler was appointed head of al missile programs—defensive as well
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as offensive. On February 6th, Hitler transferred cradle-to-grave respon-
sibility for all air weapons—fighters, missiles and bombers—to the man
that many Party insiders now viewed asthe most powerful and influential
state official outside Hitler's inner cabinet.

Kammler had first come to Hitler's attention with a carefully crafted
hand-colored design for the Auschwitz concentration camp. It was his
perverse capacity to retain control of the minutiae of a project without
ever relinquishing grip on the strategic objectives, atrait shared by Hitler
himself, that drew him increasingly into the Fiihrer's orbit; a charac-
teristic that came to the fore when Kammler "reengineered” the Warsaw
Ghetto after the crushing of the uprising in August 1944. He not only
leveled the "contaminated area” but made sure that each of the 34
million bricks from the Ghetto was used for other essential building
projects. He was aso called in to advise on methodologies for increasing
the daily output of the camps gas chambers and ovens from 10,000 to
60,000. For this and his other work he was rewarded with an SS general's
rank of Obergruppenfihrer.

By the beginning of April 1945, with the Red Army driving toward
Berlin and Hitler now ensconced in the FUhrerbunker below the Party
Chancellery, Kammler had acquired control of every single major
aircraft—or rather, aerospace—program of any importance within the
Third Reich. His empire now included any project or facility that had
either an SSinfluence or was aircraft or missile related. Geographically,
this gave him the authority to enter and operate any weapons plant within
the shrinking borders of the Reich, by now restricted to Norway,
Denmark, northern Germany, southern Bavaria, Czechoslovakia, Aus-
tria and northern Italy.

What is astounding is the belief of the Nazi leadership, even at this
terminal stage of the war, that Kammler would bring about miracles and
deliver the German people from the relentless advances of the Soviets in
the east and the British and Americans in the west. "The Fuhrer has had
prolonged discussions with Obergruppenfihrer Kammler who now
carries responsibility for the reform of the Luftwaffe," propaganda
minister Joseph Goebbels wrote in his diary on April 3. "Kammler is
doing excellently and great hopes are placed on him."

Yet, for all the power vested in Kammler at this late stage of the war
he barely rates amention in standard works of reference on the L uftwaffe
or its major programs. There is so little data on him, in fact, that
archivists at London's Imperial War Museum confessed that their files
contained next to nothing on him.

Just when | thought | was going to have to look elsewhere, perhapsin
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Germany itsalf, | received a phone cal from a diligent researcher at the
Imperial War Museum who'd become as engrossed as | was by the lack
of information on Kammler.

The researcher told me, a note of triumph in his voice, that he had
turned up abook on Kammler after arigorous search: aslim volume, with
acurious titte—Blunder! How the U.S. Gave Away Nazi Supersecrets to
Russia—penned by a British Cambridge graduate-turned-foreign corres-
pondent named Tom Agoston.

What Blunder! contained, however, was dynamite, for Agoston had
established what no other researcher has managed to before or since.

While Kammler carried out his job to the letter, churning out the
rockets and jet aircraft that Hitler hoped would turn the tide against the
Allies in the closing weeks of the war, he dso set up, unbeknownst to
anyone connected with those projects, a top secret research center tasked
with the development of follow-on technology, a place where work on
"second-generation” secret weapons was already well advanced.

"In modern high-tech jargon, the operation would probably be re-
ferred to as an 'SS research think tank,' " Agoston wrote.

In the jargon of the U.S. aerospace and defense industry, however,
Kammler's "think tank" would have been known by a different term—
one that would have been familiar, though, to anyone who had ever been
consigned to the black world.

What Kammler had established was a "gpecid projects office" a
forerunner of the entity that had been run by the bright young colonels
of the USAF's stealth program in the 1970s and 1980s, a place of vision,
where imagination could run free, unfettered by the restraints of ac-
countability. Exactly the kind of place, in fact, you'd expect to find
antigravity technology, if such an impossible thing existed.
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According to Agoston, Kammler set up his special Stab (staff) for these
visionary projects in a highly compartmentalized section of the Skoda
Works in the Reich Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia in the vassa
Nazi state of Czechoslovakia. Through the brutal administration of
Heydrich, the Protector of Bohemia-Moravia until his assassination in
June 1942, the SS had come to treat the industry of the entire Czech
region asitsown private domain. In March 1942, Himmler formally took
over the operations of the Skoda Works, a giant industrial complex
centered on the Czech towns of Pilsen and Brno, as an SS-run opera
tion. In the process, he managed to bypass Speer, who knew nothing
of the arrangement until Hitler told him it was afait accompli. With
the SS in charge of Skoda, Hitler tasked Himmler with evaluation
and, where appropriate, duplication of captured enemy weapon systems
whose performance outstripped the Germans own. Under the leader-
ship of Skoda's director general, honorary SS-Standartenfihrer (colo-
nel) Wilhelm Voss, this project was completed in record time. On
May 11, 1942, Voss was able to explain to Himmler what it was that had
enabled him to progress the development of these back-engineered
weapon systems so successfully—"by concentrating all devel opmentsfor
the Waffen-SS in the liaison staff of Skoda and Bruenn [Brno] weapons
plants, and assuring systematic, intense cooperation with the SS Ord-
nance Office."

In effect, Voss was telling Himmler that he had been able to move
as quickly and effectively as he had thanks to the removal of the over-
weening bureaucracy that went hand in hand with projects administered
by Speer's armaments office.

As far as the regular mechanisms of the Reich procurement machine
were concerned, then, the Skoda operation was to al intents and
purposes beyond oversight. This would set the scene for the Kammler
special projects group, which was so deeply buried, so beyond regular
control, it was as if it did not exist.

Voss, "tall, quietly reserved in manner, graying, upright and elegant,”

160
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would become Kammler's ater ego in the administration of the specia
projects group. Seven years older than the SS general and with a
reputation as an industrialist that was as solid as arock, Voss, with his
nuts-and-bolts background, was the ideal complement to Kammler's
driven bureaucrat. Even better, the two men had atask from Hitler and
Himmler to run the specia projects group without the least interference
from Goering or Speer. Apparently, neither Goering, head of the
Luftwaffe, nor Speer, head of all armaments programs, would have the
least idealit existed.

But for Tom Agoston, in fact, the reality of the Kammlerstab might
never have emerged at all.

Agoston was a Cambridge graduate who had served during the war as
an air photo interpreter. After the war, hetraveled to Germany to report
on the Nuremberg war crimes trials. It was there that he ran into Voss.

Though not indicted by the war crimes tribunal, Voss was so close to
the Nazi elite that his name was constantly on thelips of the prosecutors.

"Everyone wanted to interview Voss, but they couldn't find him,"
Agoston told me over the phone from his home in Germany a half
century later, the satisfaction till evident in his voice. "As he was
sheltering in my house at the time, this was hardly surprising.”

Inthe course of several extended interviewsin 1949, Vossunburdened
himself of the whole Skoda story, speaking of his activities there with
"unique frankness."

Tired and disillusioned, Voss was patently grateful for Agoston's
company and when the subject of the Kammler Group surfaced, he told
the reporter everything.

The Kammler specia projects office was regarded by the sdect few
who knew about it as the most advanced high-technology research and
development center within the Third Reich. It was totally independent
of the Skoda Works own R&D division, but used Skoda for cover.

All funding for the programs at the Kammlerstab was channeled
through Voss, who reported alongside Kammler directly to Himmler.
The scientists were culled from research institutes al over the Reich,
chosen for their acumen as engineers and scientists, not for their
alegiance to the party.

"Many scientists, anxious to seetheir work in print, evenifit was kept
top secret, prepared papersfor acentral office of scientific reports, which
circulated them to specific recipients. Some of these reports were used as
the basis for selecting candidates for employment at Skoda," Agoston
wrote.

Once recruited to the special projects group, whether they liked it or



162 The Huntfor Zero Point

not, the scientists set about their work, their activities protected by a
triple ring of security provided by SS counter-intelligence speciaists
assigned specially for the task.

These security rings were established by Himmler around Skoda's
Sites at Pilsen and Brno and their administrative center in Prague.

Voss described the activities of the scientists at the Kammlerstab as
beyond any technology that had appeared by the end of the war—
working on weapon systems that made the V-1 and the V-2 look
pedestrian. Among these were nuclear power plants for rockets and
aircraft, highly advanced guided weapons and antiaircraft lasers. The
latter were so far ahead of their time that by the end of the 20th century
there was till no official confirmation of laser weapons having entered
service, despite the best efforts of the Russians and the Americans.

In March 1949, several weeks, after he briefed Agoston, Voss was
pulled in for questioning by the U.S. Counter-intelligence Corps.

Shortly afterward, he wrote in secret to Agoston and requested that die
heisse angelegenheit—"the hot matter"—they had discussed earlier that
year was not for publication.

Voss had told the CIC agents about the range of research activities that
had been pursued by the specia projects group and they informed him,
in no uncertain terms, that he was never to speak about the Kammlerstab
or its programs to anyone.

V oss gave them hisword, neglecting to tell them, of course, that he had
aready briefed Agoston.

Agoston duly honored Voss request to put a lid on the matter, but
with Voss death in 1974 he was absolved of his obligation and began
picking up the threads of the story again. Voss interrogation reports
should have been freely available under the U.S. Freedom of Information
Act, but despite persistent requests, Agoston was told they were
unavailable; that there was no record, in fact, of any such interrogations
ever having taken place.

| recalled from the Lusty documents | had examined in Washington a
report that had been filed by OSS agents, forerunners of the CIA, from
Austriain April 1945. Bundled into a collection of unprocessed notes on
Nazi high-technology weapons "targets’ examined by U.S. intelligence
specidists, the report had mentioned a location in Vienna where experi-
ments had supposedly been conducted on "antiaircraft rays'—Iaser
weapons.

"Research activity is conducted in a house at the above address
(87, Weimarerstr. Vienna). Research personnel were not allowed to leave
house (reported hermetically sealed).”
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Funny, I thought, how this much later on in the investigation | saw
things through a markedly different prism. At the time, 1'd been focused
on the technology. Now, the fact that the Germans had been working on
directed energy weapons was subordinate to a subtly different observa
tion: that the Nazis had operated a compartmentalized security structure
like the one now operated by the black world.

It was then that | saw the Kammler specia projects group for what it
was, not as afacility where experiments were conducted, but as an R&D
coordinating center. Testing wouldn't have been performed at Skoda
itself, but in the field.

It was exactly as Agoston said it was: athink tank, not an experimental
site.

| put out feelersinto the Czech Republic and Poland. | now saw that if
there had been any truth at al in the reports of flying saucers devel oped
by the Germans at the end of the war, this was the place to start looking.
If the legend that had grown up around the supposed activities of Messrs.
Schriever, Habermohl, Miethe and Bellonzo was in any shape, way or
form based on truth—and while my earlier research had shown there
wasn't a shred of solid evidence to say they were, | was convinced there
was ho smoke without fire—two places always seemed to recur in so-
called testimony.

The first was Prague, not a million miles from Skodas twin hubs at
Pilsen and Brno (Bruenn). The second was Bredau in the German
province of Lower Silesia. Then part of Germany, Breslau—renamed
Wroclaw—istoday in southwest Poland.

| turned my attention back to Kammler.

In March 1945, Kammler moved his headquarters from Berlin to
Munich, working out of the regional Waffen-SS and Reich Police
Construction Office. On April 16, three weeks after he had received his
mission from Hitler to change the course of the war, Kammler delegated
Gerhard Degenkolb, industrial plenipotentiary for the manufacture of jet
aircraft at Speer's ministry for armaments and war production, to assume
specia responsibility for manufacture of the Messerschmitt 262,
Germany's last-ditch hope in the war in the air. On April 17, with the
Third Reich crashing around his ears, Kammler sent a message to
Himmler at SS Command Headquarters in Berlin denying Himmler the
use of a heavy truck that the Reichsfihrer-SS had requested from the
Junkers aircraft factory motor pool—an order so obsessive in its attention
to detail, given the inferno that was burning around Kammler, that Speer
later described it as "both terrifying and laughable.”

Bethat asit may. It wasthelast official message anyone ever received
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from Kammler, who by April 18 had dropped off the map—effectively
without trace.

"In the course of my enforced collaboration with this man," wrote Speer
of Kammler after the war, "l discovered him to be a cold, ruthless
schemer, afanatic in pursuit of agoal, and as carefully calculating as he
was unscrupulous.”

If there was one thing | had learned about Kammler in the short time
| had spent analyzing his activities, it was that nothing in the clockwork
routine of his life happened by chance. By the beginning of April 1945,
while Hitler was heaping new responsibilities on his shoulders almost by
the day, the general would have been acutely aware that it was just a
matter of time before Germany collapsed.

In contrast to Himmler, who vainly believed that he could enter into
armistice negotiations with the Allies and emerge from them with a
leadership role in the reconstituted Germany, Kammler was aredlist. His
part in the construction of the concentration camps, the clinical way in
which he had sought to boost the throughput of the gas chambers and
ovens, not to mention the methods he had employed in leveling the
Warsaw Ghetto, would have placed him high on the list of SS officers
sought by the Allies for war crimes.

Unlike Himmler, however, Kammler had something of value to
deal—something tangible. By early April, Hitler and Himmler had
placed under his direct control every secret weapon system of any
consequence within the Third Reich—weapons that had no counterpart
in the inventories of the three powers that were now bearing down on
central Germany from the east and the west.

A man who had no trouble transforming the grand visions of others
into reality while retaining control of the minutiae, would have found it
just as easy to talk victory and plot an exit strategy at the same time.

The clues, which double as the countdown to Kammler's disappear-
ance, were there from the beginning ofthat month.

On April 3, Kammler had his meeting with Hitler in Berlin. As
Goebbels reveals, following their discussions about the "miracle'
weapons that could still win Germany the war, the Fihrer retained great
faith in him. But Kammler had already moved his headquarters out of
Berlin to Munich for reasons that Speer guesses at—accurately, it
seems—in his memoirs. given the expected failures of these projects, it
would have been dangerous for him to remain within Hitler's reach.

Before he left Berlin for the last time, soon after hisfinal meeting with
Hitler, Kammler paid Speer avisit. He had come to say good-bye.



NICK COOK 165

"For the first time in our four-year association, Kammler did not
display his usual dash,” Speer recaled. "On the contrary, he seemed
insecure and dippery with his vague, obscure hints about why | should
transfer to Munich with him."

Speer might have put this down to the fact that the central part of
Kammler's kingdom, at least as far as he, Speer, was aware—the giant
Mittelwerk underground A-4 construction complex at Nordhausen in
central Germany's Harz Mountains—was about to be overrun by the
U.S. First Army. With most of the A-4/V-2 program team till in place
a Nordhausen, Kammler's nervousness was understandable. He needed
to get them out.

But then, Kammler told the armaments minister that "efforts were
being made in the SS to get rid of the Fihrer."

As Speer was aso in the throes of a desperate scheme to assassinate
Hitler, using poison gas to kill him and his entourage in the bunker
beneath the Reich Chancellery, this perhaps came as no great surprise,
except that it came from Kammler's lips. Speer did not know it, but SS
General Walther Schellenberg, Germany's combined intelligence chief,
had already opened secret surrender negotiations on behalf of Himmler
with Count Folke Bernadotte, vice chairman of the Swedish Red Cross.
These were transmitted to the Western Allies, but promptly and roundly
rejected.

But then Kammler told Speer he was planning to contact the
Americans and that in exchange for a guarantee of his freedom he would
offer them everything—"jet planes, as well as the A-4 rocket and other
important developments.” He informed Speer that he was assembling all
the relevant expertsin Upper Bavariain order to hand them over to U.S.
forces.

"He offered me the chance to participate in this operation,” Speer
said, "which would be sure to work out in my favor." Speer turned him
down. In alate display of remorse for his years of unguestioning devotion
to Hitler, the armaments minister now saw it as his solemn duty to
prevent Hitler carrying out his scorched-earth policy in the face of the
advancing Allies. As soon as Hitler was issuing orders for factories to be
burned to the ground or blown up, Speer was countermanding them,
arguing with frightened and bewildered plant managers that the war was
lost and these facilities would be needed for the economic revival of the
"new Germany."

On April 10, Army General Walter Dornberger, onetime head of
the A-4/V-2 program, now subordinated to Kammler, ordered 450 key
A-4 scientists to evacuate the Nordhausen complex and head for the
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mountains south of Munich. Those that could not board a specia south-
bound train, nicknamed by those on it the "Reprisal Express,” would be
left behind at Bleicherode close by, where Dornberger and von Braun
had established their headquarters.

Von Braun argued against this move on the grounds that it would
mean deserting his men in the Harz, but Dornberger reminded him that
Kammler had issued the order and if they did not obey it, "the SS would
shoot them all."

Kammler did not come with von Braun and Dornberger on the
journey south, but he did make arrangements to meet them at the Hotel
Lang, near Oberammergau, which was already serving as an evacuation
site for Messerschmitt's advanced projects team, evacuated late the
previous year from the company's bombed-out factory at Augsburg.

Von Braun and Dornberger made their way by car to Oberammergau,
arriving there on April 11, the day that U.S. forces entered and overran
the underground factory they had just left. The two men, who had co-
operated on the rockets from the beginning, were settled into a com-
pound that had been prepared for them by the SS. On his arrival, von
Braun remarked on the beauty of his new surroundings, the snow on the
peaks, the lush pasturelands, but noted, too, that the barbed wire had
been designed to keep them in, not the Americans out.

Soon after he arrived, von Braun made his way to the Hotel Lang.

As he sat in the lobby, he could hear two people talking in an adjoining
room. Straining to catch what they were saying, the rocket engineer
recognized the voices as those of Kammler and his chief of staff, SS
Obersturmbannfihrer Starck.

The two men were discussing a plan to burn their uniforms and lie low
for awhile in the 14th-century abbey at Ettal, afew kilometers down the
road. From the tone of the conversation, von Braun was unsure if they
were serious or joking. It was at that moment that an SS guard appeared
and ushered him into the room.

Kammler, sitting next to Starck, appeared relaxed and affable—very
different from the man that Speer had described aweek earlier in Berlin.

He asked von Braun how he found the accommodation, whether his
team was comfortable, if the broken arm that von Braun had suffered in
a car crash the previous month was causing him any great distress,
whether the team would be able to begin its design work again soon.

Von Braun, noting the machine pistol propped beside Starck's chair,
replied as enthusiastically as he could to Kammler's questions, careful to
maintain the charade. To have done anything less might have been fatal
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given Kammler's ruthless nature; besides which, von Braun had made
provisions of his own.

Before leaving Nordhausen, he had had his men stash ten tons of
blueprints relating to the A-4 and its successor, the intercontinental
A-9/A-10 rocket, in a deserted iron-ore mine several kilometers from the
complex. Had Kammler any inkling of this, von Braun had no doubt as
to the fate that awaited them all.

But with the A-4 team settled in Bavaria, the general didn't appear
overly concerned about the scientists anymore. He had other matters to
attend to, he told von Braun, matters relating to his duties as Hitler's
special plenipotentiary for jet aircraft production. He would shortly be
leaving Oberammergau for an indeterminate period. SS Maor Kummer
would assume command in his absence. Kammler got to his feet. The
meeting was over.

They said their good-byes and von Braun left.

It was the last time anyone of any standing could corroborate seeing
Kammler.

Yet there are traces of his movements in the days, even weeks, that
followed; and some of his subsequent actions are decipherable—to a
point.

Kammler told von Braun that he had to leave Oberammergau to
oversee production of the Me 262 jet fighter according to Hitler's wishes.
Yet, five days later, on April 16, the general appointed Degenkolb to the
job, thereby delegating his responsibility; to someone eminently capable,
as it turned out. Kammler communicated this decision from his office in
Munich, dispatching it to Speer, Goering, Himmler, Hitler's Luftwaffe
liaison officer Colonel Nikolaus von Below and SS Genera Hermann
Fegelein, Himmler's liaison officer in the Flhrerbunker. Describing this
communiqué years later as a bafflingly "unimportant message," even
Speer signals his bewilderment at Kammler's determination to spread
the word to all and sundry about Degenkolb's appointment.

It seemed obvious with the benefit of hindsight that Kammler wanted
as many people as possible to see that he was on top of his assignment—
that he was in Munich doing what he had been told to do.

With Degenkolb in charge of Me 262 production, ajob that required
constant supervision, it left him free to pursue other matters.

When Kammler told Speer that he would offer the Americans "jet
planes and the A-4 rocket,” he must have known that their currency was
devalued by the sheer numbers of people associated with them. The
Me 262, Arado Ar 234 and the Heinkel He 162 jets were in widespread
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service with the Luftwaffe at the end of the war and plans for hundreds
of other jet aircraft were on drawing boards at aircraft factories across the
Reich. The Americans arid the Russians could take the blueprints for
these projects and the design staff associated with them irrespective of
Kammler.

The same went for the A-4. As von Braun's actions testify, the rocket
had been secretly earmarked for handover to the Americans for some
time by the people who had designed and built it. Whether Kammler was
aware of these moves or not is immaterial; the fact that there were
hundreds of V-2s in various stages of construction at Nordhausen meant
that the Americans would simply take them as war booty, with only the
fate of the design engineers left to negotiate.

If Kammler did have plans to hand the Dornberger/von Braun design
team over to the Americans, these came to naught. It appears, though,
that he never even tried.

On April 13, von Braun succeeded in persuading Major Kummer to
disperse the scientists into the surrounding villages, ostensibly to cut
down the risk of their being wiped out by air attacks on Oberammergaul.
Von Braun's real fear, of course, was that it would be Kammler issuing
the orders for their annihilation.

The move may well have saved their lives, but it also left von Braun
free to make his own deal with the U.S. agents that had been dispatched
into Bavaria to seek him out.

On April 17, Kammler sent his message to Himmler about the
"truck"—the last signa he was known to have dispatched from his
Munich headquarters. Under German communications procedure, his
teletyped "signature” was preceded with the letters "GEZ"—an abbre-
viation for "Gezeichnet or "signed by"—denoting to the recipient that
he was physically where he claimed to be.

Thefact is, he could have been anywhere—anywhere within a narrow
corridor of territory then still in the Reich's possession.

As | immersed mysdlf in as many sources as | could regarding
Kammler's mercurial existence, a single question pounded repeatedly
above the others.

Where had he gone?

Degenkolb was taking care of jet aircraft production. The inner circle
in the Fuhrerbunker, cut off from reality and increasingly from the
world, had its own problems. No one seemed to care anymore about the
whereabouts of the golden boy—the keeper of the miracle weapons who
would save Germany from annihilation.
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They could have had little idea that he was planning to bargain them
for his freedom—for his life.

What did Kammler hope to trade? The rockets were gone. The jets
were gone. That |eft the "other developments" he had told Speer about.

On April 17, the Gls of General Devers 6th Army Group were just
days—hours, perhaps—from Munich. All Kammler would have to do
was hole up and wait for them.

But what evidence there is suggests he did something quite else.

There is testimony that Kammler moved on from there to Prague, a
journey that would have taken him right past the Skoda Works at Pilsen.

Voss had spoken about nuclear propulsion, highly advanced guided
weapons and lasers. What other secrets resided within the Kammlerstab?

If the witness testimony was accurate, if Kammler did move into
Czechodlovakia, what was so precious about the inner workings of the
"specia projects group"—this Pandora's box of advanced weaponry—
that it compelled him to go east, not west? Toward the Russians, of all
people?

Nothing in Kammler's carefully coordinated life happened by chance.
| knew that much. The documentation led nowhere. Even Agoston had
reached the end of the trail.

All that was left, was Kammler's lasting legacy: the underground
factories that riddled his kingdom, built to his carefully exacting
standards, forged by the Holocaust that was aso largely of his making.

| requested some time off work and booked myself afly-drive package
to Hanover. From there, with a good rental car, | would be in the Harz
Mountains less than two hours after the wheels of the aircraft greased the
airport tarmac.



Chapter 17

| entered the complex from the southern end of the Kohnstein—a long
ridge dotted with pine and deciduous trees that rose like the hackles of a
crouched beast above a sleepy plateau in the Harz Mountains close to the
small town of Nordhausen. Inside, | hesitated before drawing breath.
Twenty thousand people had died in the construction of Nordhausen,
many of them right here, inside the mountain itself.

Anywhere else and you could half pretend that you were in the bowels
of an archaeological site; where lazy reveries about the past of the place
were part of the experience. But the imprint of what had happened here
within the bare [imestone walls was indelible and overwhel ming.

| was standing at the entranceway of Gallery 46, along tunnel with a
semicircular roof. It was till littered with wartime debris. The records
said that it had been used in the construction of the V-I flying bomb.

Every now and again it was possible to recognize a piece of hardware—
components of an Argus pulse jet destined for a V-1, a section of fuel
tank or a part of a wing—but, for the most part, in the dim yellow eec-
tric light, it could have been any old scrap metal. Next to nothing had
been touched, my guide informed me, since this part of the facility had
been reopened to visitors in 1994,

Soon after the war, when eventually the Americans left the site—but
not before they'd shipped 100 fully assembled A-4/V-2s back to the
States—the Soviets sealed Nordhausen by blowing the entrances to
the long galleries. In time, the trees had returned to the Kohnstein and
East Germans could almost forget that the place had ever been here.

There was a kind of symmetry to this; the Nazis had gone to very
elaborate lengths to concea it during the war, even from their own
people.

The Mittelwerk was vast. At the height of its activities, it had been
turning out thousands of V-I's and V-2s a month and had consisted of
almost 100,000 sgquare meters of floor space. Built in the 1930s as an
underground storage facility for fuel oil, the complex—already huge—
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gave Speer and Kammler a head start in the construction program they
began and completed between 1943 and 1944.

The site consisted of two main tunnels running in parallel between the
northern and southern faces of the ridgeline. One of these, Tunnel B, the
main V-2 production line, was a kilometer and a half long.

Between the tunnels, like the rungs of an enormous ladder, were 50
"galeries," each between 100 and 200 meters long. Many had